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Preface

After working together for a number of years, Prof. Dan Bar-On and the edi-
tor came up with the idea of conducting a study in which we wanted to dare,
despite all reservations, to make a comparison between Jewish families and
non-Jewish German families. Apart from the content-based problems arising
from a comparison of this kind, such a project also raised the question of
whether a team of Israelis and Germans would be able to work together suc-
cessfully over a number of years. Would we even arrive at comparable analy-
ses? In Germany, Prof. Fritz Schiitze (University of Magdeburg) and, in the
second stage of the project, Prof. Regine Gildemeister (University of Kassel)
agreed to get involved with this project, to apply for funding to the German
Research Association (Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, DFG) and to take
responsibility for it. The funding we received for the project covered the pe-
riod from December 1992 to August 1996. The editor, Prof. Gabriele Rosen-
thal (Kassel University), headed the academic research that went into this
book.

The team of researchers - the authors of this volume - was an interdisci-
plinary one, comprised of sociologists, psychologists and political scientists
from Israel, West and East Germany; Jewish Israelis and non-Jewish Ger-
mans. This constellation led to very different perspectives in the analyses of
our interviews; something that proved to be an incalculable advantage. As
members of the second and third generation of survivors of the Shoah and of
forced emigrants, as well as of Nazi accomplices and Nazi perpetrators, we
found again and again that we were trapped in our own perspectives and in
some cases had to deal with very different feelings that came up during the
course of our work. The critical dialogue within our team, one that spanned a
number of years and was not always free from conflict, helped us to grow
beyond these limitations. A number of colleagues were helpful to us in this
process. Fritz Schiitze and Regine Gildemeister acted as our link to the DFG.
More than anything else, they put their trust in our work and offered us a
great deal of support. We owe special thanks to them, and to our reviewers
and the DFG. The study in Israel would not have been possible without Dan
Bar-On's support. He assisted us in countless ways, helping us get over some
of our interactive low points, giving us many important impulses regarding
the content of our work and simply being there to offer advice. We would like
to take this opportunity to thank him. We also wish to thank our colleagues
Tamar Zilberman and Revital Ludewig-Kedmi, who worked on the project for
the first two years. We are grateful to Angelika Heider for the historical re-
search she undertook: the archive inquiries she made required a great deal of
effort and persistence.



Catherine Johnson translated most of this book and carefully revised some of
the translations we already had. Many thanks to her, and to the other transla-
tors, Michael Zuntz, Simon Srebrny, Promita Sengupta, and Libby Shapiro.
Johanna Krober has been transcribing our interviews very carefully for many
years now: many thanks to her for her commitment and willingness to help.

Our special thanks go to all the families who agreed to take part in our in-
terviews, who gave us their trust and shared their paths through life with us.
All the families who are not directly mentioned in this book were very impor-
tant to the research process nonetheless, but the scope of this work only al-
lows us to present selected case studies that must serve as examples.

Berlin, January 1997
Gabriele Rosenthal



Part 1:
The Dialogue about the Holocaust in
Families of Survivors and Families of
Perpetrators






1. Questions and Method

Gabriele Rosenthal

What form does the dialogue' about the family past during the Nazi period
take in families of those persecuted by the Nazi regime and in families of
Nazi perpetrators and accomplices? What impact does the past of the first
generation and their way of dealing with it have on the lives of their descen-
dants? What are the structural differences between the dialogue about the
family past and the Holocaust in families of perpetrators and in families of
victims of Nazi persecution? These are the general empirical questions that
our research puts forward. The specific focus of our study lies in comparing
different family constellations based on whether the first generation can be
categorized as having been victims®, perpetrators, or Nazi accomplices during
the Nazi period. Primarily from a sociological perspective, we examine how
family histories that differ biographically after 1945 - in Israel, in West Ger-
many and in former East Germany - affect the process of transmitting the
family past from one generation to the next. We look at the process in which
family history is passed down through the generations in three generations of
Jewish and non-Jewish German and Israeli families. Our aim is to reconstruct
constellations in life stories which may facilitate the psychological and social
integration of people burdened with a collective and family past that they find
threatening. In general, we do this by pursuing an interactive-intergeneration-
al concept which does not view the second and third generations as passive
recipients of the past, but rather as active agents in the way they deal with
their parents and grandparents and their pasts. Our experience has shown ac-
cordingly that the way the first generation interacts with the second and third
generation can change their own perspective on the past (cf. Moore 1994).

The method

We do not wish to burden the reader with the methodology and fairly labori-
ous methods involved in our study (Rosenthal 1993b). The few remarks made
here serve to facilitate a better understanding of the empirical findings we
have reached using our instruments. Findings acquired through an open inter-
view style and hermeneutical case reconstructions can not be compared to

1 In our considerations of family dynamics, we are primarily orienting ourselves on the
Helm/Stierlin dialogue model (1981/1987).
2 Cf, too, Dan Bar-On's 1995 study on three-generation families of survivors.



quantitative analyses or results based on structured interviews or question-
naires. Statements made by interviewees in response to direct questions about
their past and the impact of that past on their lives have a completely different
significance than our analyses of latent biographical structures and the family
dialogue. In some cases, the insights gained here contrast blatantly with the
manifest statements of our interview partners.

In this study, we have conducted narrative-biographical interviews’
with at least one member of each generation in every family studied. After
conducting individual interviews with the various family members, we con-
ducted family interviews in order to examine the dynamics within the family
dialogue. Our work for this study involved completed interviews of members
of twenty families in Israel and eighteen families in Germany. We got in
touch with our interviewees through personal contacts - the snowball effect -
and through putting advertisements in Israeli and German newspapers.

Before proceeding any further, a brief statement about our interviewing
method. At the beginning of every individual interview, we* made the follow-
ing request to the biographer™: "Please tell me/us your family story and your
personal life story, I/'we am/are interested in your whole life. Anything that
occurs to you. You have as much time as you like to tell it. We/l won't ask you
any questions for now. We/l will just make some notes on the things that we
would like to ask you more about later, if we haven't got enough time today,
perhaps in a second interview."” By posing this narrative initial question, we
are not specifying any particular theme in the first part of the biographical-
narrative interview. Generally, this request to hear the interviewee's family
history and life story is followed by a long biographical narration, (i.e. bio-
graphical self-presentation) often lasting for hours, not interrupted by ques-
tions from the interviewers at any time. The interviewers use nonverbal and
paralinguistic expressions of interest and attention to encourage this narrative,
which is known as the main narration. This leaves it up to the biographer to
determine which themes are addressed, and in how much detail, as well as
how they present them and in what sequence. It is only in the second part of
the interview, the questioning part of the interview, that the interviewers ask
questions about topics referred to in the main narration. In this "questioning
period", the interviewer uses narrative questions to initiate more detailed sto-
ries or narrations of themes and biographical events touched on in the main

3 This interview technique (Schiitze, 1976, Rosenthal, 1995a) works with an initial opening
question aimed at eliciting and maintaining a lengthy narrative by the interviewee. The me-
thod is based on the assumption that narration of an experience comes closest to the expe-
rience itself. The narration of biographical events gives social scientists a chance to get a
sense of some of the motives and interpretations guiding their subject's actions.

4 Some interviews were carried out by two interviewers.

5 We prefer to use the term "biographer" instead of "autobiographer" in this context. It is our
opinion that the latter term does not place adequate emphasis on the social construction of
life stories.



narration. In the third part of the interview, the interviewer asks questions
about themes that the biographer has not addressed. These questions are also
asked with a view to generating narration; we refrain from asking questions
like "why?", "what for?", as this would tend to provoke argumentation rather
than narration. Our requests to hear more about a certain theme are formu-
lated along these lines: "Perhaps you could tell us something more about
your school years." Where our interviewees have trouble remembering cer-
tain events, we work with the technique of "scenic memory", to help them put
themselves back into scenes in the past. Working from fragments of sense-
based or body memories, we help them to gradually reconstruct these scenes
by asking them questions about specific details. Provided our interviewees
want help remembering, we ask them to put themselves back into the situation
in the past and then begin to reconstruct the scene, formulating our questions
in the historical present. We move forward from one detail to the next: "What
do you see?"; "Who are you standing next to?"; "What do you hear?"; "Is it
dark?"; "Is it cold?". This technique allows biographers to extricate the scene
that has been blocked out of their memory; by naming individual details, it
begins to take shape. Eventually, our detailed questions are less and less
needed, and the biographers can gradually remember the chain of events and
begin to translate them into a story. Another type of questioning targets fanta-
sies and dreams that we reconstruct in the same way used in the scenic mem-
ory technique. After the interview, we ask our interviewees to make a family
sculpture, associate to it and explore what it means to them, much like the
technique used in family therapy (Jefferson, 1978, Papp et. al., 1973, Simon,
1972). We give them adhesive circles in four different colours and ask them
from their own perspective to group themselves and the members of their
family by their emotional closeness or distance (putting them into positions
that symbolize their relationships). When the sculpture is finished, we ask
them to make a one-sentence statement to each member of their family and
then to have each family member say a sentence back to them. The interviews
are done in a research setting, rather than in a clinical environment. None of
our first generation interviewees have ever been hospitalized for mental
health reasons®. It should be noted, however, that we see our interviews as
social-therapeutic intervention that facilitates communication. In the course of
telling their stories, a number of our interviewees have become more aware of
the extent to which their feelings, behaviour and fears are related to their fam-
ily past. After a general analysis of the individual interviews, we decide which
family members we wish to invite to take part in a family interview. The con-
sideration of how we can best help the family to open up the family dialogue
is a key criterion here. Like Ivan Boszormeny Nagy und Geraldine Spark

6  We have since discovered that two of our third-generation interviewees have required
psychiatric treatment at certain times and have spent time in a clinic.



(1973) or advocates of the Stierlin School (Stierlin et al. 1987), we are think-
ing here in terms of helping to uncover family secrets and making family
members aware of strong invisible bonds of loyalty as well as encouraging
them to deal with family myths in a more reality-oriented way. In this process,
it is important to ensure that the combination of family members chosen for
the family interview does not lead to a discussion of too many or too different
conflicts in one interview. This is why we conducted two family interviews in
a number of families with different constellations each time. Our experiences
illustrate the effect of these interviews in terms of opening the family dia-
logue, an impact that can be considered the start of family restructuring. We
open the family interview either with the question: "What is it like for you to
be taking part in a joint interview?" or with the request that they tell us what
has happened in the family in the meantime since our last visit. From here,
our interviewing method concentrates primarily on asking one interviewee to
take on the perspective of another (i.e. "Can you imagine how your mother
feels about this") or asking one family member what impact another member's
statements has on them (i.e. "How do you feel after what you've just heard
from your father?"). A further intervention is undertaken using the following
question: "Are there any questions that you would like to ask your relatives?"
The method used here to analyse narrated family and life stories is one of
hermeneutical case reconstruction’ developed by the author over many years
in combination with various other methods. In analysing the interviews, par-
ticular attention is paid to the structural differences between what is experi-
enced and what is narrated: between experienced life and narrated life, i.e.
life history and life story®. On the one hand, we tried to reconstruct what the
biographer actually experienced during this sequence of their life and, on the
other hand, how they present their life in a present-day interview. In analysing
their biographical self-presentation, or life story, what we are aiming to
achieve is an analysis of the biographer's present perspective. We interpret in
what form, i.e. at what sequence of the text, they speak about certain parts of
their lives, and we reconstruct the mechanisms behind the themes they choose
to talk about and the experiences they choose to tell. We assume that it is by
no means coincidental and insignificant when biographers argue about one
phase of their lives, but narrate another at great length and then only give a
brief report of yet another part of their lives or describe the circumstances of
their lives in detail. As the analysis proceeds, it becomes clear how the indi-

7  For details of the hermeneutical case reconstruction procedure, cf. Rosenthal, 1993, 1995a.
Reconstruction and sequentiality are the key principles in this method. The texts are not
subsumed under specific categories, but rather are analysed for meaning in the context of
the entire text (= interview). The sequential compilation of the text of the life story and the
chronology of biographical experiences in the life history play an essential role.

8 By life story we mean narrated personal life as related to another in conversation or as
written down in the present-day; by life history we mean the experiences that a person has
lived through.
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vidual sequences of the main narration are thematically linked. In this context,
we speak of thematic fields, referring to Aron Gurwitsch (1964). The underly-
ing assumption is that the narrated life story does not consist of a haphazard
series of disconnected events, but that the narrator's autonomous selection of
stories is based on a context of meaning, namely, the biographer's overall
interpretation. The narrated life story thus represents a sequence of mutually
interrelated themes, which between them form a tight network of intercon-
nected cross-references (Fischer 1982, p. 168). In Aron Gurwitsch's terminol-
ogy, the individual themes are elements of a thematic field. The construction
of a genogram of the family under analysis is of considerable help in this
process. This schematic diagram of the relationships within the family system
based on the family tree is helpful for recognizing complicated family struc-
tures as well as historical developments and the complexes of problems
linked to them within the family. Only now do we begin to formulate initial
readings or questions about the family system that offer orientation in analys-
ing the life stories. It is at this point that we start to undertake historical re-
search and archive inquiries. However, for reasons of personal data protec-
tion, we are not always able to give an exact account of our findings or of the
information that we turned up in the archives. To this end, we have also
changed not just names, but in some cases places and other personal data as
well. Slight historical discrepancies or inaccuracies may crop up as a result.
The general questions behind our analysis can be formulated as follows: how
is the collective and family past integrated into the presentation of the indi-
vidual's life story? What significance is assigned to this past in the biographi-
cal construction of the biographer? What form does the interplay between the
individual life stories and the interactively generated family story take?’ What
biographical repair strategies are used to heal the effects of a threatening
past? As biography researchers, we are working on the assumption "that a
deviation from the normal represents an active life achievement, which in
itself entails the solution to a problem and which has a certain function in the
life history in question" (Fischer-Rosenthal 1992, p. 20). Thus, we make a
concerted effort not to subsume the development of symptoms into psycho-
pathological concepts, but rather to reconstruct their function in the individ-
ual's biography and family system. In doing so, we refrain from evaluating
them, for example, by dividing symptoms up into conscious coping mecha-
nisms and unconscious defence mechanisms. Accordingly, we tend to initially
develop our concepts in a descriptive manner, in the sense of the question:
how is the past dealt with in the individual's biographical construction and in
the family dialogue?

9 By family story we mean the shared construction of a single family history in the family
dialogue.
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General findings

An empirical comparison of families from West Germany, East Germany and
Israel demonstrates clearly that the structural differences inherent in the fam-
ily dialogue with regard to National Socialism result less from differing so-
cialization processes after 1945 and more from pre-1945 differences. That is,
these pasts have a far greater impact on the biographer's deep structure than
the family history after 1945, be it in Israel, in West Germany or under social-
ism in former East Germany. It is of crucial importance for the life stories of
subsequent generations, as well as for the dialogue within the individual fam-
ily, whether and, if so, how the great-grandparents, grandparents or parents
were persecuted in Europe, and how they survived this persecution. Or, on the
other hand, to what extent and how the grandparents were implicated in Nazi
crimes. Our analyses indicate that the Jewish families we interviewed differ
considerably depending on whether the generation of the grandparents'® sur-
vived ghettos or concentration camps and death camps or whether they were
able to leave Eastern Europe or Germany before 1939. A contrastive com-
parison showed that the families of these two groups demonstrate both differ-
ent family dynamics and different family and life history constructions in all
three generations. Both the family dialogue and the individual biographical
constructions are defined by different themes in each case. In families of sur-
vivors (cf. Part 2), the operative themes are "death" and "fear of extermina-
tion", whereas the family and life histories of families of forced emigrants -
regardless of whether they now live in Israel, West or East Germany - revolve
around the themes of "emigration" and "life in the new society". However, it
becomes apparent that in Israel, but not in Germany, the children of young
forced emigrants tend to block out the theme of "emigration", because, unlike
the second generation of Holocaust survivors, they wish to present themselves
as Sabres, as Israelis with no European roots (cf. Part 3). Families from for-
mer East Germany, on the other hand, have been able to embed the theme of
"emigration" into their socialist self-conception in all three generations, for by
emigrating, their grandparents were either setting out on their "anti-fascist"
path through life or were continuing along it (cf. Part 4). We have structured
the book into the following parts in accordance with these empirical findings,
distinguishing between families of survivors (Part 2), of forced emigrants in
Israel (Part 3), of forced emigrants in East Germany (Part 4) and families of
Nazi perpetrators and accomplices (Part 5).

10 Many of the grandparents living in Israel who took part in this study were interviewed as
early as 1989/1990 by Gabriele Rosenthal within the scope of a study on survivors of the
Shoah.
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2. Similarities and differences in family dialogue

Gabriele Rosenthal

Do descendants of Nazi perpetrators and descendants of survivors of the
Shoah have similar problems? This question is one being raised more and
more frequently in academic discourse and in everyday life. So far, responses
to it have had a tendency either to equate the two, a position expressed in an
article by Mona Weissmark et al (1993), or to vehemently reject any possible
similarities. A growing number of self-help groups, set up to provide a forum
for descendants from different types of families to talk about their family past
and the suffering it causes them, struggle between an open and sometimes
aggressive dialogue about the differences and dealing with them in a harmo-
nizing way (Dan Bar-On 1995Db).

At first glance, similarities do emerge in a comparison of how Jewish
families, in which the grandparents either survived the Shoah, or managed to
flee Germany in time, deal with their traumatic past under National Socialism
and how families, in which the grandparents were either Nazi perpetrators or
active National Socialists, deal with their past. Whereas the way the first gen-
eration deals with the past differs significantly depending on whether they
were among the victims, perpetrators or accomplices (cf. Section 2.1.1), de-
scendants of both families of victims and families of perpetrators exhibit the
following symptoms: blocking out information about the family past, fear of
extermination, separation anxiety, guilt feelings, impeded separation-
individuation process, and acting out the past in fantasies and psychosomatic
symptoms. In addition, similar mechanisms can be observed in the inner-
family dynamics within families of those who were persecuted and within
families of persecutors. The silence surrounding the past, that has institution-
alized itself within perpetrator families, also extends to families of those who
were persecuted (Danieli, 1982). Moreover, in both kinds of families, one
may observe the tremendous impact of family secrets (Karpel, 1980), as well
as family members obstructing each other in any attempt to address themes
relating to the past, accusations that render family dialogue impossible, an
institutionalization of family myths (Ferreira, 1963) to circumvent conflict
within the family, and a bound family system (Stierlin, 1981) resulting from a
problematic past.

Behind these manifest similarities on a superficial level, however, lies the
level of the latent deep structure, which is different in each case depending on
the experiences in the family past. In other words, no matter how strong the
superficial similarities, their function within the family system, and, more
specifically, their psychological impact on individual family members differ
based on the differences in the family pasts.

13



In survivor families, the silence of the grandparents about their experiences is
connected to completely different problems and motives than the silence of
grandparents who were implicated in Nazi crimes. A grandmother who sur-
vived the ghetto and the death camp is not denying the persecution in her past
if she does not speak about it, whereas this certainly is the case when Nazi
perpetrators or accomplices remain silent. If she does not articulate this part
of her past, one of her reasons for choosing not to do so is an attempt to pro-
tect her children and grandchildren from the fantasies and nightmares that
haunt her. Survivors very often remain silent to spare their children the bur-
den that weighs so heavily on them and to avoid exposing others to their pain-
ful experiences (Danieli, 1982). In contrast, a grandfather and grandmother or
parents who were implicated in Nazi crimes primarily keep silent and deny
the past to protect themselves from accusation or loss of affection. Similarly,
common reactions found in children or grandchildren of survivors are moti-
vated by different causes than those found in descendants of perpetrators.
Examples of such reactions include withdrawing from the horror depicted in
survivors' narrations of persecution and killing, failing to grasp the full mean-
ing of certain details of the experience, or even repeatedly forgetting the in-
formation that has been communicated to them. These self-protective re-
sponses are an attempt to ward off very different pressures than those that
children or grandchildren in perpetrator families are trying to evade, even if
they use similar methods of self-protection. Children and grandchildren of
survivors do not want to imagine their parents and grandparents in situations
where attempts were made to rob them of their human dignity and where they
were helpless to prevent the humiliation and murder of other people, such as
their parents, siblings or even their own children. Another reason that they
resist knowing and realizing what their grandparents or parents suffered is
because they feel guilty for not being able to relieve them of this suffering or
for not having endured this suffering themselves. These guilt feelings "include
the pressure to compensate parents with naches (happiness) for their suffering
through accomplishment; a desire to protect and care for parents; a deep sad-
ness and pain awakened by Holocaust memories; and feelings of powerless-
ness to undo the Holocaust for their parents" (Klein-Parker 1988, p. 208). In
contrast, descendants of Nazi perpetrators are protecting themselves from
having to realize the cruel deeds, lack of guilt feelings, emotional coldness
and racism and anti-Semitism that continue unabated to this day in their clos-
est reference individuals. And they are also trying to defend themselves
against both guilt feelings and fear that their grandparents or parents will
murder them or classify them as lebensunwert (a Nazi term meaning "unwor-
thy of life").

A fear of being murdered that in some cases intensifies into a genuine
fear of extermination is something we find in children and grandchildren of
both perpetrators and survivors. Fear of extermination in children and grand-
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children of perpetrators tends to relate to an unconscious fantasy of being
murdered by their own parents (cf. Kestenberg/Kestenberg 1987; Rosen-
thal/Bar-On 1992), while the potential threat that children of survivors feel
tends to be a general anxiety towards the extra-familial and non-Jewish
world"'. In descendants of perpetrators, we also observe a fear of being con-
sidered "unworthy of life". Thus, for instance, the daughter of a Nazi euthana-
sia physician felt this fear as a child in connection with her father and con-
cealed her shortsightedness from him for this reason (Rosenthal/Bar-On
1992). As a child, she had to witness her father throwing her younger brother,
a mere baby at the time, into a swimming pool as a test aimed at dispelling his
father's doubts of the child's "racial purity". Children and grandchildren of
perpetrators also express fears of being murdered by their parents or grand-
parents if they attempt to expose the family past. A grandson of a Nazi perpe-
trator, who talked to his grandfather, trying to motivate him to admit his
crimes with a certain amount of success, barricaded himself in his room the
night of the conversation. He was tormented by the fantasy that his grandfa-
ther might shoot him because he was on to his past or was beginning to dis-
solve the bonds of loyalty he felt towards his grandfather. In another of the
families we interviewed, a son of a perpetrator has had a recurring dream
since childhood that he is being choked to death by unknown men who sneak
up behind him soundlessly. Just a few years before our interview, his father
told him that he "always keeps a length of wire with him to throttle the enemy
silently from behind, like a sentry for example". His son also imagines taking
part in a special duty operation with his father and being murdered by him
because he has proven unsuitable for the task. He knows for a fact that rather
than leave wounded comrades in enemy territory, his father and his unit mur-
dered them instead. In contrast, descendants of survivors often become afraid
in situations that they - often unconsciously - associate with the persecution in
their relatives' past. For instance, one hears of them becoming mortally afraid
of being gassed when they enter unknown or confined spaces. The grandson
in the Goldstern family presented below suffers from a phobia of heights, of
being pushed down from somewhere high. In the ghetto, his grandmother had
to witness her girlfriend being thrown out of a window by a German.

The separation anxiety that may be observed also differs significantly in
all three generations if we are comparing families of survivors and those of
Nazi perpetrators. While in families of survivors, anticipated separations trig-
ger deeply-felt mortal fears on both sides, by the abandoner and the aban-
doned (Barocas & Barocas 1979); with perpetrators and their relatives, an
impending separation from the family triggers a fear of their crimes being
exposed and of the emotional consequences that may result from this. For

11  For more on fear of persecution or extermination in the third generation, cf. Ahlheim
(1985); Rosenthal, P.A. / Rosenthal, S. (1980).
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survivors, present-day separations that do actually occur reactivate their
memory of the separation they experienced from family members whom they
lost in the Shoah (Shiryon 1988, p. 241). When descendants of Nazi perpetra-
tors separate or distance themselves from their parents or grandparents, the
latter become afraid that their descendants might now begin to ask questions
and discover new perspectives outside of the family that could threaten the
family myth.

A further phenomenon common to families of perpetrators and families
of victims is the bond that the second and third generation feel to their family
of origin, one which often considerably impedes their separation-
individuation process. Descendants of survivors often assume the caretaker
role in their families and learn to look after their parents, suppressing their
own needs in the process, especially their conflicts and desires to separate
during adolescence, and their aggressions towards their parents. No detailed
description of the disorders in their separation-individuation process is
needed here, as they are well-documented in clinical case analyses (Barocas
& Barocas 1979; Davidson 1980; Freyberg 1980). Bar-On's interviews with
children of Nazi perpetrators (1989) indicate that they tend to either have
strong bonds to their parents and thus to deny or dispute their Nazi past, or to
completely break off contact with their parents and completely reject them.
We can also interpret this disassociation from their parents, often accompa-
nied by self-hatred, as a form of bond to their parents. Their separation-
individuation process is impeded by their concerted effort to be different than
their parents, to reject or deny any possible similarities in themselves, to lead
a different life and above all to suppress any desire to have contact with their
parents. Our analyses, which focus more on family dynamics than on individ-
ual psychodynamics, indicate that where there are a number of children in
both families of perpetrators and of survivors, different roles are allocated to
each child: for example, one child assumes the position of the parents' bound
delegate'?, while another leaves the family and takes on the role of the ac-
cuser. Another common pattern is that of a very bound family structure in the
children's and grandchildren's generation in conjunction with an exclusion or
avoiding of contact with the grandparents' generation". One of the functions
this serves is that described by E. Sperling (1979, p. 211) of "not being un-
faithful to the past by not coming to terms with it". By keeping contact to the
grandparents to a minimum, an attempt is made to maintain the illusion of
being a good family nonetheless, of not threatening the family myths or,
worse still, airing the family secrets.

Our case analyses show clearly that silence and family secrets as well as
family myths constitute some of the most effective mechanisms of ensuring

12 Yael Danieli's clinical experience (1982) is that the firstborn child generally takes on this
role in families of survivors.
13 Cf. the Kaufmann family; cf. Chapter 4.3.
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the sustained impact of a problematic family past. This is true in families of
survivors, perpetrators and Nazi accomplices. This can be more generally
formulated as: the more closed or guarded the family dialogue, or the greater
the attempt to make a secret of or whitewash the past, the more sustained the
impact of the family past will be on the second or third generation (Bar-On,
1995, Danieli, 1993, Sigal et. al., 1973). Our biographical case reconstruc-
tions indicate that these subsequent generations often unconsciously suffer
from extremely detailed fantasies relating to undisclosed family history or
family secrets. It emerged very clearly in the families we analysed that these
fantasies correspond quite remarkably in their content to the specific experi-
ences in the parts of the family history that are denied.

An aura of secrecy and shame hangs over survivor families where crucial
information and experiences are not passed down to subsequent generations.
"The children develop fearful and embarrassed attitudes to the ‘family secret'
and often weave horrifying fantasies about what was done to their parents and
how they survived" (Davidson, 1980, p. 19). The children and grandchildren
of Nazi perpetrators, on the other hand, are preoccupied with fantasies from
the perspective of the perpetrators as well as with conceptions about their
crimes. At the same time - unlike the descendants of survivors - they keep
trying to soothe themselves by telling themselves that these fantasies are not
remotely grounded in reality or are not connected to the family history. How-
ever, in the case of some children and grandchildren, far from alleviating their
unease, these attempts to soothe themselves make them begin to doubt their
own perception and fear that they suffer from psychotic delusions.

The respective family secrets differ both in content and in function within
families of survivors and those of Nazi perpetrators or accomplices. The fan-
tasies created around these secrets by the subsequent generations are also
correspondingly different in content. These fantasies revolve either around
the powerlessness and suffering experienced by a survivor, or around the
crimes of a perpetrator. Moreover, the psychological dynamics differ in each
case, too. Examples from the Sonntag and Steinberg families offer some pre-
liminary insights into these differences. Both in the Sonntag family, where the
grandfather was very likely implicated in Nazi crimes, and in the Steinberg
family, where the grandmother survived the Shoah, the children and grand-
children only have access to certain information and fill in the gaps with their
fantasies. The creation of such fantasies demonstrates how, despite narrative
silence, the grandparents' experiences and deeds are handed down on a latent
level.

In the Sonntag family (Chapter 5.2), the grandfather, whom our archival
research shows may well have been involved in constructing crematoria in
concentration camps, wonders how there could still have been so many
corpses left after 1945, arguing that they tried to burn them all. His where-
abouts during the war, and the crimes he was implicated in, remain a secret
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within his family. His son, however, continues to ask "burning" questions
with regard to his own life story; he is preoccupied with whether he could
bring himself to shoot people or even burn women and children locked inside
a church building. He subsequently concludes that, though he does not think
he could, he "wouldn't put my hand in the fire to prove"” that he would not be.
He exonerates the perpetrators of such crimes mainly by blaming them on the
victims. One of the main arguments he puts forward is that, in some places,
the victims themselves were to blame for the Nazis murdering their entire
population, because they aided and abetted the partisans. On the other hand,
in the Steinberg family (cf. Zilberman & Rosenthal 1994), the interview with
the mother, who was tortured as a political prisoner and incarcerated in sev-
eral concentration camps, is riddled with unspecified allusions to repeated
abuse and rape. In her own narrative, the daughter, who is extremely close to
her mother, makes veiled allegations against her. On an unconscious level,
she is haunted by the fantasy that her mother prostituted herself to the Nazis.

Thus, we have the son of an alleged perpetrator tormenting himself with
the question of his own potential to perpetrate such crimes, and exonerating
the real perpetrators in the process and, instead, blaming the victims for the
crimes committed against them. In contrast, the daughter of a survivor strug-
gles with suppressed accusations against her mother and with the guilt feel-
ings that these generate in her. These scenarios clearly illustrate the way that a
pattern, that exists in the first generation, is handed down to later generations.
While the real perpetrators attempt to deflect responsibility from themselves
by blaming the victims (Rosenthal, 1992), survivors continue to be plagued
with guilt for having survived, and repeatedly call into question having aban-
doned their parents, or their failure to help others in certain situations, or else
torment themselves by asking why they only thought of themselves during
"selection procedures", instead of thinking of those who were being sent to
their death in the gas chamber. Their children take on these feelings of guilt at
having survived, too, and feel guilty for not being able to make their parents'
past go away, as well (cf. Danieli 1980).

Our analyses of family dialogues also show that coalitions of family
members blocking a discussion of a family past, that weighs very heavily on
all of them, can be a decisive precondition for a closed or bound family sys-
tem being formed and maintained. Thus, the more comprehensive the silence
about the past, the more closed the respective family system. The bound fam-
ily closes itself off from the outside world, while at the same time permitting
almost no limits to be set between individual family members. These families,
of which the Seewald family discussed in Chapter 5.3 is an example, avoid
conflicts, cultivate a harmonizing style of communication, and place large
parts of the family history under taboo (Wirsching & Stierlin 1982, p. 123ff.).
To avoid having to address the theme of threatening parts of their past, bound
families often tend to create family myths (Ferreira 1967): unquestioned justi-
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fication strategies shared by all the family members, a collectively maintained
belief that factually diverges from reality.

A comparison of survivor and perpetrator families also illustrates struc-
tural differences with regard to the content of family myths. In survivor fami-
lies, the construction of and identification with such myths focuses on the
themes of "strength" and "resistance" (such as the fantasy that the grandfather
boxed an SS officer). In families with a Nazi past, this takes on the form of
emphasizing the victimhood of the family members. In the Seewald family
below (Chapter 5.3), we will examine the fabricating interpretation, complete
with detailed fantasy images, of how the grandfather was a victim in a pris-
oner of war camp. A striking feature in Jewish families is the fact that chil-
dren and grandchildren of grandparents who both survived concentration or
extermination camps take a particular interest in finding parts of their family
history related to "fighting". The Goldstern family, for instance, (Chapter 2.3)
identify strongly with the grandmother's brother, who was killed in action
during the War of Independence in Israel. An analysis of this family dialogue
illustrates that identifying with this great-uncle serves as a repair strategy that
attempts to heal intense feelings of powerlessness. While on a superficial
level, this phenomenon may be explained as an expression of collective inter-
pretation patterns institutionalized in Israel, it is also found in families of Jew-
ish survivors living in Germany.

In non-Jewish German families, one repeatedly comes upon the myth of
the "clean" soldier who helped enemy civilians or even treated prisoners of
war with respect, maintaining a sense of justice in the midst of injustice. This
belief corresponds to the long-standing social myth of the "clean"
Wehrmacht, whose members, unlike those of the SS, were supposedly not
implicated in dishonourable crimes."*

14 An exhibition and publication by the Hamburg Institute of Social Research entitled "A War
of Extermination: Crimes of the Wehrmacht" have contributed to calling this myth into
question in Germany to some extent (Heer & Naumann, 1995). The exhibition has traveled
to several cities in Germany and has unleashed innumerable controversies.
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3. Similarities and differences in public discourse about the
Shoah in Israel and West and East Germany

Bettina Volter and Michal Dasberg

The phenomenon of collective silence about the Shoah is something we find
in Israel and in West and East Germany. In all three societies, the history of
the genocide and its aftermath only gradually found its way into public dis-
course. However, this development must be seen differently in the historical
and social context of each country.

In Israel, the 1940s and 1950s were defined by great ambivalence to-
wards the Shoah and its victims. In the struggle for an independent country,
the ideals of Zionism were definitely in the foreground. The "Yishuv", or
community of Jews in Palestine, before a Jewish state existed, pinned its
hopes on the new generation of "Sabres", Jews born in Palestine or Israel:
they were to build the country and defend it (Segev 1993). In contrast, the
survivors of the Shoah, who immigrated to Palestine and Israel after the lib-
eration, corresponded to the negative cliché of the conforming, helpless Jew
in the Diaspora. In the eyes of the Zionists, they were "human dust". The his-
tory of their persecution was more or less a taboo in public discourse: in Pal-
estine, the media hardly covered the Nuremburg trials, for instance. This con-
spiracy of silence "was accompanied by harsh value judgements, which
blamed the survivors, who went, it was said, like sheep to the slaughter”
(Bar-On 1995, p. 19). The group of survivors, who had fought in the Warsaw
ghetto uprising and those who had died in it, partisans and other members of
the Jewish Resistance, came closer to corresponding to the ideal of the Zionist
hero, however. They were awarded public recognition and gratitude. This
differentiating attitude towards survivors and those who died in the Shoah
was expressed in the prevailing culture of memory. Thus, the Remembrance
Day to the Shoah and Heroism (Yom HaShoah veHagevurah) was moved to
the date of the Warsaw ghetto uprising. The name of this day of remembrance
- "to the Shoah and Heroism" - expresses the importance assigned to resis-
tance.

The Eichmann trial in 1961 represented a turning point in Israel's culture
of memory. The trial, which contained accounts and testimonies of the perse-
cution and suffering endured by survivors, was broadcast on public radio,
focusing public attention on this theme (Danieli 1980; Segev 1993). From this
point on, the Shoah was not only linked to the history of the Jewish people,
but to the history of the founding of the state of Israel.

21



Caught by surprise in the Yom Kippur War of 1973, Israel began for the first
time to identify more with the powerlessness of the victims of the Holocaust.
Nonetheless, a socially imposed tendency in Israel to focus on the "heroic",
with issues of powerlessness remaining unvoiced, was operative until the
early 1980s. It is only in the last ten to fifteen years that survivors have been
denounced less for showing weakness during their persecution, and that a
growing number of them have begun to speak about their past. An educational
project launched in Israeli high schools in the seventies has also contributed
to this. About the time of their Bar-Mitzvah/Bat-Mitzvah, all young people
are given an assignment to ask their parents and grandparents about their
pasts and write down their family history. Many Holocaust survivors tell their
story for the first time in connection with these "roots papers".

In the wake of the 1982 Lebanon War and later during the Intifada, there
was very vocal criticism in Israel of the army's actions and its treatment of
civilians. In television reports, commentaries, poems and songs, Israelis pro-
tested publicly against the military operations sanctioned by their state and
warned - also in reference to the Shoah and National Socialism - against the
violation of human rights. During the Gulf War in 1991, when the population
had to seek shelter in sealed rooms and bunkers from possible poison gas
attacks by Iraq, the great majority of Israelis began to identify with the vic-
tims of the Shoah. In fact, the end of the 1980s marks the beginning of a pub-
lic discussion - both in film and literature - of the tribulations not only of sur-
vivors but also of their descendants. While the years before this turn of events
were characterized by a collective attempt to differ from the Diaspora and
shed all types of behaviour reminiscent of it, now many families began to
unearth their memories and let their origins show. Part of this process in-
volved numerous families going back to their European names which they
had hebraized after coming to Israel.

In West Germany, widespread silence around the issue of Nazi crimes
became institutionalized and the prevailing myth was one of an innocent
populace that had followed Nazism unsuspectingly. According to this myth,
the responsible Nazi perpetrators had all been sentenced in the war crimes
trials. The collective majority of Germans was thus free to reassure one an-
other that they had seen and heard nothing about the persecution of the Jews,
or about others who were persecuted, until 1945. Empirical analyses of life
stories by Germans who were not persecuted (Rosenthal 1990; 1993a) illus-
trate the myriad of ways in which members of all generations attempt to extri-
cate accounts of their lives from any possible complicity with the Nazi re-
gime. Although, for several years now, the media have been trying to address
the theme of Nazi crimes in a very general way, this has hardly ever taken the
form of examining the reality of people's experiences during that time. This
silence surrounding the issue of the perpetrators and of Nazi crimes experi-
enced by bystanders has led over time to certain rules being established that
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effectively obstruct any intergenerational or intragenerational dialogue. Even
the enormous amount of energy brought into the debate on anti-fascism in
West Germany by members of what is known as the (19)68 generation could
not stop them from unconsciously obeying these rules, in spite of their con-
certed effort to re-examine fascism, criticize relics of the "Third Reich" in
post-war society and squarely confront their parents' generation with its com-
plicity in the Nazi regime. It emerges in our interviews with members of the
'68 generation, how little they actually know about their own family histories.
Often the very act of accusing their parents or grandparents of being Nazis
functioned as a very effective defence mechanism against any specific knowl-
edge of their relatives' actual pasts as Nazi perpetrators or accomplices
(Rosenthal 1995b). However, the genocide of the Jews did become an issue
of public debate leading to wider social dialogue after the first broadcast of
the US television series "The Holocaust" in 1979 (Mérthesheimer/Frenzel
1979). This more extensive debate of Nazi persecution and the fate of those
who were persecuted - in the media, in school and even within families — do
not, however, rule out a reluctance or even resistance to directly addressing
the question of perpetrators either in public discourse or within families. It
must be said, however, that members of the younger generation are increas-
ingly confronting the impact of the past on the children and grandchildren of
perpetrators.

East Germany saw itself, contrasted to West Germany, as the true anti-
fascist Germany and as the successor state to the Resistance movement. Its
supporters declared the socialist state free of all continuity to the Nazi past.
While in West Germany, all debate that focused on the Holocaust more or
less ignored the issue of political resistance, in East Germany exactly the op-
posite held true. Here, communist resistance to Nazism was overemphasized
and the Shoah was played down (Kulturamt Prenzlauer Berg et al 1992). The
passive Jew, who was not politically active and was unable to save himself for
this reason, was the dominant image. This image was contrasted with the anti-
fascist member of the Resistance, styled as a hero, who had read the signs of
the times early on and had risked his life in the anti-fascist struggle. Jewish
resistance fighters were often exalted as anti-fascists, but their Jewish back-
ground was completely ignored. Our interviews illustrate how this absence of
a public discourse on ‘racial' persecution contributed to the Holocaust and
Jews being talked about even less in East German families than they were in
West German ones.

In East Germany, the Eichmann trial of 1961 also initiated increased de-
bate about the National Socialist mass annihilation. But here, the power appa-
ratus tried to use this issue as a weapon to fight the Cold War: West Germany
was presented as the land of the murderers and anti-Semites while East Ger-
many was stylized as the sole heir of anti-fascism (Wolffsohn 1995, p. 27-
56).
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The eighties heralded a significant growth in public interest in Jewish life in
East Germany and in remembering the Shoah. Initiatives such as the decision
to rebuild the New Synagogue in East Berlin must be seen in the context of
growing international interest in Jewish issues (Bodemann 1996, p. 106f). In
1988, the East German regime unexpectedly signalized its fundamental will-
ingness to make restitution payments to Jews who had been persecuted by the
Nazis. The State Department's demand that it settles Jewish compensation and
restitution claims had gone unheeded since 1973. Now, the country's desolate
trade balance made diplomatic and economic relations with the US urgently
necessary, forcing it to make these concessions. But the East German regime
continued to reject any share of the responsibility for National Socialist
crimes (Goschler 1993, p. 110). And it was only in 1990 that the People's
Chamber finally approved a resolution that East Germany - in the final throes
of'its existence - recognized the state of Israel.

Since the fall of the Wall in 1989, both parts of Germany have seen a de-
cidedly critical public rethinking of the anti-fascist culture of memory that
tended to emphasize the Resistance and keep silent about the genocide and its
perpetrators. It was now possible to give new emphasis to sites of public
commemoration, such as the memorials where the concentration camps of
Sachsenhausen and Buchenwald once stood. Holocaust exhibitions were rear-
ranged to allocate more space to the genocide, while at the same time paring
down the parts of the exhibition devoted to political resistance. Public debates
like the dispute unleashed by Daniel Goldhagen's book "Hitler's willing exe-
cutioners" (1996) or the controversy arising from the exhibition entitled "A
War of Extermination. Crimes of the Wehrmacht" (cf. Heer/Naumann 1995)
addressed the theme of crimes perpetrated by the "perfectly ordinary" Ger-
man.

On the whole, it must be stressed that the silence surrounding the Holo-
caust has similar motives in both East and West Germany, but altogether dif-
ferent ones in Israel. A concluding comparison, that examines the different
ways in which Jewish families in former West and East Germany and in Israel
deal with the past, aims at shedding more light on the differences in social
dialogue on the Holocaust in these three countries.

Until well into the 1980s in former East Germany, there was a strong
tendency not to talk about having a Jewish background, about persecution or
even about anti-Semitism experienced after 1945. By contrast, the history of
political resistance and anti-fascist elements in the family past tended to be
stressed (cf. Part 4). This was part of an identification with the socialist ideals
propagated by the East German state (Ostow 1989). In other words, this way
of dealing with the family history was symptomatic as well as reflective of the
general way in which East German society dealt with the Nazi past. More-
over, the state placed little value on the development of Jewish self-
awareness. According to the official state definition, only those who were
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registered members of one of the eight religious Jewish Community Centres
were considered Jewish (Runge 1990, p. 942f). And yet estimates indicate
that the number of Jews living in the East German state was actually ten or
fifteen times greater than the number of members of the Jewish Community
Centres suggest (Ibid., p. 156). The more their faith in the socialist state
crumbled, the more some felt the need to reflect on their Jewish background.
With the demise of the East German state, even communists of Jewish de-
scent began to concern themselves with Jewish culture and their family past
(Genin 1994, p. 383-402). Thus, for instance, from 1985 on, over 200 East
Berliners with biographical links to Judaism, who felt a need for a Jewish-
Jewish dialogue, formed the "We-for-us" group under the auspices of the
Jewish Community Centre (Runge 1990, p. 944f).

The self-definition of Jews living in West Germany was based to a
greater extent on their Jewishness. However, even here, many of them played
down their Jewish identity and acquired a form of self-presentation, which
allowed them to avoid necessarily being identified as Jewish within non-
Jewish circles, until well into the eighties (cf. Chapter 2.2). Furthermore, they
avoided raising the issue of Nazi crimes within the realm of public discourse.
Eventually, though, some of the children of families of Jewish descent began
to voice their political opinions on these issues more openly.

While Jews in East Germany identified with the East German state, we
can observe that in West Germany many Jews have a negative bond to the
country they are living in. A comparison of Jewish families in the two coun-
tries must consider the fact that the life histories of the grandparents living in
each state had very different trajectories before 1945. In West Germany, most
of the generation of Jewish grandparents were camp survivors of Eastern
European origin who had gone to Displaced Persons camps right after the
liberation (Richarz 1988). In East Germany, on the other hand, a large num-
ber of them had been members of the Resistance or had emigrated from Ger-
many before 1939 and, as members of the Communist party, had decided to
return to live in a socialist state after the war. Those, who were forced to emi-
grate and subsequently returned to East Germany, bear interesting similarities
to those who left Germany before 1939 for Israel as part of the Youth Aliyah.
In Israel, both the first and second generations of these families generally live
on a kibbutz and often hold strong decidedly Zionistic views. Analyses of
interviews with them show that, among other things, identifying with Zionism
serves to alleviate the guilt that torments the first generation (cf. Part 3), who
accuse themselves of having abandoned their relatives to die in Europe while
they were able to build a new life for themselves in Israel. Both identifying
with Zionism in Israel and identifying with the socialist state in former East
Germany are therefore accompanied by playing down the negative aspects of
each system.
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Part 2:
Families of Survivors in Israel, West and
East Germany






4. Traumatic family pasts
Gabriele Rosenthal

Disjointed lives - fragmented life stories

Social functions of remembering

A comparison of the life stories of Holocaust survivors with those of German
accomplices and also perpetrators (Rosenthal 1990, p. 1991) indicates certain
structural differences. These differences can roughly be characterized as fol-
lows: while non-Jewish Germans who did not suffer persecution - the accom-
plices of the "Third Reich" - can easily narrate their experiences during
World War II at great length, survivors have considerable difficulties with the
processes of remembering and narrating what they went through. In fact, one
can even say that for German accomplice biographers who were not perse-
cuted, the war period generated autobiographies; whereas in the case of sur-
vivors, this period actually impeded autobiographies. For women and men
who were accomplices and perpetrators, the war generated detailed, epic, and
dramatic narrations (Rosenthal 1991). In contrast, the life stories of biogra-
phers who suffered persecution are primarily comprised of isolated events or
fragmented stories, or of a disjointed narration of a chain of events, in which
they jump back and forth between several time frames. These disjunctures
lead to considerable inconsistencies in the chronology of narrated events.
Even life stories of Holocaust survivors characterized by an obsessive narra-
tion of the persecution exhibit the same fragmentation within individual sto-
ries as well as in the larger story that is made up of these individual stories.
This is exemplified in an interview we conducted with a Jewish doctor, Dr.
Shaul Prawda. When the Germans attacked the Soviet Union, Dr. Prawda was
32 years old, married and expecting his first child. While he was able to speak
at length about his attempts to escape and his struggle to survive, his account
of the first few weeks after the attack was disjointed. He began his account as
follows: "When the Germans came to A-Stadt (9 second pause), a week later
they established a ghetto, that was on June 22, 1941 s,

The narrator broke off his narration here. The process of constructing a
story from his memories was too hard for him. Instead, he pulled out some

15 Transcription symbols in appendix.
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photographs of mass graves excavated after the liberation: "When the Rus-
sians came, they dug them up, they asked me to be present for the record, but
I couldn't do it".

While we looked through the photographs, Dr. Prawda hesitatingly and
indirectly alluded to the fact that the SS had ordered Jewish men to dig graves
in a nearby forest. During the first "Aktion", or killing operation, that fol-
lowed immediately after this, 200 Jews were shot here, and numerous mass
killings were committed here until the ghettos were liquidated in October
1942. Dr. Prawda found it very hard to talk about this. His mother and two of
his sisters and their families were killed in this forest. He attempted to com-
municate some of these horrifying scenes to the interviewer, but broke off his
narration every time, or departed from the chronology of his life story and
confused this period with other phases of his life.

At first glance, the differences between the ease of narration experienced
by German accomplices and perpetrators, who were not persecuted, and the
narrative difficulties of Holocaust survivors might be characterized in the
following way: accomplices and Nazi perpetrators want to talk about the war
years and are able to do so, because they are not as traumatized as the survi-
vors, even in cases where they were also confronted with traumatic situations.
Although it is impossible to compare the war experiences of accomplices and
perpetrators with the suffering endured by Holocaust survivors, it is possible
to ask how German accomplices and perpetrators deal with the traumatic
situations in their lives. Our analysis (Rosenthal 1990; 1991) clearly demon-
strates that the accomplices and perpetrators of the Nazi regime have learned
to eradicate all traumatic and embarrassing experiences from their life stories.
A German war veteran can talk for hours about being stationed at the Eastern
front, just as a German female civilian can give an account of a city that was
subjected to daily air raids during the final months of the war. However, not a
single dead or dying person appears in any of these accounts. They are often
poignant and serve to portray the protagonists as victims of their age, but
scenes of horror, fear, or of witnessing the death of others or even the destruc-
tion of villages are not elaborated on and are often only implied. This tactic of
evading unpleasant scenes holds equally true for experiences that bring up
guilt feelings because of the narrator's failure to offer help to people faced
with persecution and annihilation. These stories can only be reconstructed,
when the threat and emotional anguish they actually entail are eradicated. To
block out these tormenting and gruesome experiences, other less threatening
stories are often told - "screen stories", as they can be described in reference
to Freud's (1899) concept of "screen memories". The narrator generally suc-
ceeds in filling in the gaps with stories of experiences that occurred around
the same time, and are in keeping with collective narrative rituals. In narra-
tions of World War I, for instance, war anecdotes serve to cover what is be-
ing omitted - such as confrontations with death and killing - with something
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less problematic. World War II veterans will fill a lengthy narrative about the
war with descriptions of military tactics, armaments and vehicles, and details
of arriving and withdrawing, and peaceful experiences with civilians.

Narrations of the survivors differ dramatically in this respect. Those, who
do talk about the persecution they experienced, set themselves the task of
trying to articulate the atrocities and terror. They tend much less to fill in the
gaps in their narration with "harmless" stories and seldom use strategies to
distance themselves from the horror they experienced. Only one interviewee
diverted his story from his traumatic experiences in Auschwitz by telling an-
ecdotes to distance himself and his listeners from what he went through.

In the last few years, many survivors have tried to communicate some of
the atrocities they endured to those who did not experience them. It has cost
them a great deal of effort to articulate their thoughts, pieced together from
fragments of memory. Some survivors have insisted on speaking or writing
about their experiences since the liberation: for them, this expression has been
the very basis of their continuing survival - Primo Levi is a good example
here, while others have chosen silence. But since memories refuse to be
erased, finding expression in nightmares and daily anxiety, and since panic
reactions can later turn into psychosomatic illnesses, the latter survivors feel a
growing need to break their silence. In recent years, many have tried to speak
about what they suffered, before their generation becomes incapable of bear-
ing testimony to the persecution.

Many of those, who have begun to speak, who are trying to piece together
an exact recollection of the crimes committed against them, suffer from gaps
in their memory and can only deal to a limited extent with a stream of narra-
tion or with re-living their experiences. These narrative difficulties arise from
the trauma they have experienced and from several decades of silence. There
were no willing listeners after the liberation, and they did not wish to burden
others with what they had gone through; also, they were afraid of being over-
whelmed by their feelings if they spoke about their traumatic experiences.

Comparative case analyses of accomplices and victims of National So-
cialism bring up yet another factor which makes for narrative difficulties on
the part of the victims: the partial speechlessness of the victims contrasted
with the verbosity of German accomplices and perpetrators is a result of the
differing social functions served by addressing the theme of this historical
period. Paradoxically, where so-called "witnesses" are concerned, far from
serving to expose the injustice of the National Socialist system, its crimes
and/or their own implication in them, these narrations attempt to gloss over
all of this with other anecdotes. By talking at length about the war years, por-
trayed as a period of suffering, and by simultaneously playing down the pre-
war years and their role as active agents in them, German accomplices and
perpetrators manage to avoid the theme of "National Socialism" and their
own involvement in this system. By doing so, they succeed in bolstering the
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idea that "we suffered a lot, too". This deferral of responsibility puts the nar-
rator's suffering on an equal footing with that of a victim of the Nazi tyranny
and forms the basis of their circumventing the theme of Nazi crimes - a cru-
cial element in their narration of war stories.

On the other hand, Holocaust survivors, who have decided to break their
silence, want to talk about their traumatic experiences in a response to the
tendency to forget Nazi crimes and to the thesis of the "Auschwitz lie". And
so they try to articulate very traumatic experiences that are the hardest to re-
late. While German accomplices and perpetrators try to gloss over these
atrocities with anecdotes, survivors' attempts are geared towards bringing
these atrocities to light. They want to make a testimony, to use their personal
experiences to prove the kind of unspeakable cruelties that were committed in
Europe by the Nazis and their accomplices. In the process, they are often
faced with the problem of uncovering and recounting something so intensely
traumatic that it seems impossible to express or include in a narration. Of the
atrocities they experienced, the ones they suffered on a daily basis seem to
stand out most: situations that had become routine - daily humiliation and
mortification, the death of fellow-inmates, roll calls, not being able to wash,
hunger and cold. Thus, Holocaust survivors are imposing an almost impossi-
ble task on themselves: that of relating experiences that were so traumatic that
it is very hard to tell them, meaning that before this narration, they had not
been constructed into stories. Survivors need help during the process of con-
structing stories in the form of a supportive listener, if they are to be able to
construct a narrative of their lives during persecution.

It is the author's experience that this kind of active support not only helps
survivors to articulate their experiences, but that their doing so marks the be-
ginning of a healing process as well (cf. Rosenthal 1995a, p. 167-185). The
seeming impossibility of recounting these experiences leads to the danger of
the individual remaining entangled in the past, incapable of distancing them-
selves from it. This also makes it impossible for them to experience the past
as distinct from the present. In this sense, the narrative represents a transfor-
mation from the unknown to the known, in which the unfamiliar becomes
recognizable and comprehensible to both narrator and listener (Schiitze
1976). In contrast, if the biographers cannot communicate their suffering,
they tend to get little empathy from those who do not share their experiences
or have never suffered anything similar themselves. It is my opinion that an
inability to talk about traumatic experiences leads to a second traumatization
after the actual suffering is over. The inability to turn experiences into narra-
tion - life history into life story - leads to a consolidation of the trauma ac-
companying the original experiences. This is not to say that there are not sur-
vivors who have to protect themselves from recounting their experiences, as
to do so would present too great a risk for them. These survivors would either
refuse to take part in an interview or would use narrative techniques to avoid
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telling their stories. We can assume that survivors, who are capable of suc-
cessfully living their daily lives and not being completely oppressed by their
past, have enough strength and competence - presumably more than other
people - to protect themselves in an interview from interventions that go too
deep. Wolfram Fischer-Rosenthal (1992) speaks of a man who, rather than
telling the story of the persecution he had experienced, asked the interviewer
to inform himself about this phase of his life by reading his biography, which
his wife had written based on documents from his psychotherapy sessions. He
added that he himself only wished to speak about the period after the libera-
tion.

Different types of fragmentary life stories

Interviews with survivors of the Holocaust illustrate, how persecution - the
physical and psychological disruption of their environment and of parts of
themselves - has destroyed their sense of continuity for any sustained period
of time. Their life stories are presented in a disjointed and fragmented way.
The individual phases of their lives - the period before and during the perse-
cution, as well as the period that followed their survival of it - can only be
pieced together with considerable difficulty. Similarly, the connections be-
tween the individual experiences within these periods are often very dis-
jointed. In addition, entire periods of their lives are lost in speechlessness,
and the biographers can only recall them as individual fragments, images and
emotions.

Some survivors are barely able to present their recollections of the period
of persecution in story form'®. They use the following narrative structure to
solve the problem of speechlessness: they tell the story of the persecution
before their arrival in the extermination camp, leave out the time in the camp,
and resume their narration after the liberation. An Auschwitz survivor from
Jerusalem, Mrs. Silbermann, provides an example of this strategy. She gave a
detail account of three extremely hard years she spent in the ghetto, during
which time her entire family was murdered, with the exception of her mother.
She spoke briefly of having arrived at Auschwitz with her mother in the
summer of 1944 and then immediately shifted the time frame to the end of her
time in the camp. She then continued with a detailed description of the reason

16 While these cases are described as the "rule" in the literature of psychiatry (cf. Eissler
1963; 1968), in our interviews they form the exception. This is due to the fact that we did
not interview people undergoing psychiatric treatment and our interviewees were all volun-
teers. Most survivors however, who took part in amnesic interviews with psychiatrists, did
so to aid the diagnosis of "persecution-related damage" as part of what are known as West
German indemnification methods. In these interviews, psychiatrists had to evaluate, whe-
ther the victims' present-day illness and physical and/or emotional damage was caused by
Nazi persecution (cf. Niederland 1968).
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for her survival: she said that she had survived because she wanted to die. In
January 1945, shortly before the SS evacuated the camp and all the inmates,
apart from the seriously ill, her mother was taken to the infirmary. In extermi-
nation camps, this usually meant certain death. After repeated, persistent at-
tempts, Mrs. Silbermann managed to get inside the revier: she wanted to die
with her mother. This meant that mother and daughter were not sent on the
"death march", which in their weakened physical condition they would have
been very unlikely to survive. Instead, they were liberated by the Red Army.
Temporally, the narrative structure of Mrs. Silbermann's life story ends with
an account of her being transported in a cattle car in inhuman conditions for
fourteen days. The seventeen-year-old, as she was at the time, disappears as
the agent in her life story at this point. Presumably she was totally dependent
on her mother at the time and only recovers agency when she is left to fend
for herself without her mother. In my interview with Mrs. Silbermann, I tried
several times to bring her to speak about the period she spent in Auschwitz,
but to no avail. She was only able to only respond with such images as "the
inmates all looked mentally ill" or "Auschwitz was a lunatic asylum" and
could not manage to tell any stories. The time she spent in the camp has lost
all chronology; it has been reduced to an asynchronous structure that can only
be recounted as one overall impression, without the individual elements or
experiences that comprise this impression. The impression of a lunatic asylum
presumably expresses her self-image at the time. When I met with Mrs. Sil-
bermann again, a year later in February 1991 during the Gulf War, the reason
that stories of Auschwitz had not been forthcoming despite my encourage-
ment became acutely apparent. In response to my question as to how she felt,
sitting in a sealed room during the Iraqi air raids, she said: "I feel like I did
during the Aktionen in the ghetto. I feel this awful, paralysing fear, this pain
in my stomach. After the all-clear, I feel completely empty, completely weak
and paralysed - like in the ghetto."

She replied to my question, "Do you feel like you're in Auschwitz
again?", in the negative: "No, I don't think about that, 'cause I was practi-
cally dead then, I didn't feel anything any more."

For Mrs. Silbermann, being practically dead, completely numb already a
"Muselmann", meant a total lack of agency and future perspectives. As an
inmate, she drifted, functioned like a machine going through life in the camp,
passively subjected to the traumatic routines there, such as the roll calls. And
in the process, she increasingly disappeared from her own life story as the
agent and could barely recount it later. This contrasts with the life stories of
survivors who did not renounce themselves, but fought with all the cunning
and deceit they could muster to survive, who were not condemned to total
passiveness because of the specific situations they were in; people who were
cooped up in cramped hiding places, for instance. These survivors can talk at
great length and in great detail about their experiences, in some cases even
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becoming obsessive. Mrs. Silbermann can relate her "liberation history" in
detail: she had committed herself to something, stirred herself into action and
managed to get into the revier despite resistance from the physicians.

Apart from these difficulties in telling the story of the period of persecu-
tion - which are well-documented in the literature on the Shoah and its impact
(cf. Eissler 1963; Niederland 1980) - a comparison of life stories also shows
that the experience of persecution can cause a loss in the chronology of the
period before and after it. These specific experiences contribute to whether
biographers can:

a) barely talk about the period before the persecution, or
b) barely talk about the time after the persecution, or
¢) only talk about the period of persecution itself.

Mrs. Weiss (born in 1934) belongs to the group who are barely able to relate
the part of their lives before their arrival in Auschwitz. At the beginning of
her life story, she only mentioned her parents' professions, how many siblings
she had and that she had been in a ghetto for a little while. Then she began a
detailed account of being transported to Auschwitz, of the circumstances sur-
rounding her separation from her mother on the ramp and, together with her
twin sister, of being one of Mengele's "guinea pigs".

During the questioning part of the interview, I repeatedly tried to encour-
age her - with no success - to tell me more about her childhood before
Auschwitz. The interview was conducted in English. Mrs. Weiss' language of
habitual use is Hebrew (she no longer speaks her native language, which is
Hungarian). My first question, following the main narration of her life story,
was: "What can you remember about the time before the war?" She an-
swered: "About the time before the war, uh-, you was, uh, you are- uh very-
(2) uh- (2) happy family” Her husband intervened: "We was, we was" Mrs.
Weiss: "We was a very, a very happy family, eh-, and-, eh- (2 seconds) very
rich family.”

Her confusing ‘we' and “you' was not the result of a poor command of
English. Rather, it is our first indication that she has "lost" the story of her life
before Auschwitz. Interestingly enough, Mrs. Weiss used the first person plu-
ral in her narration - the appropriate pronoun - until she was brutally sepa-
rated from her mother upon their arrival at Auschwitz. During the course of
her narration about her time in Auschwitz-Birkenau, where she was sent with
her twin sister while her parents and two elder sisters were killed in the gas
chambers as soon as they arrived, she dropped the "we" that was destroyed
for ever at that time. Mrs. Weiss was ten years old when she arrived at
Auschwitz; her childhood has shrunk to nothing more than the label of a
happy family and a few photographs, in particular, a sweet reproduction of
herself and her twin sister as children, which she gave me as a present. Her
childhood was brutally cut short once and for all, when the SS men tore her
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and her sister away from their mother, because the twins were selected to
"live" for medical experiments. This break is manifest in her biographical
self-presentation as well. The first story she recounted in her life story clearly
indicates the caesura in her life:

"In this moment we came from the wagon some German were crying
"Zwillinge heraus, Zwillinge" ("twins get out") and they take my sister and
me from my mother in a place are making numbers on the arm. I remember
that you don't want, eh give him my hand to make a number, you are CRY-
ING (very loud) you want my mummy and then some people was speaking
Hungarian, they told that tomorrow you are seeing all the family and then [
give him the hand to make the number."

While all my inquiries about the time before Auschwitz only led to brief ac-
counts or to argumentation, those pertaining to her arrival in Auschwitz evoke
a clear narration. It seems unmistakably clear on the basis of this text struc-
ture, that the moment of her separation from her mother represents the
"threshold of the present" (Fischer 1982) in her life story. This seems to sig-
nal the turning point that separates her past from her present.

Unlike Mrs. Silbermann, Mrs. Weiss was able to give an account of her
time in Auschwitz-Birkenau. She talked about the experiments that she and
her sister were subjected to, about how her sister fell ill because of the injec-
tions the Nazi doctors gave her, and about her tireless search for her mother
which even led her to look through the piles of corpses. Mrs. Weiss' time in
Auschwitz has not shrunk to a timeless image, because even though she was
only ten years old at the time, she fought actively to survive. While Mrs. Sil-
bermann lost her will to live, in Mrs. Weiss' case, her own survival was the
only guarantee for that of her sister. If she had failed to withstand the various
cruel experiments conducted on her by Dr. Mengele, her sister would cer-
tainly have been murdered and vice versa.

It could be argued that Mrs. Weiss cannot tell the story of her childhood,
because she was only ten years old when she came to Auschwitz, and that this
is why her recollections are unclear. But there are other cases of much older
survivors, where the same phenomenon emerges, as is discussed in the litera-
ture on the subject (cf. Grubrich-Simitis 1979): it is quite clear that these
blanks are usually connected to an overly defined memory of the persecution.
All the survivors involved in our study, who are unable to tell the parts of
their life story relating to the time prior to the persecution, have lived for long
periods under very extreme circumstances in extermination camps as opposed
to in concentration camps or forced-labour camps. They differ from those
who are able to talk about their life before the persecution, in that they lost
everything they had before the war. They lost not only their family, country,
language, and belongings, but also all their plans for the future, incipient ca-
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reers, hope, belief in God'” and belief in themselves as well. In other words,
their lifeline before the Shoah was abruptly and irreversibly severed by the
persecution (cf. Niederland 1980, p. 229). The period prior to the persecution
is no longer part of their life story, that is, it cannot be integrated into it. The
destruction effected by the Holocaust was so all-encompassing that it be-
comes impossible to find connections to any part of one's former life, whether
professional or personal. Formulated in the language of Gestalt theory this
reads: the shape of life before the persecution cannot be integrated into the
shape after persecution. No lines of connection exist to the life before the
persecution. Moreover, this type of survivor tends to idealize the time before
Auschwitz and to condense it into a single image - "We were a happy family".
It may be assumed that these survivors already idealized their family during
their time in the camps, as is illustrated in the psychological literature, where
this is discussed as a coping strategy (cf. Matussek 1971). The idealization
may be another reason for the survivor's reluctance to go into details about
the pre-war period, since such investigation might endanger this idealization.

Another reason, that speaks for the above interpretation of the loss of life
history before the persecution and the destruction of all continuity, is the fact
that those, who can talk about the period prior to the persecution, extend these
biographical strands to the period after the war in their narration of them.
Thus, for example, another survivor who was in Auschwitz and lost her par-
ents, her sister and her husband there, focuses her narrative on her education -
a biographical strand that she can pick up again after 1945. Other strands,
however, such as her marriage, are simply added on by way of the relevant
dates.

Furthermore, as seen in their narratives about the pre- and post-
persecution periods, the life story of these survivors is only told within the
framework of the Holocaust. In other words, they refrain from telling parts of
their life history that do not fit into the main theme of persecution. The bio-
graphical strands, that they do not see as belonging within this framework, are
lost. The structuring principle of these narrations, their thematic field, as Aron
Gurwitsch calls it (1964), is the persecution itself. The individual stories are
embedded in this thematic field. This field is defined differently by the vari-
ous biographers: sometimes by the recurrent question of why they did not
emigrate; or why they did not try to combat anti-Semitism before the war. In
the case of those who migrated in time, the question of why they left their
parents behind seems to be of primary importance. For example, Amalia
Teschner (born in 1916), a survivor from Slovakia, whose thematic field in
her life story rests on the question of why she did not emigrate, despite having

17 Mrs. Weiss, for example, came from an orthodox family who were strictly kosher. Like
many other survivors, she claims to have lost her faith in God in Auschwitz. And since she
could not keep any kosher rules there at all, the entire thing failed to make any sense to her
after a while.
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an opportunity to do so, responded to my request for more details of her
childhood and youth with accounts that were embedded in this thematic field.
She spoke of her good relations with her gentile neighbours and friends and
about the general absence of anti-Semitism in her hometown. Her stories
seemed intended to prove that she had not realized that leaving Slovakia was
necessary.

When 1 asked: "Maybe you could tell me more about your parental
home?", she replied: "My parent's home, my parents were religious Jews. As
I mentioned, we were six children. I was the second. We lived in a small town
... and we had a wonderful youth. Maybe we were blind. I don't know. Maybe
we didn't want to see. As children, as a child, we (I) didn't know what anti-
Semitism was."”

The phenomenon of the impact on narration of the pre-war period of the
Holocaust and the different problems, that go along with it, also makes itself
felt in relation to the post-war period. As mentioned earlier, these life stories
are related entirely to the thematic field of the persecution. Thus, for example,
Mrs. Weiss, quoted above, was able to talk about her life after the liberation;
the story of her illnesses, that were the result of her time in the camp and the
experiments carried out on her by Mengele and his physicians.

The question then is, how do these differ from other life stories? Gener-
ally when analysing a narrated life story, one finds a main theme that func-
tions as a structuring principle for the entire biography, as shown for instance
in the reconstruction of an interview with a daughter of a perpetrator (Rosen-
thal/Bar-On 1992). This woman recounted her entire life in situations where
she was invariably the victim while the main perpetrator was her own father.
The difference between her story and interviews of Holocaust survivors lies
in the ability of those, who did not suffer persecution, to change this underly-
ing thematic field in the course of an interview. Sometimes biographers who
were not traumatized, have more than one central theme in their main narra-
tion, or else they change this central theme in response to the interviewer's
questions. They are also able to narrate their life stories along varying central
themes in different situations. It is therefore my assumption that, even in dif-
ferent contexts, Holocaust survivors are generally only able to tell their life
stories within the thematic field of the persecution. In my opinion, this repre-
sents a real opportunity for the listener to provide effective support; namely,
in helping them to construct experiences that are not in the thematic field of
the persecution. This also means giving them back their future and with it
their present. Just as biographical narration of the persecution can have a
healing effect, reclaiming the parts of their life story, that come before and
after it, and embedding these phases in thematic fields not connected to the
persecution, is also of crucial significance for living with this past more eas-
ily. What emerges not only from interviews with Holocaust survivors but also
from those with other people who have suffered trauma, is that a precondition
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for these processes of integration is the necessity of getting these traumatized
people to talk about their entire life story and supporting them in this exer-
cise. When confronted with a request to tell only the story of their lives dur-
ing the period of persecution, interviewees tend to lose their grasp of the other
phases of their lives, and to re-centre their lives around the experience of sur-
vival. On the other hand, if they succeed in reconstructing their lives after the
persecution within the framework of other thematic fields and in reclaiming
traces of lived continuities with their life stories prior to the persecution, they
will have taken the first steps towards an easier relationship with their pasts.

Five Families of Survivors of the Shoah

In the section below, we consider five survivor families from the point of
view of the impact on the children's and grandchildren's generation of the
fragmented life stories their grandparents tell them, and of the parts of their
past that they refrain from talking about. The families we present in this part
differ considerably in terms of their experiences of persecution, their family
histories after the liberation, and the way they deal with the past.

In the Kovacs and Kubiak families, we focus on the lives of the second
and third generation in Germany. Both the sons in the Kubiak family and the
daughter in the Kovacs family are married to non-Jewish German partners.
Using Miriam, the Kovacs daughter, as an example, we try to illustrate a
mechanism found in other daughters and sons of survivors who choose part-
ners who embody the aspects of themselves that they have split off. A number
of children of survivors have always suppressed their own aggressions. An
aggressive partner can vicariously express their suppressed aggression for
them; in some cases it is even directed at them. In the case of this couple,
Miriam and Achim, it emerges that Achim voices the accusations against his
parents-in-law that Miriam has presumably had to suppress her entire life. In
the Kubiak family, we present a family history of persecution in Poland fol-
lowed by migration to Israel and then, in 1961, to former East Germany.
Here, we are dealing with a family secret pertaining to the family's migration
from Israel to East Germany. Like many other second-generation survivors,
both sons in this family suffer, because they live in the land of the perpetra-
tors - a life imposed on them by their parents - but are unable to attack their
mother openly for making them come to live in Germany. The grandchildren
in this family have considerable problems living in Germany, too, and one has
already emigrated to Canada.

The Goldstern family illustrates the tremendous impact that a collective
history - the history of the Lodz ghetto -, bound up with the traumatic experi-
ences suffered by the grandparents, can have on their children and grandchil-
dren. By developing phobias and self-destructive tendencies, the grandson in
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this family acts out the family past that has been passed on to him at an un-
conscious level. His father, on the other hand, tries to keep the past out even
more, putting up an emotional wall around himself in the process. The
Sneidler family gives us an opportunity to examine the problems that prevail
in a family in which the grandfather and grandmother survived as inmate-
functionaries. There are considerable differences in these two families in
terms of their family dialogue, the myths they create, and the family secrets
linked to these myths. Whereas the Goldsterns represent a family who have
created a myth focusing on the parts of their family history that involve fight-
ing, and who remain silent about experiences involving powerlessness and
helplessness, the persecution in the Sneidlers' past required the creation of a
different myth. This family has established a myth that the grandparents are
perfectly ordinary survivors, while the theme of forced collaboration hardly
features in the family dialogue at all.

The Stern family from Israel illustrates the impact on the second and third
generations of different family pasts being combined by marriage where the
non-Jewish family past is blocked out of the family dialogue. The mother in
this family is a child-survivor of the Shoah. Her son provides an example of
how generational boundaries can be blurred and how children born after the
Shoah try, in the words of Auerhahn and Prelinger (1983, p. 33): "to re-enact
the experience of trauma via an activation in fantasy so as to understand the
parent and the present familial atmosphere".

In the Goldstern, Shapiro/Sneidler and Genzor/Kovacs families, we had
the opportunity to interview siblings of the grandparents' generation. While
all three of the sisters we interviewed in the Genzor family survived the
ghetto, Auschwitz and the Stutthof concentration camp, they survived under
very different conditions in different concentration and death camps. The
shared experience of having survived has led to a lifelong bond between the
Genzor sisters, but also to them controlling what each other reveal about the
past. The dialogue between the sisters in the Shapiro family revolves primar-
ily around the question of who suffered most. In the Goldstern family, two of
Amos Goldstern's sisters lived with the family in the Lodz ghetto until 1944.
Amos, who left in 1940, always tries to evade his sisters' memories of the
family's suffering in the ghetto, but keeps being confronted with it non-
verbally by his wife, who was also in the Lodz ghetto until 1944.

Like in many other of the families we interviewed, in three of the families
depicted here there are indications that the grandmothers experienced sexual
violence: many survivors were raped by Germans and then after the liberation
by Soviet soldiers and were forced to have sexual relationships with female
guards, Wehrmacht soldiers, doctors in Auschwitz and concentration camp
inmates. It is only in the past few years that Holocaust studies has addressed
this violence inflicted on women (cf. Ringelheim 1994). It is our opinion as
researchers that our methods of eliciting narration about such experiences and
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of evaluating hints of sexual violence in interviews are still very much in their
infancy. Again and again, the women in the interviews we conducted dropped
unmistakable hints of sexual violence, or addressed the theme of experiences
they had gone through themselves by telling stories of what had happened to
other women who had experienced the same thing. But our female interview-
ees did not explicitly talk about their own experiences of violence. We are
forced to admit here that our interviewing method may fall short when it
comes to uncovering these experiences, which are linked for these women-
survivors with a great deal of shame and guilt. To what degree a more direc-
tive interviewing method involving direct questions about this theme could
help women to verbalize their experiences requires further investigation.

The hints in our interviews only permit us to make valid indications of
sexual violence in our analyses of the interviews in a limited way. But we feel
a responsibility nonetheless to draw attention to these hints so as not to per-
petuate the taboo placed on this theme.

As in many other of the families we interviewed (cf. Gilad 1995), it be-
comes apparent in the marriages of the Sneidler, Goldstern and Kovacs
grandparents that one partner tends to do most of the talking about the past,
while the other tends to remain silent. The partner, who remains silent, suffers
without being able to express their traumatic experiences in words: this suf-
fering takes the form of clearly psychosomatic symptoms, nightmares, nerv-
ous breakdowns and depression. Based on her therapeutic experience, Yael
Danieli (1982, p. 408) states that in families in which both parents are survi-
vors of the Shoah, it is often the one who suffered more who does not speak
about the past. I, however, would not like to speak of greater or lesser suffer-
ing, but rather of different suffering. Thus, my empirical analyses suggest that
the amount of scope for agency in the persecution situation is one of the deci-
sive conditions for being able to talk about traumatic phases of life (cf.
Rosenthal 1995¢). This emerges very clearly in the case of Rebecca Sneidler,
who takes on the role of the one who does the talking in both the dialogue
with her husband and with her sisters. We will go into the dynamics of the
allocation of roles in greater detail when we examine the family dialogue
within the Goldstern family (cf. Chapter 6.1).

Where there is a constellation of one parent or grandparent who talks
about the past and one who remains silent, it becomes very apparent that the
fantasies and symptoms, that develop in the second and third generation, are
more closely linked to the past of the silent one than to that of the one who
talks about their experiences. Their descendants either use fantasies to fill in
the gaps of stories that are not told, or they put a great deal of energy into
denying the past that they can sense is there. Like the parts of the family his-
tory that are not discussed, the parts that are denied have an impact on the
biographer's own life history, too, without them being aware of it. In this re-
spect, it makes no initial difference whether the children and grandchildren
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are in Israel, in West Germany or in East Germany. Even Israel's future-
oriented society and the children's and grandchildren's orientation on the im-
age of the Sabra, who lives and fights to build Israel, cannot lessen the impact
of the past on the present. Rather, the children and grandchildren of survivors
in Israel - as Ronit Lentin (1996) puts it referring to second-generation
women - live in the tension between this image of the fighting and future ori-
ented Sabra and the shadow of the persecution in their parents' past. As the
sons and grandsons of the Goldstern and Stern families illustrate, male Is-
raelis are confronted with their own role as soldiers, unlike their second and
third generation counterparts in Germany. Particularly the war in Lebanon
and Israeli policy in the occupied territories have led to the sons, and even
more so the grandsons, of survivors asking themselves the painful question of
to what extent they themselves could become or have had to become "perpe-
trators". The extent to which they are preoccupied with questions pertaining
to their guilt and compare themselves to Nazis becomes apparent in both of
these families. In the case of the daughter in the Sneidler family, we see how,
as a woman, this orientation on the future is expressed in her life as a strong
orientation on success in her career.

The strong bond that the second generation feels to the generation of their
survivor-parents emerges very clearly in all five families. This is strikingly
manifest in the biographical self-presentations of the children's generation:
their own life history either virtually disappears behind the family history or is
textually linked to the persecution in their parents' past. Here, life stories of
the children of survivors differ considerably from members of the second
generation of forced emigrants (cf. Part 3), who have a tendency to present
their biographies as detached from their parents' biographies and family his-
tory. It becomes especially apparent in the fantasies and dreams of children
and grandchildren of survivors how close the persecution feels to them. These
often contain scenes where they are being persecuted themselves; they often
visualize themselves with their relatives in the ghettos, concentration and
death camps, or in other persecution situations. A phenomenon predominantly
observed in firstborn children of survivors is that of locating themselves in the
past and not being able to distinguish between past and present. In both the
Goldstern and Kubiak families, the younger son has managed to put some-
what more distance between himself and the persecution in his parents' past,
feels less rooted in this past himself and as a result can speak more freely
about it than the elder son. In this way the younger children resemble those
members of the third generation who are able to distance themselves some-
what from the persecution by confronting it verbally, as opposed to those who
act it out more through psychological or psychosomatic symptoms.

Members of the third generation also have a symbiotic attachment to their
parents. Thus, they are struggling for both greater autonomy from their par-
ents and for more distance to the persecution in their grandparents' past. In
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some cases, the grandchildren of survivors experience their parents in the
parenting role in relation to their grandparents and themselves in the parent-
ing role in relation to their parents. In other words, while the second genera-
tion "parent" the grandparents, they also have a tendency towards parentify-
ing their children by imposing the caretaking role on them. The difference,
that can be observed here between the second and third generation, is that
while the parents can hardly even complain about parenting the grandparents,
the grandchildren openly rebel against this role imposed on them by their
parents. While the grandchildren have grown up in a financially and socially
more sheltered milieu than their parents, and have more temporal distance
from the Shoah as well (cf. Bar-On 1995, p. 344), the family dynamics, in
which the grandparents' persecution plays a major role, are still quite complex
and difficult for them, too, as we will see below.
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5. Surviving together and living apart in Israel and West
Germany: The Genzor family

Gabriele Rosenthal, Petra Jordans and Bettina Volter

Three sisters who support each other through the persecution: Irina,
Sarah, and Tamara

Irina (born in 1924), Sarah (born in 1926) and Tamara (born in 1928)'® are
daughters of the orthodox Jewish family Genzor in Oradea, a town in north-
ern Transylvania. Oradea was the second largest Jewish community in Hun-
gary. In 1941, 21,337 Jews lived there, making up 22.9% of the population
(Encyclopedia 1995:1066). Until 1919/1920, Oradea belonged to Hungary.
Their father David Genzor served in the Austro-Hungarian army in World
War 1. After the war, Rumania annexed northern Transylvania and in 1940, it
was ceded to Hungary. After the Second World War, it became Rumanian
again. These changes of sovereignty influenced the course of the persecution
of the Genzors. The family of Viola, the mother, and her parents and sisters
with their families lived in Carpatho-Ukraine, a region which had also been
part of Austro-Hungary until 1919/1920 and then became part of Czechoslo-
vakia. In March 1939, it was annexed by Hungary. The massive persecution
of the Jewish population began in both these regions, when the Germans oc-
cupied Hungary in March 1944. The Genzor family was forced to move to the
Oradea ghetto, which housed some twenty thousand Jews until May of that
year. The entire family was sent to Auschwitz in June 1944, except for one
brother who was in a forced-labour camp. As soon as they arrived at the
Auschwitz ramp, the SS separated Irina, Sarah, and Tamara from their parents
and two younger siblings, Benjamin and Hannah. The three sisters survived
the persecution together, in the Auschwitz-Birkenau death camp, a sub-camp
of the Kaiserwald camp near Riga, and the Stutthof death camp near Danzig.

They and their older brother Jacob were the only members of the family
to survive the Holocaust. Their maternal grandparents and the families of
their aunts were killed in Eastern Galicia. Jacob is now dead. Irina lives in
West Germany, Sarah spends the winter in Israel and the summer months in
West Germany. Tamara lived in Israel and died in 1995.

18 Irina was interviewed in Germany twice by Gabriele Rosenthal and Bettina Voélter in Ger-
man. Bettina Voélter interviewed Sarah twice in 1994 in German in Israel. Tamara was
interviewed in Hebrew by Yael Moore in 1995 in Israel.
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History of the family before the deportation

In the period before they entered the ghetto in 1944, each sister experienced
the years of persecution differently. Their accounts of those years contradict
each other on many points. Irina's fragmented account of the family past and
her biography made it particularly hard to reconstruct the chronology. She
rarely talked about what happened in chronological order. The time before
she reached Auschwitz figured mainly as background information for the time
thereafter. The structure of the interview text reveals that the 'selection’ in
Auschwitz represented the 'threshold of the present' for Irina (cf. Fischer
1982), which divides the present from the past. While she talked more about
the time after she crossed this threshold, her sister Tamara spoke more about
the time before Auschwitz: "They took us to Auschwitz and that meant the
end of everything. That's what it is. That is my past, in Auschwitz when we
got out of the trains.” There are issues concerning the sisters' lives before
1944, that are very painful and have become taboo in their dialogue.

All three sisters pointed out that they each see the past differently. The
crucial differences have to do with their experiences in Auschwitz. Sarah be-
gan her interview with the comment that her memories differ from those of
her sisters, although they experienced the same thing in the concentration
camp. Tamara, the youngest sister, went so far as to say they could not all be
children of the same parents because their characters were so different.
Tamara is the one who repeatedly threatens the harmony among the three
sisters. She has a particularly bad relationship with the oldest, Irina.

The lives of the three sisters began to diverge in 1938, when the family
was divided for the first time. Their oldest brother moved to Bucharest to
learn a trade. The fourteen-year-old Irina went to visit her maternal grandpar-
ents in Carpatho-Ukraine in August 1938. While she was there, the border
between Slovakia and Rumania was closed.'” Irina, her grandparents, and the
families of her aunts and uncles were cut off from the Genzor family in Tran-
sylvania. Irina was only able to return to her parents two years later, after
Hungary seized both regions and the borders came down. The separation
from her parents also marked the premature end of Irit's schooling. But as her
detailed stories about those years showed, Irit, who had grown up with four
younger brothers and sisters, loved living with her grandparents and enjoyed
their attention.

Just as Irina returned to her family, the phase of intense persecution be-
gan. Irina scarcely talked about it in the interview. Her sisters told us that,
after she came home, the Hungarian authorities suspected her of being a spy.
She and her father were summoned to the secret police and interrogated. Then

19 The border between Slovakia and Rumania was closed in 1938 because of the Munich
Conference and the annexation of Bohemia and Moravia by Germany and the establish-
ment of an independent Slovak state, which collaborated with Nazi Germany.

46



the whole family was arrested and taken to prison in Budapest. A few days
later, the mother Viola and the five children were released from prison but
interned. The father was sent to a forced-labour camp. Irina also briefly men-
tioned this time in jail but said it was because their Hungarian citizenship was
not recognized and that their mother had the greatest difficulties because she
was from Carpatho-Ukraine. She said they were released after a few months
on the strength of a guarantee and went home to Oradea.

In Budapest, the mother felt overwhelmed without her husband and alone
with her three younger children. She put Tamara in an orphanage. For
Tamara, who was twelve at the time, this separation was one of the greatest
disappointments of her life. It featured much more prominently in the inter-
view than all the subsequent torments. The children in the orphanage were all
assigned foster-parents who took them home for the weekends. The elderly
childless Jewish couple, who looked after Tamara, gave her all their love.
Tamara likes to recall their outings and visits to the theatre. She spoke very
positively about those years. Tamara enjoyed being her foster-parents' only
child, just as Irina enjoyed being alone with her grandparents. Tamara said
she had always felt disadvantaged in her own family as one of the children in
the middle; her parents had never had much time for her. Tamara went back
to her family when she was sixteen in early 1944. It was painful to leave her
foster-parents. She assumes they did not survive the persecution. After the
liberation, she went to look for them but found their house in ruins.

The Genzor family was forced to move to the ghetto in the spring of
1944. The father had been released from a forced-labour camp in 1942. It is
not clear, how long the mother and the children spent in internment in Buda-
pest or when they went home to Oradea. The three sisters' accounts contradict
each other. Irina says they were released after just three months. We believe
that the time Tamara lived apart from the family is one of the themes that are
taboo in the sisters' dialogue with each other. Were they to talk about when
exactly their mother and the children left Budapest - whether it really was as
early as 1940 -, Tamara would probably feel even more acutely that she had
been abandoned by her family.

Contact with the mother's family was interrupted in 1941. The maternal
grandparents, aunts and their families were expelled from Carpatho-Ukraine
and sent to Stanislawow in Eastern Galicia. Entire communities were driven
out of Carpatho-Ukraine under the pretext that they were "alien nationals"
and were murdered by the SS in Eastern Galicia (cf. Encyclopedia 1993, p.
1420f). Irina talked at length about this part of the family, and everything she
heard after the war about their fate. She feels very attached to the grandpar-
ents and feels guilty about having left them in 1940.
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Surviving the death camps

In early June 1944, the Genzor family was deported to Auschwitz. From then
on, the three sisters were together until the liberation. They supported each
other and survived many dangerous situations and serious illnesses because
they helped each other. In this constellation, Irit took on the role of "mother"
and looked after her younger sisters. Sarah adopted the role of "the beauty" in
the sisterly triad. In the interview, she described Irina as "the clever one":
"We always listened to my big sister; what she said we accepted without
question." Tamara took on the role of the "little daughter". Sarah said: "With
the little sister I am like a mother with her daughter. We ((Sarah and Irina))
were the grown-ups and it's stayed that way ever since.” While Irina and
Sarah remained in close contact after the liberation, Tamara was always
somewhat more distanced. While Sarah continued to look after Tamara, the
contact between Irina and Tamara was not very close. Irina and Sarah both
told us several times that Tamara was not able to remember, what happened
properly, and mixed everything up because at the time, she was just a child.

During the time they spent together in the concentration camp, they may
well have had experiences that they would rather not talk about or would
rather conceal — especially the two older sisters. For all three, the separation
from the other members of their family at the ramp in Auschwitz marked the
"threshold of the present", which irrevocably separated them from their ear-
lier life. While many Polish Jews had witnessed killings by the German army
and then by the SS mobile killing units (Einsatzgruppen) since the very be-
ginning of the war and long before they themselves were sent to Auschwitz,
the three sisters had hardly seen anything comparable in Hungary. During
their weeks in the ghetto, they suffered hunger and the quarters were very
crowded, but nothing they had experienced until then prepared them for what
they would face after they arrived at Birkenau.

Irina talked about their arrival at the Auschwitz ramp: they saw a baby
torn away from its mother who was then savaged by dogs. Tamara said she
watched as a baby was thrown to the dogs and killed. Years later, she is still
plagued by nightmares in which dogs are set on her. In the interview, Sarah
recalled a scene at one of the first roll-calls in Birkenau. A child was taken
away from its mother; the mother tried to resist and was shot by an SS man.
This scene still haunts Sarah in her dreams: "It is so vivid (2) she (1) is crawl-
ing on her knees to her daughter she wants to go to where her daughter (1)
and they shoot her. I watched too closely, the woman, how she crawled to her
child"

Sarah hears the shot of the revolver and wakes up at once, before she
catches sight of the dead mother. The day after she told this story to the inter-
viewer, Sarah called her to say that the same night, after their meeting, she
dreamed the dream to the end: she saw the mother lying there dead and she
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felt relieved, that the woman could at long last meet her death in her dream.
Of the three sisters, only Sarah imagines what it is like to die in a gas cham-
ber, with the adults standing on the children to get more air. She said that she
and her sisters once had to clean the crematorium in Stutthof.

After a month in Auschwitz, the sisters were sent to Krottingen, a sub-
camp of the Kaiserwald concentration camp near Riga in Latvia. They
worked there in the military (Wehrmacht) uniform workshop. In the summer
of 1944, the Soviet Army was getting closer and the SS started to kill large
numbers of inmates and to send others away to other camps. In August, the
sisters arrived at the Stutthof concentration camp, where they suffered the
most. In the interview, Irina said again and again that Stutthof was even worse
than Auschwitz-Birkenau. A typhoid epidemic broke out that winter (cf.
Skutnik 1979, p. 14). She can still remember the piles of corpses. Irina re-
calls: "The gas chambers were broken in Stutthof and they piled up the
corpses behind the block like wood. The corpses were swollen and the pile
grew and stank.” Then a pyre was built and the corpses were burned.

In Stutthof, the three sisters again had to work for the German army
(Wehrmacht) in the uniform workshop. Male inmates with better jobs in the
camp used to buy sex from female inmates. Sarah was eighteen at the time,
she was given presents and was expected to offer something in return. She
says she always managed to avoid fulfilling such demands and left the camp a
virgin.

The theme of prostitution and sexual violence in the camps recurred
throughout the interviews with the three sisters. They also talked repeatedly
about one of the most cruel of the female guards, who was in love with Sarah
and for whom Sarah worked as a maid. Sarah's job meant improved living
conditions for all three sisters. Sarah said she was frightened of the guard's
sexual wishes and stressed that most of the female guards were lesbians.
Sarah also talked about a brothel in which female inmates were forced to
submit to sex with German Wehrmacht soldiers. In her account, Irina focused
more on the male prisoners who offered food in exchange for sex. Irina said
Sarah was "an attractive young girl and she was very skilled she kept every-
thing clean there ((in the home of the SS guard))."” Irina also said she helped
Sarah maintain her appearance and make the most of her beauty. Irina saw it
as a way to get gifts from male prisoners. She saw herself in the role of
mother, as the following slip of the tongue made clear: "And my daughter, my
daughter- oh, my sister”. Irina wanted to tell us about Sarah's success and
thereby unintentionally indicated that she too attracted men's attention: "After
a while one of these engineers approached me and slipped her something."
Irina said that both she and Sarah were so naive back then and thought: "My
god, he wants to put his arms around you or kiss you and for that you can
make a little sacrifice to survive."
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Irina talked repeatedly about the sexual demands of the prisoners in the camp.
She made a point of stating explicitly, however, that she could not have imag-
ined having a sexual relationship there. Irina is also the one sister who men-
tioned Soviet soldiers raping women survivors after the liberation. But here
too, we could not establish whether she or either of her sisters was actually
raped. In their interviews, Sarah and Irina hinted that their younger sister
Tamara improved their living conditions for a while through prostitution.
While Tamara did not address the issue, her daughter Viola® did. When the
interviewer asked, if her mother had told her herself, Viola answered that
Tamara had always approached the issue by telling stories about other women
in the camp, never about herself. Tamara was at any rate the one who was
always able to "organize" some food. Once, a German army officer saw
Tamara slip Irina something to eat and threw a piece of wood at Irina. It hit
her in the face and injured her. She has suffered from severe headaches ever
since. It was not until the mid-seventies, that an X-ray revealed a splinter of
bone, which was then surgically removed.

Sarah became ill with tuberculosis in Stutthof, and the lymph glands on
her neck swelled up. She was operated on without anaesthetic. She said the
doctors tortured her by cutting open the same swelling again and again in
order to find out how long she could endure the excruciating pain. Tamara
mentioned that injections were given in Stutthof and talked about being
beaten. Once, a female Kapo beat her twenty-five times with a stick on the
back, because she had shifted from one leg to the other at a roll-call because
of the cold.

Stutthof was evacuated in mid-February 1945. It was the middle of win-
ter, and the inmates were forced to march towards the west. Many died on the
way. The sisters were liberated by the Soviet Army on March 13 1945. Irina
and Sarah contracted typhoid and after several weeks in hospital, they set off
on foot and then by train for Oradea. Of the 35,000 Jews who had been de-
ported from their hometown, 5000 came back (Rosh/Jackel 1990, p. 178).
Oradea became a gathering point after the war for returning Hungarian and
Rumanian Jews. In 1947, 8000 Jews lived in Oradea, and in 1976 there were
820 (Encyclopedia 1995, p. 1068).

Founding new families after the liberation®'
A new period began for the three sisters now, a period of waiting and hoping

for other members of the family to return, but most of those, who had sur-
vived the Shoah, were younger relatives or friends.

20 Viola was interviewed in Hebrew by Yael Moore in 1995.
21 Between 1993 and 1996, we interviewed all the members of the second generation, Irina's
two granddaughters, and Sarah's oldest granddaughter.
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Soon after their return to Oradea, Sarah and Tamara married men they al-
ready knew before they were sent to the concentration camp. Irina married a
man from Transylvania in 1947. All three husbands had been in forced-labour
camps during the war.

1947 saw the birth of Irina's daughter Miriam and Sarah's son Karl-
David, who was named after his murdered grandfather. Sarah did not feel
strong enough to have another child. And it was Irina's husband who did not
want to have any more children after Miriam. Tamara had two children:
David, who was born in 1951, and Viola, born in 1954. Both were named
after murdered grandparents. Tamara very much wanted to have children,
even though doctors had warned her that a pregnancy might kill her. Between
the liberation and her emigration to Israel in 1964, Tamara was almost per-
manently very ill and spent long periods in hospital because of her lung dis-
ease. After the birth of her daughter, Tamara felt so overwhelmed because of
her illness, that her son went to live with his father's parents when he was two.
He stayed with them until he was six. So David spent a large part of his child-
hood away from his parents, just as his mother had been apart from hers. He
too still struggles with the feeling of having been abandoned. His sister Viola
also felt neglected by her parents. She said they were always working: "We
didn't have any parents."”

The three families applied repeatedly to the government over a number of
years for permission to leave Rumania. Sarah and Tamara finally left for Is-
rael with their families in 1964. Irina and her family emigrated the year after
to West Germany. After a few years, Sarah and her husband also decided to
move to Germany, since the Israeli climate did not agree with her. Their son
Karl-David was in the army at the time and wanted to stay in Israel. At the
request of his mother, however, he agreed to come to Germany for five years,
where he completed high school and attended university. The relationship
between mother and son is close. For Sarah, Karl-David is "the most impor-
tant person in my life.” While serving in the Israeli army, Karl-David met the
woman who was soon to become his wife. They married young, she came
with him to Germany for the five years that he had promised his mother he
would spend there. Their daughter Naomi was born in Germany in 1971.
When his father suffered a heart attack and was forced to work less, Karl-
David broke off his studies to help run the family restaurant. But when the
five years were over, he and his family returned to Israel. His parents re-
mained in Germany until they retired. Now they spend the winter in Israel and
a few months in the summer in Germany. Back in Israel, Karl-David and his
wife had another daughter and a son.

At Sarah's urging, Tamara and her family also moved to Germany in
1973. Tamara and her husband, their son David, their daughter Viola, and
Viola's husband all worked in Sarah's restaurant. After two years, they re-
turned to Israel. David has two daughters, Viola has two daughters and a son.
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Living in the land of the perpetrators: Irina and the family of her
daughter Miriam Svoboda

Irina: "The seduction”

Let us consider Irina's experiences and her family biography.** The separation
from her family in Auschwitz marked for Irina the break between the past and
the present. What this means for Irina became clear in the very first minutes
of the interview.

It began with a dialogue about the interviewers' research. Irina said she
could understand the Germans' enthusiasm for the Nazis. She drew parallels
between Nazi sympathizers and herself, arguing that the masses can be se-
duced: "I have experienced it myself how the mass can be seduced, and I was
terribly upset at myself (2)." The story she then proceeded to tell explains
why she accuses herself of being susceptible to seduction.

Irina began talking about her arrival in Auschwitz-Birkenau in the sum-
mer of 1944 with a lengthy narration of the "selection procedure" at the ramp.
What she related was a "seduction" by Mengele, the Nazi physician who de-
cided who would live (temporarily) and who will die:

"I had an experience with Mengele. I didn't know that it was Mengele,
so I hadn't noticed when-, because we had to line up in rows five abreast.
And we were four girls and my mother I was the oldest on the one side and
my mother on the other side. There was a dashing officer standing there with
his little whip in his hand (1) and he even spoke to me. Although it was so hot
and we weren't allowed to take anything with us, but we took only our best
things with us from the ghetto because, we weren't allowed to take every-
thing. And I still had a flannel costume on, and on top of the flannel costume
a trench coat. And in the ghetto one wasn't allowed to, one wasn't allowed to
have long hair. My father was very proud of his daughters, and I was the
only one who was dark, all my three, other sisters were blond. We made
plaits and we put the plaits up, and I had a red silk scarf and they were,
somehow, tied up in it, and despite the five days, in cattle cars we still had, at
twenty you look young. Youth makes you beautiful. Really you can be as ugly
as anything, (as long as) you are young. And this officer spoke to me, he
said: "Why are you looking at me so angrily?', and I said: 'l have no reason
to be feel pleased', and with that I was past- yes, and he said: 'You could be a
little friendlier' (1) and with that we were past him. And then I look round
quickly and my, my mother and my little sister aren't there, she was twelve
years old, she looked like my Ingrid, like my young, youngest granddaughter

22 For a detailed case study, cf. Jordans 1996.
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in the face, she has different features but similar, but so blond, such long
yellow plaits. There were helpers there at the ramp in these striped outfits we
thought we're in a mad house we didn't know, we came from civilization, and
he said: "For goodness' sake why weren't you a bit more friendly you don't
know who that was', I say: "And I'm not interested either' and he says: "But
that was Mengele' (1) but the name didn't mean anything to me. (1) So, that
was my Mengele experience, afterwards it, I can-, I wouldn't be able to rec-
ognize him today I can only remember there was a good-looking (1) officer
such a dashing (1) man, and, (1) the next day we were registered by name
(2 ”

Let us try to reconstruct what happened in that situation at that moment. Dur-
ing the incredibly fast "selection procedure" on the ramp at Auschwitz-
Birkenau, Mengele addressed Irina. She reacted boldly, unaware that her life
was at stake. But it all happened so quickly that she did not notice that her
mother and youngest sister were separated from herself and the two other
sisters. She could only have realized afterwards what the separation meant —
that her mother and the twelve year old Hannah were most probably killed
immediately in the gas chamber. If we detach Irina's story from the context of
Auschwitz for a moment, we could view it as follows: a young and dashing
officer addresses a young and well-dressed woman, who is still looking fresh
despite a long and arduous journey. The young woman responds with a pert
remark. How should we interpret the differences between the experienced
situation and Irina's presentation of it? First, Irina's narration not only makes
clear, that her appearance was very important to her but also that she survived
because of her looks. Perhaps concentrating on her appearance helped Irina
feel she had some control over her fate, that she could deploy her looks to
improve her chances of survival. The narration focuses on the fact that Irina
did not appreciate Mengele's importance, which is an indirect indication of
Irina's feelings of guilt. She reproaches herself for not perceiving how dan-
gerous the situation was. Afterwards, Irina could not face the thought that her
mother had been killed. She spoke differently, however, about her father.
Asked again about what happened at the "selection procedure", she said her
father went voluntarily with her younger brother to the left. She was sure her
father had died then, but in Stutthof she was always looking for signs that her
mother was still alive. She would often reassure her sisters that their mother
had come on another transport.

"The experience with Mengele", as Irina refers to the "selection proce-
dure" in Auschwitz, was so painful that she cannot visualize her mother in the
situation following their separation. Asked if she had a mental image of her
mother at the "selection procedure", she answered: "Don't have one, don't
have one (1) it is such a terrible thing that I don't have any because, as I said
he spoke to me (2) I answered and we moved on." Irina explained what the
separation meant for her:
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"I always have the feeling they amputated me (1) as if something had been
cut off (1) like an amputation. Suddenly (1) there were just three of us (3) It
was as if, as if one had had a hand chopped off, so that I don't have any any
memory. I don't know how she, how she went le-, eh, left. I don't know what
kind of a face she made. I have absolutely no-, it is such a terribly painful
thing that he, distracted me (3) that I, I I don't know, it isn't, it isn't there."

Irina has never allowed herself to picture her mother's death. Someone she
knew, who worked in the crematorium, told her exactly "how it happens", but
she could never imagine her mother in that situation: "I know how the people
were killed, but I never connect that to my mother. That is probably too, too
painful for me that I (2) that you bring it up now, now I realize that I have
never imagined it, in my mind's eye, because probably it is too painful to be
able to picture that at all.” Trina goes on to say that after the liberation it took
her a long time to accept the fact that her mother had been murdered.

Back in Oradea, Irina, then twenty-one, got to know her future husband
Miron Kovacs, who had survived the war in a forced-labour camp. Miron's
first wife and three-year-old son had been killed in Auschwitz. Miron was
twenty-two years older than Irina and had a doctorate in law. He came from a
prosperous family and had converted to Catholicism in the thirties in order to
elude the anti-Jewish measures. Irina was happy to cede to her husband some
of the parental role she had adopted toward her sisters: "A¢ last I could give
up being grown-up and could be a child. My sisters were provided for and I
just fell in love with this man."

Irina and Miron's daughter Miriam was born in 1947. They lived in
Communist Rumania until, after applying many times for permission to emi-
grate, they were allowed to leave for Germany in 1965. Miron could not qual-
ify to practise as a lawyer in Germany and worked as an assistant in a law
practice. He died in 1981 at the age of 79.

Miriam: "I have always been a stand-in for someone else"

Miriam™, who was born in 1947, has a doctorate in musicology and lives with
her non-Jewish husband Achim Svoboda and their three daughters in Ger-
many. Miriam concentrated on her roles as mother and homemaker until a
few years ago. Now she is again undertaking small research projects.

The way Miriam feels about her life has been determined by the delega-
tion imposed by her family history. It is an assignment that she has accepted:
to live as a proxy for others, for those who were killed. She exemplifies what
Dina Wardi has described as members of the second generation adopting the
role of "memorial candle": "Not only must they fill an enormous emotional
void, but they must also construct the continuation of the entire family history

23 Miriam was interviewed twice by Gabriele Rosenthal in 1993.
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all by themselves, and thus create a hidden connection with the objects that
perished in the Holocaust (Wardi 1992, p. 27)."

Miriam's entire biographical self-presentation is marked by her difficulty
in separating her own life from her family history. She depicts a life in the
shadows cast by her murdered relatives. Her own projects, as a musicologist
and mother of three teenage daughters, find scant mention in Miriam's life

story.

Miriam's life in the shadow of the Shoah

When Miriam was asked to recount her family history and her own life story,
she made clear from the start that she cannot separate the two: "I is not easy
for me to separate them from each other because I never knew any of my
grandparents.” The interweaving of her own life and the family history was
evident throughout the interview. Having stated that her grandparents are part
of her life story, because she only knows them through stories her parents told
her, she concluded that that is the reason why she "inevitably swings back and
Jforth". After presenting an outline of the family history and the childhood and
youth of her mother, Miriam ended with a brief account of her father's profes-
sional career. So far, she had not said anything about her parents' experiences
in the war or their persecution. Instead she asked the interviewer to ask her
some more questions since "nothing more comes to mind at the moment."
Breaking off in this way can probably be interpreted as a manifestation of
how hard she finds it to see her parents' life before the war, their suffering
during the war, and her own life as connected, as a continuum. When the in-
terviewer asked Miriam to recount her life story, she answered that it too "in-
directly had to do with the prehistory”. She first talked about how her parents
met after the war and mentioned that her father lost his first wife and three-
year-old son in Auschwitz. She said her father could never really get over the
loss of his first family and never overcame his grief at the death of his son
"whom he probably loved with all his heart”. Miriam ended the sequence
about the "prehistory"” by saying her father had driven his first wife and son to
the ghetto himself before he went off to a forced-labour camp. Although his
wife had a visa for the United States, she wanted to remain with her family in
the ghetto.

Miriam's own life is overshadowed by this prehistory, the central element
of which is the killing of her father's first family. The family biographical
constellation is such that Miriam was only born because her father's first fam-
ily was killed. This becomes clear in the textual structure of Miriam's account
of her own life. Miriam began her biography with a "family anecdote", which
she had heard from both her father and her mother and which is still part of
the repertoire of stories told within the family dialogue: When she had just
been born and her father looked at her for the first time, he cried out: "4 girl
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and ugly to boot!" This story, the first she told us about her own life, reveals
more than just her father's wish for a son. It was often told within the family,
continually reminding Miriam that she could never replace the son her father
had lost. Miriam was thus condemned to fail, like many other children born
after the war to parents who had lost a child in the Shoah (Kestenberg 1982,
p. 95).

Miriam presented a lot of evidence to suggest that her childhood and
youth had been quite normal. She argued that there were many children in
Rumania who had had it much worse than she had; that the grown-ups' stories
about the concentration camps had not upset her; for her it was a part of eve-
ryday life to see the grown-ups sitting together "talking about the camp": "l
can remember often falling asleep as a child on the couch or sitting in the
armchair and I always heard them, again and again, the same stories and
about my mother's parents, the phrase was always 'stayed in camp'".

She also said that her Jewish background was not a problem for her, since
the family did not celebrate religious festivals or observe Jewish customs.
This account of an untroubled childhood was interrupted - despite Miriam's
best efforts - when the issue of her "own suffering because of the past" sur-
faced. But since she does not believe she has the right to suffer - in light of or
in the shadow of the children who were killed -, she cannot give voice to her
own suffering because of the past by talking of what she herself has gone
through. Instead she talked about suffering in her dreams. In dreams that have
recurred since her childhood, she is with her parents and they are being pur-
sued; they try to run away. The predominant feeling is anxiety. Miriam distin-
guished this anxiety from other kinds of anxiety; she called it a "we-anxiety"
and not her own personal fear. Miriam feels so wrapped up in her parents'
years of persecution that they have become the setting of her own dreams.
Miriam has become part of that time and herself feels her family's fears.

After talking about these dreams Miriam immediately made light of her
pain and said being Jewish had not been a problem for her as a child:

"Of course there were many children who had it much worse than I did, 1
never suffered because of that, never, suffered I can't remember that. And
that I heard the stories from the camps, again and again, that didn't make me
suffer either. For me it was normal, I ((amusedly)) grew up with it (2). The
only bad thing was when I dreamed, about these things, and the dreams
were, I can remember quite vividly they were very, real and I was always in
the midst of it all I didn't dream my parents were being pursued or in jeop-
ardy, instead, I was always in the midst of what was happening, right in it (3)
eh (2) being Jewish or not was as a child not a problem (4)".

She did not allow herself to have problems or to be a cause of worry for her
parents, even as a child. She said as much during a joint interview with
Miriam and her mother conducted by Gabriele Rosenthal and Bettina Volter
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in 1995: "I always really had the feeling that it was my highest duty not to
anger my parents to do everything just the way they wanted me to, just to be
a joy for them." Traces of the frustration this role involved and of suppressed
aggression toward her mother could be discerned during the interview. The
mother and daughter gave voice to their own pain, but they hardly addressed
each other. At the same time, they declared that they have a "really good re-
lationship". Irina talked about having been humiliated and dehumanized.
Miriam said she feels she has had to adopt the role of her parents' protector.
The interviewers tried to encourage the mother and the daughter to address
each other directly. When asked how she felt when she hears her daughter say
she feels she has to protect her, Irina answered firmly, almost aggressively: "/
do not need protecting”. She brushed aside the interviewer's request that she
say that to her daughter directly: "I never said she should protect me". Irina
interpreted her daughter's behaviour as a result of her husband's traumatiza-
tion. Then she cried and said she had desperately wanted another child but her
husband pleaded with her: "I don't want any more children, I can't bear the
feeling of losing a child any longer". She said her husband oppressed their
daughter "with his excessive love, assailed her with his love, overwhelmed
her; this love was egoistic and she felt that, because he was so frightened, it
wasn't normal, he couldn't bear the feeling he might lose another child.”

When asked by the interviewers to talk about what they wished for in
their relationship, the mother and daughter made clear that they wanted closer
contact to each other. At the same time, they remained distant from one an-
other. Miriam said she wished she could talk to her mother sometimes about
her own problems and worries instead of keeping quiet about them out of
consideration. Irina for her part said she was hurt sometimes by her daughter's
reticence. There were indications in the dialogue, that the problems Miriam
refrains from talking about have to do with her husband, and that Miriam is
caught in a conflict between loyalty to him and loyalty to her mother. Miriam
would like her mother to visit her more often. But Irina wants to lead her own
life. Then Irina mentioned that she lost her mother when she was twenty. Both
said they can each feel the other's affection and do not need any outward signs
of affection such as embraces. Miriam stated: "In our family in general it's
not done to hug each other all the time or give each other a kiss, to hug when
we say goodbye". Her mother added: "I don't need the proof, anyone to touch
me".

Miriam's internalized objects
Talking about her cousin Ibi, who was killed in the Shoah, Miriam said, "/
have always been a stand-in for someone else". 1bi was the daughter of her

father's sister. She was taken away on a transport when she was eighteen and
"stayed in the camp". As a young child, Miriam was called Ibi. It was only at
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school that she learned that the name on her birth certificate was Miriam.
Looking back, she said it was a burdensome role that had been imposed on
her: "I was always the (1) stand-in for someone else and I think it was like
that for many after the war, that in some way they had to make good for the
children 'who stayed in camp'”. Miriam speaks of "making good" to express
that she feels she was forced to endure something very unpleasant. For which
elements of the family history does she feel she has to ‘make good'? Does she
also feel aggression from her parents? Miriam continued:

"Had to, that sounds harsh perhaps. It wasn't meant like that at all on
the part of the older generation but I do think that the other children like me
certainly felt it. And probably learned in this way either, eh, positively or
negatively or either in terms of an identification with this, delegation, or in
opposition to it."

Many passages in the interview confirm just how much Miriam identifies with
this delegation and accepted the assignment to live on behalf of, to stand-in
for, the dead - and not only for her dead cousin Ibi. Even more crucially, she
has had to stand in for her father's murdered son and for her mother's mur-
dered mother. Miriam feels that her grandmother is a part of her: "The mother
of my mother eh (4) lives in me as eh as a- (2)". Miriam hunted for the right
term: as what does she live in her? Miriam was trying to express that she has
internalized her mother's mother as an object, but that it has remained inde-
terminate. She continued: "as a set of attributes (2) that I somehow tried to
emulate, probably to make my mother happy".

We can interpret that statement as follows: Miriam internalized the
mother of her mother as an unknown object and accepted the delegation to
keep this object alive by trying to emulate the set of her attributes.”* But
Miriam cannot fulfil her mother's expectations by adopting her grandmother’s
qualities. How could a daughter succeed in replacing her mother's mother?
For Irina, delegating her daughter to replace her mother was probably also
linked to Irina's wish to resolve conflicts with her (cf. Wardi 1992, p. 32).
Miriam, like any other member of the second or third generation, has no
choice but to fail in such an assignment.” After the statement quoted above,
Miriam added that her mother rebukes her regularly for working too much
and for not letting her daughters help her. Miriam said she resembles her
grandmother in this respect: "Now [ realize that I still try to verify in my fam-
ily a lot of what my mother told me, respectfully and with love, about her
mother.” What is it she wants to "verify” in her mother's reports? Does

24 Cf. Kestenberg (1989) and Danieli (1993) on the internalization of murdered relatives in
the second generation.

25 The dynamic between a daughter and a survivor mother, who has lost her own mother, is
defined to a significant extent by the mother's feelings of guilt towards her mother and her
anger at having been abandoned by her (cf. Wardi 1992, p. 40ff.).
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Miriam have doubts about what her mother told her, and does she try to
counter these doubts by living in a certain way with her own family, with her
husband and their daughters?

Miriam's stories about her mother's separation from her mother in
Auschwitz also reveal, that Miriam cannot accept that her grandmother really
died in the gas chamber:

"The younger brother and the youngest child a girl were driven, to the
side, at once by Mengele (2), the ones who were to go to the gas chamber.
My mother never saw her mother again after that. But how specifically the
grandparents, were killed, I don't know and as far as I know my parents don't
know that, didn't know that either."”

Miriam talked as if her grandmother had not been sent to the gas chamber like
the two youngest children. When asked about her mother's youngest sister,
she said: "She ((Miriam's mother)) always talked about how, the little one,
how Hannahle stood there and held tight to her mother (3) Since then, they
never saw each other again (6) but as I said, exactly when and how they were
killed (3) that I don't know."”

Miriam has a vivid fantasy image of the "selection procedure": "as if
from a cinematic perspective, from up on high, with my mother and her fam-
ily around her". She talked of a blurred image, could vaguely make out the
faces of her grandfather and Hanna, with her blond plaits, and her mother's
brother, but she cannot see her grandmother at all.

Miriam's Life Story: Being Jewish and living in the land of the perpetrators

Miriam grew up in Rumania in a Hungarian-speaking environment. She spoke
only Hungarian, at home and in kindergarten, until she started school. Most of
the main figures in her life were relatives of her mother. The only other child,
with whom she had much contact, was her cousin Karl-David, Sarah's son,
who was the same age as her. Miriam was first confronted with the world
outside the family when she started school at the age of six. She had to learn
Rumanian. It was a challenging constellation, but one that also offered
Miriam the opportunity of socialization outside the family. Miriam became a
member of the pioneers (a socialist youth organization) and was successful at
school, almost always among the best in the class. When she was fourteen,
she went to a high school specializing in music and the arts. Miriam had not
quite finished school, when in 1965 the family finally received permission to
leave the country. Her two aunts and their families had left for Israel the year
before. Looking back, Miriam says she understands cognitively why her par-
ents wanted to emigrate, but that emotionally it was very hard for her to leave.
They moved to Germany, and Miriam went to a special boarding school to
learn the language. She only spent the weekends with her parents. Miriam was
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eighteen when she left home, the age at which her cousin Ibi was "deported"
and never came back.

Emigration marked a radical biographical turning point in Miriam's life —
she lost her language, country and much of her family. She was separated
from her aunts and their families, including her cousin Karl-David, who was
like a brother to her. Miriam has never been to Israel to visit her relatives.
When the interviewer asked her about this, Miriam said she had never even
thought of telling her husband about her long-standing wish to visit Israel.
From the family in Isracl we know that they are very disappointed at what
they see as ignorance about Israel and being Jewish. Karl-David said this was
further proof that Jews should not live in Germany. This turning point in
Miriam's life — moving to Germany when she was eighteen — involved above
all switching to a non-Jewish German environment. She met her future hus-
band Achim at the school where she learned German. They were both on a
special course for young ethnic German immigrants from Eastern Europe to
complete the German high school diploma. They then both went to university
and lived together for several years. Miriam completed her doctorate but
withdrew from professional life when their first daughter was born in 1975.
She said she also stopped making music at that time. In her late thirties, when
her third daughter started kindergarten, she began to work again, to undertake
research projects, and to play music.

Since she was eighteen, Miriam has lived with a man whose parents were
active in Nazi organizations until 1945. Achim Svoboda® calls himself a
Sudeten German. He was born in 1944, before the end of the war, and spent
his childhood and youth in Czechoslovakia. He emigrated to Germany with
his mother in 1965. His father died of a heart attack in 1958, a year after he
was released from prison, suffering from tuberculosis, after having served ten
years. The court file?” on his trial in 1947 says he was convicted of "support-
ing and propagating the National Socialist movement". He was charged with
membership in diverse "fascist organizations". He had been the director of a
clinic. A further charge was denouncing a Czech resistance fighter, who was
then taken away by the Gestapo. Achim's mother, since deceased, was also
active in the Nazi women's organization.

Achim's childhood was overshadowed by the imprisonment of his father
or rather by his absence, which was not explained to Achim for a long time.
Achim said a neighbour told him that his father was in prison, when Achim
was five and his father had been gone for two or three years. Until then, his
mother had always said his father was "on holiday”. Achim can only remem-
ber visiting his father in prison two or three times. His relationship to his fa-
ther was based almost entirely on projections and hardly at all on time they

26 Bettina Volker interviewed Achim Svoboda twice in 1993.
27 This information comes from archival sources.
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had spent together.”® He formed a very close bond to his mother. Achim's
feelings about his father are still ambivalent even today — as the following
story indicates: shortly after Achim started school, he found a suitcase in the
attic at home. In it was a Nazi badge (perhaps the party emblem) and his fa-
ther's Nazi party membership book. Achim was shocked by this discovery and
felt "pain and anger"”. Achim says today: "It wasn't the finest of things but I
could relativize it." At school, he had been told that all Germans were Nazis
and criminals. And now, suddenly, his father belonged to that category. The
issue was not mentioned within the family. Achim's mother had no sympathy
for his moral doubts. He said in the interview, that his mother had also been
"duped by Nazi propaganda”. At the time, Achim needed to "relativize it".
For Achim, these "relativizations" are still valid today: he says his father
could only pursue his career as a civil servant as a member of the Nazi party.
He claims he was not guilty of any serious crimes. After his father died,
Achim found the arraignment document. He still has it. He said his father was
condemned for being a member of the NSDAP and for handing over "radio-
active material to the German Wehrmacht". He did not mention the charge of
denunciation. He did, however, talk about persecuted individuals, whom
friends told him his father allowed to hide in his hospital.

Achim said the first years at university in West Germany were the worst
time of his life. He was confronted with the '68 student movement. He was
called a "fascist” and a "reactionary” by other students who "raved about
Communism with gleaming eyes" and were busy accusing their fathers of
having been Nazis. He was frightened Communism could "break out" in
Germany. "I had the impression we should have our packed suitcases ready
in the corner”, he said, invoking a metaphor that is commonly used by Jewish
families in Germany. Below, we shall show that he draws many parallels be-
tween his own biography and the Nazi persecution of the Jews.

What does Miriam's marriage mean to her?

In the course of her biographical self-presentation in the interview, Miriam
talked about her husband within the thematic field of "my being Jewish". The
story about her husband is one of three stories she told during the main narra-
tion. The rest was made up of arguments, reports or descriptions concerning
her family history and life history. The three stories all have to do with being
Jewish.

The first story she told is about a girl she knew who was given a bad
grade because she did not come to school on Yom Kippur. The injustice of it
troubled Miriam a lot. She complained to the school director who then

28 The central importance in his biography of a childhood without a father is something
Achim shares with many of his generation whose fathers were prisoners of war (cf. Mi-
chael Liebig in Chapter 4.3).

61



awarded the girl the grade she deserved. Miriam said: "That was the first time
that I felt Jewish." This story was one of the few passages in the interview in
which Miriam presented herself as an autonomous agent. She acted to counter
an anti-Semitic act in the non-Jewish world around her that had to do with
Yom Kippur, a day on which Jews remember their dead. Although she at first
stated firmly that she had not been brought up religious and that in line with
Socialist ideology she had seen Judaism merely as a religion, she recounted
this situation in which she defended another Jewish girl, whose problem had
to do with a Jewish holy day and in which she, Miriam, felt Jewish for the
first time.

The second story was about how she met her future husband. Early in
their relationship, Miriam told Achim, after they had been to the cinema one
evening, that she was Jewish:

"[ felt the need to tell him that I am Jewish, he said he knew that (2)
probably because I had never made a secret of it and (3) told stories about
my parents and so on, and with that the issue was closed. It was never an
issue again (6)."

Like the first story, the second is also about being Jewish. With the sentence,
"The issue was closed", Miriam made very clear what being Jewish and her
marriage to a non-Jew mean to her. Miriam said explicitly that her back-
ground was not an issue in her dialogue with Achim. Since the start of their
relationship "the issue was closed”. In line with that, they did not address the
theme of their very different family pasts. The couple concentrated more on
something that had affected them both - suffering under a socialist regime:

"Interestingly it was more the case that our experiences under Commu-
nism (2) were more important. That occupied us more than membership in
some people or religion. It was more central for us to (1) we had many more
conversations about, eh, various incidents, with eh, the harassment, there
were under Communist rule, that was also probably a common denomina-
tor."

The third story Miriam told us was also about being a Jew. An old man on his
death bed calls for the rabbi, because he wants to be recognized as a Jew and
be buried in the Jewish cemetery. The rabbi comes and he asks the old man,
why he had never made himself known to the Jewish community before. The
old man answered: "I never wanted to be on a list again”. Miriam ends the
story by saying, "And I think my reasons are similar".

All three stories are about Miriam's being Jewish. In the first story, she
revealed that she was Jewish; in the second, being Jewish was no longer an
issue when she met her future husband; and in the third, she explains why she
does not want to belong to the Jewish Community. By marrying a non-Jewish
German, Miriam entered a family with an entirely different background. It is
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striking in her biographical self-presentation that after the story about how
she told her husband about her Jewish ancestry, she jumped over all the years
of her marriage and started to talk about the present. She ended her main nar-
ration by talking at length about how she and her husband have a very small
circle of friends. She ended her life story in 1965 and did not talk about either
her career or her children. The interviewer asked repeatedly about her life
after 1965 and her career, but Miriam still did not tell any stories. When
asked about her years at university, she said she had "spent all those years in
a kind of chrysalis state.” She said again that she had few contacts outside her
marriage and ended as follows: "That is probably why I don't have any
memories, or no real memories of my school years or student years, because
I really only started to live my life much later, to be precise in my mid-
thirties."

The supportive marriage system

In order to understand the significance of her marriage to Achim, let us see
how he deals with their very different family histories. Achim is one of those
who through a strategy of pseudo-identification with the victims appear to
adopt their perspective and thereby avoid dealing with the perpetrators. He
presents his family history and his own life as the story of victims of Stalin-
ism. He draws parallels between the Nazi persecution of the Jews and the
persecution of ethnic Germans in Czechoslovakia after 1945. When the inter-
viewer asked how it felt to have married a woman, both of whose parents had
been in a concentration camp, he answered: "Of course I can understand it
quite well, because in a certain sense I also experienced it myself and I can
put myself'in their shoes quite well."

He said his mother-in-law talked about it a lot and that a "certain wave of
satiation had been reached and one has the feeling it's time to roll down the
shutters". His answer to the question of what he knew about the past of his
parents-in-law reveals even more clearly, that he refuses to appreciate their
perspective and draws parallels between his own family history and that of his
wife. He mentioned the restrictions on travel that had been in force in the
socialist states: "I grew up in a situation like that, in an enormous concentra-
tion camp and you weren't allowed to get out. Basically we only heard about
other regions and countries in school."

By equating the two situations, Achim can avoid addressing issues about
his own family's past and possible accusations of being implicated in the Nazi
system. The background to this is his own experience of persecution as a
German in a European socialist country after 1945.
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We have seen in other families already that focusing on cruel treatment under
a Communist regime in Eastern Europe after 1945 has been used as a means
to avoid facing possible guilt for crimes before 1945. It is a typical strategy
adopted in the former socialist countries for dealing with the Nazi past.”

As art of his repair strategy, Achim attempts to displace guilt on to
Miriam's family. That became clear in an interview that Gabriele Rosenthal
and Bettina Volter conducted with Achim and Miriam in 1994, when he
openly attacked his wife and her parents. He accused his mother-in-law of
being too demanding during her visits and talking too much about having
been persecuted. He was also outraged that in the family Miriam was called
Ibi, which was the name of Miriam's cousin who was killed. He was most
aggressive in attacking his late father-in-law. Asked if there were any unan-
swered questions in the past of his wife's family, he said: "Yes, there is one
point I would have liked to ask your father about. There were times when he
so-to-speak left his family in the lurch - his first wife and his son. It was a
murky story why they were separated and the wife and child disappeared in
the concentration camp and he remained alive."

One might have expected Miriam to react with anger to such an implicit
accusation. But when her husband left the room to answer the telephone, she
told the interviewer that Achim projected the anger he felt toward his own
father onto her father. When Achim came back, Miriam told the story: her
father was in a forced-labour camp and his wife wanted to be taken to the
ghetto to be with her family. She relativized this account by adding, "At least
that is what I was told" and "that's the way I know the story”. Her husband
pressed home his accusation: "I never understood that, it contradicts any
rational logic"”. Miriam corrected him: "any retrospective rational logic".
Then Achim turned his aggression against Miriam: "That reminds me of the
misunderstanding we had today". This "misunderstanding"” had been thema-
tized in the first half of the interview. Achim had accused his wife of coming
late to an appointment. Whenever Achim attacked Miriam during the inter-
view, she more or less accepted his charges. This time she said: "Could be.
But it could also be that I am now trying to defend my father.” But in a firm
voice she carried on: "But I don't think one could judge from his perspective
at the time what a ghetto really was and what it wasn't."

To view this exchange simply as an attack by Achim on his wife and her par-
ents would be to overlook the function Achim's accusations have for Miriam.
We propose that Achim asks the questions that Miriam does not dare to ask
herself. Achim is the one who expresses the aggression towards her parents

29 In the case study of a Russian family, the grandmother's collaboration with the Nazis was
clearly offset and excused by her subsequent banishment after 1945. The second and third
generation talked about the grandmother's life without mentioning her active role in both
the Nazi system and the Soviet system. They presented her only as a victim. A similar ten-
dency was observed in the Seewald family (Chapter 5.3).
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that Miriam has to suppress. This is a mechanism that we have observed in
the system of other second-generation marriages between a Jew and a non-
Jewish German — marriages in which a Jew from a survivor family seeks a
partner with a different family history who can express aggressions in his or
her stead. John Byng-Hall (1973, p. 241) has described such a distribution of
roles: "Each spouse finds his or her split-off aspects in the other, thus both
sides of the split, e.g. aggressive/submissive, are represented in outward and
visible form and in a more hidden form in the reverse order."”

Her marriage to a non-Jewish German presumably also helps Miriam to
feel secure in the land of the perpetrators and to ease the burden of the perse-
cution in her parents' past. We assume that Miriam and Achim both find sup-
port in the marriage system and that it serves in their avoidance of awareness
of certain parts of the family history.

The granddaughters: The neutralized family history

Miriam and Achim Svoboda have three daughters, Susanne, born in 1975,
Klara, born two years later, and Ingrid, who was born in 1981. The two older
daughters were interviewed by Bettina Volter in 1993. The younger of the
two did not want to be interviewed alone, so they were interviewed together.
The youngest daughter did not want to be interviewed at all.

Susanne and Klara could not say much about their family history before
1945. They know some stories about their mother's parents, but they know
nothing about the history of their father's family during the Nazi period. In-
stead, they concentrate on the family's past after 1945 and emphasize, much
like their parents, the common experiences of both sides of the family under
socialism. They said repeatedly that their parents and grandparents in Ruma-
nia and Czechoslovakia were not "loyal to the system" and therefore did not
"please the regime". Susanne and Klara made almost identical statements
using almost the same words on this topic. For them, the differences are
"blurred" between National Socialism and the Communist state, "in which the
system was similar to the way it had been under Hitler". From this perspec-
tive, the fundamental differences between the past of their mother's family
and that of their father's family before 1945 is also "blurred".”’

Susanne and Klara both said that their father's father, who died in 1958,
had been a prisoner of war for many years and that he had been in a Czech
prison for a while because "society did not like him". Klara said he had also
been against the Nazi system. Despite his Nazi past, both granddaughters
presented him as a victim of World War II and the Communist regime. Klara
pictures him as very authoritarian because he was "very hurt by the war not

30 The grandchildren of the Baslers (Chapter 4.2) also blur the differences between their
Jewish and non-Jewish family histories.

65



only physically but also mentally"”. Susanne has a very clear image of how he
died: she visualizes how he feels feint, collapses and dies on the street, not
long after his release from prison. This fantasy resembles the images they
have of the deaths of their Jewish relatives in the Shoah. Susanne said one
always hears about the gassings, but the death of their family was "much more
concrete”. The idea of people being killed in the gas chambers is so threaten-
ing, it cannot be imagined. The idea of dying of illness is more bearable:

Susanne: "They often died because of all the strain they were sub-
Jjected to, they were often killed by disease, they were just
skin and bones and in that sense they weren't really killed,
they just-"

Klara: "The torments they had to work so hard and didn't have
enough to eat, they just dropped on the death marches."

While the two sisters have a virtually identical perspective of their father's
family history, a division of roles could be discerned in their accounts of their
mother's family history. Susanne avoided talking about the persecution of her
grandparents Irina and Miron, Klara brought it up persistently. Susanne
started her account of her mother's family history by talking about the profes-
sional situation of her grandparents in Communist Rumania. Klara added that
her grandmother had lots of younger siblings and therefore had to help in the
house as a child. She carried on: "So later, in the concentration camp, she
had to look after the younger ones". Two of the children were "taken some-
where else" with their parents and "were killed"”. The ensuing dialogue be-
tween the sisters made very clear, how Klara moves from post-war history to
the period of persecution:

Susanne: "Then in forty-seven my mother was born and she was the
only child in the family and uuhh"
Klara: "Although our grandfather, he already had a wife before and

he had a child with her, but, they were also both killed in
camp (1) and it was after that that he got to know our
grandmother (5)."

Susanne: "Now I only know from my mother that she grew up under
pretty strict conditions. My grandpa he was pretty disap-
pointed that she was a girl and not a boy. At the beginning
he couldn't build up a relationship with her, because he al-
ways lived with that disappointment that he didn't have a
son."

Klara: "especially because he lost his first son."

Susanne and Klara both said they learned most of what they know about the
persecution of the Jews at school and from books. Susanne said how "sur-
prised and shocked" she was when she heard in passing that her grandmother
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had also been in a concentration camp. Klara can remember that her grand-
mother once told her about her persecution "after the separation from her
parents”. We could sense more and more strongly Klara's sadness as she con-
tinued to talk about her grandmother Irina. Her older sister blocks out the
feeling. She argued, just as her father did, that the family also had it tough in
Rumania and Czechoslovakia after the war. It is too threatening for Susanne
to distinguish between the two family histories. She does not want to "think
about her Jewish ancestry because I think in principle it doesn't really matter
what their ancestry is because a person is a person.”

Klara, on the other hand, is not so sure. She brought up the matter in the
interview and, talking about her mother's "Jewish ancestry”, said: "that we
are also somehow descended from there, that it has to do with us too". The
interviewer asked, "Would you also say that you had Jewish ancestors?" and
Klara replied, "No, not really. I am not really aware of that."
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6. The collective trauma of the Lodz Ghetto: the Goldstern
family

Gabriele Rosenthal, Michal Dasberg and Yael Moore

A family past of persecution

In the Goldstern family, the grandfather and grandmother survived the Lodz
Ghetto, forced labour camps and the death camp of Auschwitz-Birkenau. As
the genogram indicates, Amos Goldstern was the fifth child born into a Ger-
man-speaking Jewish family in 1917 in Lodz. Before Amos was born, his
parents had lost a daughter at the age of six months. They went on to have
five more children, one of whom also died when he was six months old.

When the ghetto in Lodz was established in 1940, Amos lived with his
mother and his four younger brothers and sisters. His youngest sister Nava
was fifteen years old at the time. Their father had died in 1938, and Amos'
three elder siblings already had families of their own. Thus, Amos was the
oldest son still living at home and assumed the father role in the family in
certain ways.

In 1940, Amos left the ghetto and his family, having "volunteered" to go
to work in Germany, to be better able to provide for his family from there. He
had found it very hard to see his mother, who hardly ate bread herself any
more, go hungry and sacrifice herself for her children. He talks about this
again asrlld again in the individual interview and then in the family interview,
as well™:

"So I was the oldest at home and I took off for everybody a piece of
bread ... and I found out that my mother gave her ration of bread to the
youngest sister. I couldn't take this. The Germans were looking for workers,
strong young people. I said to myselfin this way perhaps I will help them".

For Amos, this was the beginning of a journey lasting four years through
many different camps. From 1943 to January 1945, he was an inmate in
Auschwitz and worked in the Buna factories of the I.G. Farben Company.
Under the most extreme conditions, he survived an evacuation to Buchenwald
as well as transports to other camps just before the liberation. In April 1945,
he managed to run away from a "death march" with a friend.

31 This is the original English. The family interview was conducted in English, although some
participants occasionally spoke German, Hebrew and Polish, as well (cf. 6.1).
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Under cover of night, the two men let themselves fall into a ditch and, nar-
rowly escaping shots fired by the SS, they ran away into the neighboring
woods.

Of his seven siblings, only two sisters survived the Shoah. Amos also
found out after the liberation, that his mother had been murdered in Ausch-
witz.

After the liberation, the first thing Amos did was to go back to Lodz to
look for his family. There he met Lena, who had survived Auschwitz and
other camps with her mother and Amos' sister Nava. Born in 1927, Lena is
ten years younger than Amos. Thus, while Amos was already 22 years old
when the period of persecution began in 1939, Lena was still a twelve-year-
old child at the time. Lena's father owned a saw mill and was a member of the
Judenrat (Jewish council) in the Lodz ghetto. In the family interview, she
recounts: "My father had a lot to do with Germans. ... They gave us a little
house, near the office of the Germans".

This was presumably one of the reasons why she and her family were not
put on a transport until the ghetto was liquidated in August 1944. Nonethe-
less, Lena and her family also suffered terribly from hunger and from the
harsh living conditions in the ghetto. Her grandfather Joel, who lived with
Lena's family, died of undernourishment in the ghetto. As a result, Lena still
frequently talks about the starvation there even now and by doing so reminds
Amos of the reasons why he left the ghetto. When Lena and her parents were
eventually put on a transport, her father sensed what lay in store for them.
Lena recalls that on the transport to Auschwitz he said: "Now they're going to
burn us". Lena's father did not survive his incarceration in the concentration
camp. While Amos lost his mother and five siblings in the Shoah, Lena sur-
vived the camp with her mother. She, her mother, and Amos' sister Nava were
liberated in Bergen-Belsen. Amos and Lena married in 1947 and, after spend-
ing two years in England, emigrated to Israel in 1949 with Amos' sisters and
Lena's mother. Their eldest son Joel, named after Lena's grandfather, was
born in England in 1949, and their second son Noam was born in Israel in
1954. Amos' two sisters also live with their families in Israel. Lena's mother
lived with the Goldstern family until her death in 1954. Lena's significantly
older brother emigrated to Palestine before World War II and was killed in
action in 1948 in the War of Independence. Amos and Lena have an enlarged
photograph of him in a prominent position in their living room, whereas they
keep the unenlarged photos of their murdered parents packed away in a cup-
board in their bedroom. There are another two large photographs of Lena's
brother in uniform in their bedroom. Her brother is not just an important iden-
tification figure for Lena and Amos; their children and grandchildren identify
with their uncle/great-uncle, too. An analysis of the interviews shows clearly
that this identification serves the purpose of repairing strong feelings of pow-
erlessness.
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Whereas Amos® can talk obsessively for hours in great detail and chrono-
logical clarity about the persecution in his past, and in fact can hardly stop
talking about it, Lena finds it very hard to talk about it.

As in quite a few other families, here, too, the man has taken on the role
of the "veteran of Auschwitz", while his wife has assumed the role of the frag-
ile, traumatized survivor who has to be protected from remembering. It be-
comes clear in the Goldstern family as well, that the past of the silent grand-
parent has a greater impact on the second generation's fantasies and develop-
ment of symptoms than the past of the grandparent who talks about these ex-
periences. And yet during the interview, we had a clear sense of Lena's desire
to talk about the persecution she suffered. However, she could only speak
more freely once her husband, who was present at the interview to start with,
had left the room. Lena's life story is very fragmentary, and it is difficult to
reconstruct the chronology from her presentation of the time when she was
persecuted. It consists more of hints than clearly narrated stories. Whereas
Amos tells many stories of his adroitness in the fight for survival, thus pre-
senting himself as an active agent, Lena speaks mainly of memories that con-
tinue to haunt her today. She tells us that to this day she can still hear the
children of the Lodz ghetto screaming: "Don't give me to the Germans". She
has recurrent images in her mind of scenes where Germans threw small chil-
dren out of the window onto open trucks waiting below. Lena was forced to
witness how her sick girlfriend, who was in hospital at the time, was killed by
being thrown out the window. These images haunt Lena to this day. To get a
sense of the horrific reality that Lena's descriptions are part of, a brief account
of the history of this ghetto seems appropriate at this point.

The Litzmannstadt ghetto, the first to be established by the Nazis and the
last to be liquidated, plays a special role in the history of these ghettos. Chaim
Rumkowski, the highly controversial Eldest of this ghetto, led it in a very
authoritarian way and sought to save Jewish lives by cooperating with the
Germans in all manner of ways. One of the most painful chapters in the his-
tory of this ghetto was what was known as the "Kinderaktion" ("Children
Roundup"). In September 1942, when Lena was fifteen years old, the Ger-
mans demanded that all children under the age of ten be put on transports. All
children up to the age of twelve had already been registered in April 1942 (cf.
Bloom, 1949, p. 129). By this point, everyone in the ghetto knew what this
meant, knew that these were transports to death. Rumkowski addressed the
ghetto inhabitants, calling on them to send their children on transports the
next morning to save the ghetto. The parents refused, and so a week-long cur-
few was imposed on the ghetto (from 5 - 12 September 1942). The Jewish
police took 16,000 children, sick and old people from their homes and put

32 Gabriele Rosenthal interviewed Amos twice during the Gulf War in 1991. In 1994, Bettina
Volter interviewed both him and this time Lena, too. All of the individual interviews with
the couple were conducted in German.
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them on transports (Hilberg 1990, Vol. 2, p. 542). The well-documented his-
tory of this ghetto - a chronicle of Lodz exists (Dabrowska & Dobroszycki
1965) - contains a great number of references to the murder of infants. One
occasion on which such murders were committed, presumably the one Lena's
memories refer to, was the liquidation of the hospital in September 1942 (cf.
Gilbert, 1985, p. 440 ff.), one week after the so-called "Kinderaktion". In the
course of this liquidation, infants, children, and frail people were thrown out
of the hospital window on to trucks waiting below. Many of the children who
were taken from the hospital and put on transports that day were not sick, but
rather had been brought to the hospital because their parents thought that they
would be safer there. Presumably Lena's friend was thrown out of the window
during the evacuation of this hospital. Lena also talks about children being
taken away from their parents during the curfew. In the family interview she
goes further, revealing that a child entrusted to her mother was put on this
transport of children.

Another of Lena's painful memories is being separated from her father at
the ramp in Auschwitz, where the guards selected who would do forced la-
bour and who would be killed immediately. She comforts herself with his last
words to her mother: "Look after her, she's all we have left". She has good
memories of her father and emphasizes repeatedly in the interview how much
he spoiled her, saying: "I was a child of cream and chocolate”. Lena initially
lost her will to live in Auschwitz and wanted to take her own life by throwing
herself at the electric fence. But her mother stopped her, and time and again,
strengthened her courage to go on living.

Lena can barely describe the time that she spent in the death camp and
later in the concentration camp in a chronological narrative. But she remem-
bers everything vividly nonetheless and lives with a lot of horrific images that
she cannot forget. One of the fragmentary stories she recounts, presumably
from the time she spent in one of Auschwitz's outlying sub-camps, is this: she
had come to the infirmary because she had collapsed and was given an injec-
tion there by a medical student. She says that this student was the son of a
doctor and had pretended to be a qualified doctor to get out of being sent to
the front. Lena says that her arm swelled up from the injection and her mother
thought that she was dying. After this, she spent six or seven months in the
infirmary. This story is still bound up with a great deal of fear, which can be
sensed when Lena tells it. One of the things she says is that the "doctor"
threatened to kill her if she screamed. Lena's story contains a lot of hints -
particularly in reference to this doctor - and listening to her speak, one senses
that more happened at the time than she can share with us now. Sexual vio-
lence emerges between the lines combined with gratitude towards this "doc-
tor". We must bear in mind, too, that Lena may have been the victim of medi-
cal experiments.
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Lena's memories of her time in the ghetto are linked to certain problems
within the dynamics of her marriage to Amos. The pervasive theme expressed
by Amos, who left the ghetto and his family on his own initiative, is that it
was easier for him to survive in the camp than it was for those left behind in
the ghetto: "I was a lucky man being alone in the camp. I mean that I didn't
have any family. The families were brought to Auschwitz, they were sepa-
rated the children separate and the women separate. That was very tragic for
the people. I only had to take care of myself."

Amos feels guilty for going away, for the murder of his mother and his
younger brothers and sisters. He feels guilty that he could not stand by them
during the hard times in the ghetto. Their murder made his fight for survival
seem meaningless at first. He says that it was "the most awful moment" in his
life, when he came to Lodz and found out that his mother and siblings were
dead: "I said to myself (3) what did you fight for (2) what did you fight
for?’Cause I believed that someone-"

Amos links his family's fate with Lena's family and life history. For him,
she represents the suffering in the ghetto, which Amos considers harder than
his suffering in the death and concentration camps: "You know I was half a
year in the ghetto, my wife was four years in the ghetto (3). When I came
back (3) I heard what happened in the ghetto". At this point, Lena, who was
present during the interview with Amos, adds something that clarifies her role
in her relationship with Amos. She says: "That's my work." It is thus Lena's
family biographical work to remember the time in the ghetto. Amos contin-
ues, saying: "I heard what happened in the ghetto. Then I said (3) it's good 1
wasn't here. ... They imposed the curfew in the ghetto, they told the Eldest of
the Jews to round up the children”. Lena adds: "We had a friend, she was in
the hospital, they threw her down from it".

We discover from the interview with Amos' sister Nava33, that Amos'
younger sister Bella had worked in the hospital in the Lodz ghetto and had
spoken on numerous occasions of newly-born babies being murdered. She
was presumably put on a transport with the others when the hospital was lig-
uidated. But Amos cannot talk about these parts of his family history, his
theme is the fight for survival or his adroitness as an inmate. The aspects of
his history of suffering, that he can talk about, are the active ones. The theme
of "the murder of my mother and younger sister and brother Bella and
Freddy" does not come into this thematic field.

We find out from Amos' sister Nava that she and her mother, her sister
Ira and her brother Freddy were put on one of the last transports to Auschwitz
in 1944. Her brother had tried to stop them from going. Nava recounts:

33 This interview was conducted by Bettina Volter in German and occasionally in English in
1994.
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"We were confined to the ghetto, every day transports left 'til they sent us
away too. My brother said: "Mum I beg you not to leave, we can stay here, 1
know where we're going, I have a hiding place where we can stay". My
mother said: "Don't be silly, we're going to work, I'm not afraid of work.
We'll stay together, we'll work". He said: "Mum it isn't work (3) stay here".
She said: "You know what, stay here". He said: "If you go I'm going with
you'" (3). I wish he'd stayed. 800 people stayed in the ghetto. I don't know if
he would still be alive today. But he could have gone on living his life. And
then we went away, too"

Of the 800 people who hid themselves in the ghetto, one was a friend of
Nava's who survived and lives in Israel today. Amos will have found this out
from his sister. He says a number of times in a guilty tone that after the libera-
tion he heaped reproaches on his sister Nava:

"I wanted to find out what happened in the ghetto, why, how it was. She
said ((Nava)): "Mother was taken on to the other side". I said: "Didn't you
take her, why didn't you take her with you". She started to cry. I'd hurt the
poor girl. 'Course I knew what that meant. But it's my mother, I wanted my
mother back”.

"l wanted my mother back", Amos says and after the liberation it was very
important for his emotional stability that Lena's mother took on the role of
mother for him, as he says himself. Losing his mother is something that
haunts Amos in his dreams to this day. For years after the liberation, Lena
regularly had nervous breakdowns in the day, while Amos cried out loud for
his mother at night. "Mama, Mama", he used to cry out, and Lena used to
close the window, ashamed of what the neighbours would think. She always
woke her husband up and tried to calm him down. Lena took on the role of
the caring mother at night, while by day Amos tried to protect his wife from
the after-effects of the persecution in their past. Thus in this family - as in
other families of survivors -, the generations were shifted in a certain sense
(Boszermeny-Nagy / Spark 1973). The reversal of the generational roles is
continued in the Goldstern family in the way that the eldest son Joel assumes
a parental role. As a father, Amos regularly thrashed his two sons Joel (born
in 1949) and Noam (born in 1954) when they were children. His pent-up ag-
gression, which occasionally vents itself, was something we interviewers
could sense in the interviews with him: he became very verbally aggressive
when certain themes were addressed. Amos survived four years in a number
of different camps and, like other concentration camp inmates, he had to sup-
press his aggression during that time in order to survive. With some survivors,
years of suppressing their aggression this way led to them bursting into fits of
aggression at their children and even calling them Nazis (Wardi 1992). Some
survivors unconsciously give their children the delegation to live out their
own suppressed aggressions (cf. Solomon et al 1988).
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The sons: struggling to separate

Before we go into the interview with the eldest son in more detail, a few re-
marks about the similarities and differences between Joel and his brother
Noam™ may not be amiss here. The firstborn son, Joel, has the role in the
family of the bound delegate, speaking to his parents every day on the tele-
phone and visiting them often. This allows his brother to get out of caring for
the parents' daily needs somewhat and to oppose them more, as well. Even as
a child, Noam, who is five years younger than Joel, was the one who pro-
voked the parents and fought with them.

Both sons stress that their parents almost never talked about the persecu-
tion in their past. In particular, they know almost nothing about their mother's
past. However, a comparison of their interviews reveals, that Noam provides
more details of the persecution in their past, asks more questions about it, and
also takes on the perspective of his parents while they were being persecuted
more than his brother does. Because, in comparison to his brother, he was
more able to assume the role of the son who does not submit to parental au-
thority so much, it is somewhat easier for him to look more closely at his par-
ents' past. Even as a child, he used to imagine that he was in a concentration
camp with his parents. He himself considers it masochistic that he was always
trying to feel what his parents suffered: "to know how they suffered to go into
it and to try ... maybe to get into his ((his father's)) skin and to try to imagine
what it was like or to try to experience what it was like". He talks about his
father's escape in the last few days before the liberation, imagining how his
father and his friend let themselves roll into the woods. He tries to physically
feel what he thinks they must have felt, and in his imagination he hears and
senses the guard dogs behind that had been set on him.

Noam's accounts of the time his father spent in the ghetto somewhat con-
tradict those made by his father. He imagines that his father lived in the ghetto
for a very long time. Using their imagination to try to heal the traumas of their
parents is something that comes up again and again in interviews with chil-
dren and grandchildren of survivors (cf. Samuel Stern, Chap. 2.5).

Noam speaks with embarrassment and a great deal of sensitivity about the
persecution in his mother's past when she was a young girl:

"l know she went through experiences that weren't very nice and maybe
that's why she doesn't want to talk about them (4). Because she went through
the Holocaust at a very young age, as a child of 14, 15, she really lost all her
youth there ... at that age when she was becoming a woman, the experiences
she went through weren't nice. ...Imagine a child who's an adolescent, imag-
ine if you take a fourteen-year-old girl and stand her up take her clothes off

34 Joel was interviewed by Tamar Zilberman in 1994 and Noam was interviewed by Yael
Moore in 1996. Both interviews were conducted in Hebrew.
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and shave the hair off her head in front of a gang of lunatics. It's not exactly
an experience that can leave a person sane’.

The image of how his mother and the other women in Auschwitz had to take
their clothes off is one that he is especially preoccupied with. He says that this
is one of the few things that his mother has told him, but adds that she has
never gone into detail about it, presumably because she is ashamed of it. Per-
haps Noam senses something of his mother's "shame-filled" experiences in
the infirmary. But like his brother, he is afraid of finding out more about this
past and admits quite openly: "The truth is that I asked questions and got
answers but I don't remember them".

In adolescence, a fight he had with his mother once brought on one of her
nervous breakdowns:

"We had an argument, I don't remember what about and she lost her
temper and collapsed on the bed, lay down and afterwards the whole story of
the doctors came out ... she lost her temper with me in a very different way
than usual. She beat me, too. I remember her lying in bed 'cause it hurt her
that she had physically beaten me. I can't remember whether she fainted."

His father was called home from work, the doctor had to be sent for, his
mother was given sedatives and was in psychiatric care for a while after-
wards. Noam vaguely remembers being beaten by his father in connection
with this. He explicitly asserts in the interview that he refused to take the
blame laid on him for the incident then and still does: "I was blamed for it,
but I didn't blame myself for it". However, his repeated justifications indicate
how much this incident weighs on him:

"I thought I wasn't the cause of this. I told them I'm not to blame for it.
She has problems with her nerves, but you blame me but it's not me. Even
now I still don't feel guilty about what happened 'cause I still know that it
wasn't me ... she repressed it for X years and it had to come out".

While Noam openly expresses his protest against his parents, his brother sup-
presses the aggression he harbours particularly against his father in direct
communication with his parents. Even in the interview with us, he finds it
hard to talk about it. His loyalty to his father forbids him to tell us about how
he was beaten by his father. His son Ronen tells us about this. On the other
hand, Joel tells us about how much his brother was beaten. Noam, who talks
about the thrashings his father gave him, justifies his father with the argument
that he only hit them if he or his brother had made their mother angry, never
because they had made him angry.

As adolescents, Joel and Noam perceived the overprotectiveness at home
as an act of aggression by their parents. It was mainly expressed in forcing the
children to eat. While Joel had a weight problem, and says that he was quite a
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fat child, his brother says of himself: "I was very thin. As a child I hated eat-
ing". Having been forced to eat is something that still haunts them today, and
something both clearly connect to the persecution in the family past. Thus,
Joel says: "My parents were worried all the time about whether we were eat-
ing ‘cause if we didn't eat we might die". Joel says that his brother was
thrashed on numerous occasions for not wanting to eat: "It's really unbeliev-
able how much they beat him to make him eat. I remember that from my
childhood". While Noam braved his father's thrashings, his elder brother
"stuffed" himself with food, in acquiescence to his parental authority. We find
traces of this being made to eat in connection with the theme of death with
Joel's son Ronen. He tells us that he tried to breed chickens, but that they all
died because of overfeeding. We must bear in mind, that his grandmother had
to witness her grandfather starving to death in the ghetto and that Amos left
his family, because he could not bear to see his mother go hungry any more.
Thus, this specific aspect of the persecution can be seen to have had an inter-
generational impact. The marks, that the persecution has left on the children
and grandchildren, are not coincidental. On the contrary, they are expressions
of specific problems in the respective life histories of the grandparents.

Both Joel and Noam still struggle in their lives for greater separation
from their parents. Their life histories are an example of the considerable
problems that many children of survivors have in separation-individuation (cf.
Barocas & Barocas; Freyberg 1980). The brothers' desire for more distance
from their family of origin is also expressed in their choice of partner. They
both married women who were not from families of survivors. Joel married a
woman from an Oriental Jewish family, and Noam's wife is from a family that
has been living in Palestine for several generations. In 1990, Joel's wife died
of cancer and presumably this bound him closer to his parents again. In con-
trast to Noam, he finds it very hard to separate his life history from his family
history. This becomes manifest in the way he tells us his parents' reactions to
his biographical decisions all the way through the interview, whether they
were proud of him, or continued to worry about him even if they approved of
the decisions he had made. His parents' past overshadows his own life to such
an extent that his presentation of his own life history is noticeably shorter than
that of his family past. Let us now proceed to a closer examination of Joel's
biography.

The eldest son: "An unclear burden"

At the time of the interview, Joel was 46 years old and had had a very suc-
cessful career for many years as the manager of a well-known Israeli com-
pany. He himself attributes his professional success to his upbringing at
home: "The upbringing I got at home was to work the work ethic, to start
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work at an early age, through the holidays to work hard. These are the val-
ues I was taught at home and the values of the army, that's what I'd say made
me succeed”.

In 1990, Joel suffered a great personal loss: his wife died, just weeks af-
ter the doctors had diagnosed her as having cancer. Joel felt like his life had
no meaning any more at first. But then he says that he decided he had to be
strong especially because he had three children to take care of. His son Ronen
was seventeen at the time, and his two daughters were twelve and four years
old. The feeling that accompanies Joel through life is very strongly defined by
a recurrent desire for greater distance to his parents and at the same time by
the bond he has to them. By identifying very strongly with present- and fu-
ture-oriented Israeli society, he tries to distance himself from his parents'
Holocaust past. It was chiefly during adolescence that Joel's struggle for sepa-
ration turned into a fight with his parents. On numerous occasions he had to
face heated arguments if he wanted to take part in the trips that are so much a
part of young Israelis' lives. These adolescent trips have become a symbol for
the construction of an Israeli identity. It is thus hardly surprising that taking
part in these trips was extremely important to young Joel and that these were
the times when the symbol of belonging clashed with his parents' fears and
overprotectiveness: "There was not one trip that didn't cause arguments ...
and crying, tears and threats and everything".

When Joel reached the age of fourteen, he wanted to go on a trip with his
friends from the Sea of Galilee to the Mediterranean Sea. This "coast to coast
trip', as it is known in Israel, has something of an initiation rite into the cul-
ture. But this time no matter how he begged and cried, his parents were ada-
mant and Joel was not allowed to join his friends. This experience empha-
sized the way he was different from the other "Sabra' children. It had such a
strong impact on him that years later - when he was in his twenties -, after he
had completed his military service, Joel made the “coast to coast trip' alone
and by doing so went through one of the main rites of passage to acquiring an
Israeli identity. There was more conflict when Joel joined the army. Because
he strongly identified with Israeli values, he chose to join the parachutist unit
even though he knew that by doing so he would cause his parents a great deal
of fear:

"In short this overprotectiveness was an obsession with my parents, it
was so strong that I would even say they tried to stop me from joining the
parachutists and- even tried through some indirect connections. I fought with
her ((with his mother)) it was clear to me that I was going to join the para-
chutists and that it was important for me to join the parachutists. I was very
proud of it and I think that in the end my parents were very very proud that
their son came back with “wings' and a red beret and at the same time I tried
to hide this subject from them, they didn't really know what was going on and
how it happened, it was a secret until I just showed up with the red beret."
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As in his story of the “coast to coast trip', a key conflict arises again here be-
tween his uncompromising wish to belong and to assume an Israeli identity
(at the time the parachutist unit was a symbol of a proud new Israeli identity)
and his desire to protect his parents from the fears that his aspirations gener-
ated in them. However, this protest was directed more at his father than at his
mother. If, on a manifest level, Joel was opposing his father here, he was at
the same time fulfilling his father's latent delegation by assuming the role of
the fighter. By choosing to become an active fighter, he was emulating the
part of his father's biography that was talked about over the years, namely, the
part about actively surviving, rescuing others, and heroism.

Joel is one of those second generation Holocaust survivors who compare
their own behaviour as soldiers in the Israeli army with the behaviour of the
Nazis, sometimes even see or experience themselves in the role of perpetra-
tor, and suffer greatly from guilt feelings. Joel, who fought in the Yom Kip-
pur War and in the war in Lebanon, tells us that he knows exactly what dying
and killing mean. He speaks of a comrade of his dying, and in front of his
parents, says: "I know exactly what is the meaning of killing and what is the
meaning of to enter to houses and to search, to search and to look for some-
body t3hsat is more or less the-, it is not the same of course but it is not far
away™”.

As for many soldiers who fought in the Lebanon War, this is the war that
signifies moral issues for Joel:"I felt like this German who come to search for
Jews in the trenches and holes, houses- I certainly felt, a difficulty, there is a
problem because you don't always know if it really is the house of a terrorist.
There is a great difficulty to enter these houses, where some women is crying
a heart-breaking cry and the children are just miserable, screaming and cry-
ing.

Joel also speaks of situations in the war where he thought he would die.
He always had two thoughts in such situations: How will my parents react
after everything they have survived? What will happen to my son? These
questions illustrate the role of the second generation very clearly: they have
assumed the carer role for both their children and their parents. Dan Bar-On
(1995, p. 45ff.) discusses a family, in which the desire of the second genera-
tion to take care of their parents is even stronger than the desire to take care
of their children. How does Joel deal with his parents' past? He says that his
parents have hardly spoken to him about the persecution in their past. None-
theless, Joel recalls a situation that he remembers as being traumatic. He was
around thirteen years old when his father showed him all of the photographs
taken by the Allies after they liberated the camp: "I saw these pictures- it was
very frightening but right afterwards they hid them away, they put them in
some locked drawer there you couldn't open.”

35 This is the original English; the quote was taken from the family interview (cf. Chap. 6.1)
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In the interview, Joel reduces his father's experiences down to this statement:
"He was in Auschwitz, suffered terribly and survived". Joel knows the facts,
who was murdered and who survived and in some cases knows which camps
his parents were in. It can be said of the parents that they both live very much
in the past, along the lines of J. Lomranz et al (1985). However, while the
mother's story is suppressed and goes untold, the father's story is the one that
is given space in this family. Nevertheless, the father's story is not told in its
entirety; he only tells the parts that reflect strength where he rescued others
and escaped. Amos selects certain aspects from his life history that create a
life story in which he is primarily an active agent. This pattern of selecting
certain aspects is reflected in his son Joel's life story as well. In his life story,
Joel emphasizes the strong, rebellious, active aspects and suppresses the as-
pects that reflect fear, weakness, and helplessness. Even if his parents have
hardly spoken to him about the atrocious events they experienced, the mark
that the persecution in his parents' past left was ever-present for him and his
brother. Joel expresses this as follows: "It was a life in a house that is the
Shoah, with some envelope containing pictures hidden deep deep in- .."

Joel grew up with his father crying out "Mama, Mama" at night, and his
mother waking him and calming him down. But he tried, as he puts it, to play
deaf and when the subject came up: "I tried not to be part of these conversa-
tions. I always tried to sit in the corner, to put up some kind of barrier, not to
hear.”

His father's cries of "Mama, Mama" also confronted Joel with his
mother's trauma. He would have to have been deaf not to hear the screaming
in the night. His father was screaming for his lost mother. Thus, Joel's mother
had to be his father's mother, too, and the son developed aggression towards
the father. In his family sculpture, Joel places his father between himself and
his mother. Thus, the father is between mother and son.

Even as a child, he experienced how his mother had repeated nervous
breakdowns as an after-effect of the persecution. He says that his childhood
was not a normal one, that his parents always provided for him amply in
terms of material things, but stopped him from doing many of the things he
wanted to do because of their fearfulness and that they were unable to give
him any joy.

Joel lives so much in the shadow of this past that to some degree he has
had to split off from it emotionally. Thus, in the interview it is striking that in
connection with the Shoah, he speaks repeatedly of "Ha-esek Haze", of "this
subject". He also says: "I've tried to suppress this subject maybe even 'til to-
day".

The heavy burden that the persecution in his parents' past has placed on
him has led to him doing all he can to close himself off from it. To prevent
the threat that emanates from this past from becoming overpowering, he tries
to identify with Israel's past. One way in which he does this in the interview is
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by emphasizing again and again that the Memorial Day to Fallen Soldiers
(Yom Hazikaron Lechalaley Zahal) is more important to him than the Memo-
rial Day to the Shoah and Heroism (Yom HaShoah veHagevurah). Both of
these memorial days are commemorated within one week. Referring to the
second Memorial Day, to the Shoah and Heroism, Joel argues: "For me this
day is very- the symbol of the Memorial Day to Fallen Soldiers, comparing it
to the Shoah Day for example, that does nothing for me, absolutely nothing ".

He speaks again and again in this connection of his uncle, Lena's brother,
who was killed in action in the War of Independence in 1948. His uncle is
someone he can identify with, unlike the members of his family who were
murdered in the Holocaust. He uses this uncle to try to establish continuity
with the family past: "Till this day we go every year to the grave ((the uncle
who died in 1948)) on the Memorial Day to Fallen Soldiers. I and my brother
see it as a kind of continuity.” These emotions and responses are completely
different to those he expresses towards his relatives who were murdered in the
Holocaust. He neither mentions their names nor tells any stories about them
but merely states their number.

But there have been times in Joel's life, when aspects of the persecution
in his parents' past, that he has split off, have become a theme for him and
have sometimes even completely overwhelmed him. Thus he says: "When [
was young I played the tough guy. Maybe in the past few years I've started
falling to pieces - even crying- my falling to pieces started when I was in
Bergen Belsen".

This process started when he was sent into the war in Lebanon (1982-
1984). This set off the first of his nervous breakdowns which reached their
peak in 1988 when he went to the memorial of the Bergen-Belsen concentra-
tion camp where his mother and grandmother were incarcerated last, and
flared up again after his wife died. In Bergen-Belsen, the latent stratum that
he had suppressed all his life surfaced and overwhelmed him. He tells of how
he broke down at the entrance to the memorial and could not go inside the
former camp at first. All of the images, that he had tried not to imagine on the
Memorial Day to the Shoah and Heroism, now flooded into his mind: "I had
a kind of flashback from Shoah movies that I would say that I saw. I didn't
see many, this is also an issue that is in the framework of suppression I tried
on the Shoah Day not to see, to ignore it".

His legs began to shake, and it took nearly half an hour before he could
go into the camp. He repeated to himself over and over: "...but my parents-"
and then with trembling legs he stepped inside the camp. He describes the
symptoms that he experienced while he was there. He started to shiver, to cry
and as he put it:

"[ think I broke down then and I suddenly felt (5) what- what a load I'd
been carrying and- a kind of a ((cough)) kind of unclear burden that for
years you absorb silence and you ((coughs)) put up a wall, you don't hear
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((cough)) try to ignore not to live it and suddenly you find yourself in a situa-
tion where you- have to visit the place".

His mother's untold story came up in Bergen-Belsen, and so did her symp-
toms. When asked earlier in the interview about how he reacted to his
mother's breakdowns, he replied: "I closed myself off and... like an ostrich
you could say, I put up a wall around myself uh .... I don't remember crying
in my whole life..." In Bergen-Belsen, this defence mechanism broke down,
and Joel had a nervous breakdown of the kind he had seen his mother having
on numerous occasions, and he began to cry desperately. For the first time, in
Bergen-Belsen, he had images of his mother being in the camp. He found it
hard to put the images he saw into words. The interviewer asked him several
times about the fantasies that he had in the camp, and it was only after a few
attempts that he managed to reply that he had imagined scenes of fear and
helplessness. Joel has considerable difficulty putting these scenes into words,
and we can interpret this as expressing that while the symptoms were trans-
ferred to him from his mother, the words were not. This is what Titchener
(1967) describes as unconscious messages that are transported to the next
generations and that have a considerably stronger impact on them than mes-
sages that are manifestly transferred.

After the death of his wife, he fell into a profound sense of hopelessness,
and through it, began to understand better the feeling that accompanied his
parents through life. But he adds that it is a mystery to him, how his parents
and other survivors can even go on living with this feeling. Joel argues that
"living with the Holocaust" has made him a closed man who always hides his
emotions. Just as he cannot talk to his parents about emotions, so he is unable
to communicate with his son about them. Joel projects his own "deafness"
towards his parents' past on to his son:

"[ think my children are in the same situation that they're actually totally
unfamiliar with the subject. It would have been very convenient for me if my
father had sat down with my children and told them what he went through
‘cause I think it's important that the next generation knows what really hap-
pened. It was easier for me not to hear these things 'cause I find it hard to
live the- near these things".

While Joel relates his children's lack of knowledge back to his own problems,
at the same time he accuses his children of not being interested in this subject.
This is the very same mechanism that operates in his relationship to his own
father (cf. Chap. 6.1).

How does Ronen, a member of the third generation, see this subject?
How does he see his relationship with his father and grandparents and the
communication in his family?
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The grandson: "The emotional issue is an issue all of its own, a
mystery"

Ronen Goldstern® 6, the son of Joel and grandson of Lena and Amos, was born
in 1973 in Israel during the Yom Kippur War while his father was away on
the battlefield. Ronen sees a parallel here to something that happened in the
past:

Ronen: "....and then the Yom Kippur War started, I was born and
the whole story uh (2) this story that repeats itself...

Interviewer: What story that repeats itself?

Ronen: Father in the war, mother with the child and grandfather and
grandmother bringing everyone up and and (10) and that
it...".

This answer with its stops and starts and its conspicuously long pause of ten
seconds about a story that repeats itself of a father in the war, a mother who
stays behind with the child, and grandparents who raise the child refers to the
traumatic family theme of the Goldstern grandparents. However, we must also
see these remarks against the background of Ronen's own traumatic loss of
his mother, who died when he was seventeen years old. This loss marks a
traumatic turning point in his life. Ronen separates his life before his mother's
death from his life after it: "It was just an ordinary life, I don't know (2) I
didn't have (2) any ups and downs in my life 'til [ was seventeen (3) and that's
it. When I was seventeen my mother died (2). So that closed a chapter in my
life (3) and that's it. I mean, everybody started another chapter, I don't -
mmm, I stayed there".

Ronen says that his mother's death closed a chapter in his life. He tries to
block out his memories of his mother and to split off his grief. One effect this
has is that he can hardly remember things he experienced before his mother's
death. In the interview with Ronen, it emerges very clearly that, after his
mother died, he behaved according to the family pattern of suppressing sor-
row and making a show of strength in situations of loss. He concentrated on
his final examinations at school and, as he puts it, on functioning:

"I don't remember basic things... I don't know from the moment she died
(2) I don't know I had final exams then. There are many things I don't under-
stand, apparently that's part of my upbringing that- I don't know, it's over
and (1) she died and that put an end to it. [ mean something stopped but, 1
went on moving with the stream I mean uh nooo (6) I didn't think about
things deeply and and I think that was part of my mistake I mean uh- (1).

36 Ronen was interviewed by Noga Gilad and Hagit Lifshitz in 1995. The interview was con-
ducted in Hebrew.
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Ronen sees the connection to his upbringing himself, and we can assume that
this family pattern is partially due to the persecution in his grandparents' past.
His grandfather's latent delegation to fight is connected to this past, too. One
year after his mother died, Ronen joined an elite unit of the Israeli army: the
Mista'arevim unit, whose members are sent into the occupied territories dis-
guised as Palestinians; one of their assignments is to murder specific people.

Although on a manifest level both his grandfather and his father disap-
prove of his taking part in this elite task force, which they compare to the
Nazis, at the same time they support his choice. Speaking of Ronen in an ap-
preciative tone, his father says:

"I have a son in the army who didn't fall far from the tree. He went, even
though he could have used his privilege of not going and joining a special
unit 'cause he lost his mother at an early age and could have stayed close to
home. And nonetheless and not 'cause of my encouragement but because he
had a home where children were raised to have values."

For Ronen, the values shared by his family also involve not showing one's
feelings. He speaks about the emotional difficulties in his family, above all in
relation to his father, saying: "The emotional issue is an issue all of its own, a
mystery.” He says that his father passed on his grandparents' values to him,
those of suppressing feelings and keeping problems to oneself. Ronen is
afraid that one day he may have the same problems with his own children that
his father has now: "My worst fear is how to act with a child. Because I don't
have- I have nothing I can pass on. I have the negative behaviour that is-
that's the only way I know to behave with children".

How does Ronen deal with the persecution in the past of his grandpar-
ents, Amos and Lena? What is initially striking is that the way he presents
their life before the persecution is very similar to the way he presents his own
life before his mother's death: "My grandfather and grandmother were born
in Poland, they lived in Lodz and, that is I mean until 1939 they had an ordi-
nary life...".

The parallel that Ronen draws between his own traumatic loss and the
persecution in his grandparents' past emerges in a number of sequences in the
interview. Ronen repeatedly compares his suffering with the suffering of his
grandparents. He infers his right to doubt the existence of God from his own
suffering:

"All the time, there=there's one thing that (1) my grandfather all the time
1 told him I don't believe in God (3) ...because of what happened in the Holo-
caust ... it used to be on my mind a lot, he used to tell me I have no right to
say that ... I wasn't there and I have no right."

He subsequently compares the world "there” with the loss of his mother:
"When my mother died I asked him can I now? (1) Now I have the right to
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say there's no God I mean- (6)" Ronen sees himself in the role of the survivor
and connects this to his role as aggressor in the occupied territories:

"The moment the person closest to you dies, then, whoever else around
me dies is already not, it's not the same thing I mean uh- ... Let's put it this
way because, I lost a lot of humanness in that regard in the territories. I just
lost what I used to believe in. You lose your humanness a, a=a a hundred
percent I mean you're not, you're not human, even the strongest people
there."

Losing "your humanness” is an archaic expression that has become very
loaded since the Shoah and is now only used in the context of people in
camps. This expression has come to describe their struggle not only to survive
but also to keep their "humanness". Ronen links the Shoah and the role of
victim with his army service and the role of aggressor. Even the strongest
people can lose their humanness and can even become aggressors. Is he think-
ing of his grandfather in this connection? If we bear in mind that his state-
ments were made in relation to his dialogue with his grandfather, they suggest
the assumption that victims of persecution can become aggressors. Ronen's
argumentational figure here is that both the losses suffered by the Jews in the
Holocaust and the early loss of his mother have made other deaths unimpor-
tant for him and made him lose his faith in God and in humanness. Whether
he is unconsciously linking the murder of Amos' mother or the violent death
of Lena's father to this is something his remarks leave open. Like his father,
he does not want to go into this further. And like his father, he only speaks of
the murdered members of his family and the powerlessness and helplessness
of being persecuted in a few sentences. He, too, concentrates on the version
passed on by his grandfather, the story of active deeds, escape and heroism.
For instance, he tells the story of how his grandfather stole some gold coins to
rescue himself and a good friend of his. After this, he argues:

"l was more interested in this point of going like sheep to slaughter, I
never reconciled with this point (2) in eleventh grade there was a delegation
to Poland and I went with them (2).....it was only then that I understood that
the real battle was a battle for existence no more than that not about escap-
ing and (2) from the Warsaw ghetto you could see how successful the upris-
ing there was it's not exactly uh (8).”

Straight after this sequence, he tells a detailed version of the story of how his
grandfather saved himself and his best friend. Ronen is preoccupied with the
story, that he has been told, and with its messages of activism and heroism.
But Ronen also constantly has fantasies about the family's untold stories
and acts them out in a number of ways. He argues that all he can remember
about his childhood are stories about wounds, injuries, and diseases. He says
that he suffered from fear of heights and claustrophobia. It was striking in the
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interview that Ronen claimed he could hardly remember anything that hap-
pened in his childhood, but he did remember the following situation: when he
was a small boy, his aunt wanted to cure him of his fear of heights. She took
him out on to a balcony, held him up by the legs, and shook him in the air and
pretended she was going to drop him over. Ronen evaluates this memory as
follows: "it is strange...she ((the aunt)) is a person that I felt good with..."
We might ask ourselves at this point whether there is a connection between
Ronen's phobia and the untold story of his grandmother's: that of throwing
children out of the window in the ghetto of Lodz?

Ronen had serious problems with phobias during his time in the army,
too. Whenever he was in a closed armoured vehicle and did not know where
he was or where he was going to, he used to purposely fall asleep "to be un-
conscious":

"It started with the armoured vehicle in the army, that I used to sit down
there and not knowing my orientation used to drive me crazy, I mean feeling
sick and headaches. I didn't know what to do with myself. I used to fall asleep
on purpose so as not to be conscious there. Afterwards I had the same thing
with tanks apparently the suffocation and the dark, plus the fact that you
don't know where are you at all."

Another problem he had during the army time was that he could not climb
guard towers.

On one hand, Ronen has strong fears and on the other, he seems to go out
of his way to put himself in dangerous situations. He seeks danger for dan-
ger's sake. We can either interpret this as a defence mechanism against his
own fears or against the fears of his overprotective grandparents. Ronen
really tested the boundaries between life and death around the time his mother
died:

"As far as accidents and things like that are concerned, I used to test my-
self a lot, in the time between the army and my mother dying (1) and doing
crazy things in the car and all kinds of things like that, driving into intersec-
tions at crazy speeds (6)... I don't know like a person who's not really con-
scious".

Another way Ronen dealt with the issue of death was by joining the Mis-
ta'arevim unit in the army: "In the army, there were very few moments when I
felt I wasn't in danger of dying... But on the other hand it served a need to
overcome obstacles and to survive".

Like his father, Ronen also tries to put some distance between himself
and his Holocaust past by orienting himself on the Israeli ideal of the fighter-
soldier. He, too, attributes more importance to the Memorial Day to Fallen
Soldiers: "Today I can say clearly, the Memorial Day to Fallen Soldiers is
much closer to me than the Memorial Day to the Shoah and Heroism".
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This is a way for both him and his father to deal with issues of death and
mourning, which are central issues in this family, through a symbolic day that
allows them to avoid dealing with the painful details behind the symbol. This
symbol allows the son and grandson to link the delegation to fight with their
actual life histories. At the same time, they try to separate their lives from the
past of the Shoah and the untold, but very much sensed, experiences of pow-
erlessness and helplessness. Through their professional activism and by be-
coming fighters, they try to heal the helplessness that their parents and grand-
parents, resp., suffered. In the process, the grandson in particular finds him-
self in a moral conflict. Ronen fights with serious guilt feelings in connection
with his "military" operations. The dual role of victim and aggressor is both
confusing and threatening for him. And yet it is worth recalling here that he
experiences his grandparents in this dual role as well. On the one hand, they
are victims who need to be protected, and on the other, in certain situations
they are aggressors. Ronen knows the stories about Amos beating his sons; he
says that when his father was a child his grandfather beat him with a belt. He
reflects on the way he himself acts out suppressed aggression: "I fly into fits
of rage a lot and, it's not, not really clear, until I actually have them, I can
suddenly lose it, just about little things as if, and I fly off the handle".

As we have seen, Joel repressed his own aggressive impulses because of
the dual role of his father, who on the one hand needed to be protected, who
cried out for his lost mother at night, and on the other, was aggressive. This
family biographical constellation can lead to later generations struggling be-
tween the two extremes of passively enduring and active defending them-
selves. Taking part in military operations in the wars in Israel only served to
heighten this role confusion. In addition, the operations in the Lebanon War
and in the occupied territories brought moral conflicts in their wake. The
grandchildren, who received part of the military socialization within this
framework, suffer from such moral conflicts far more than the generation of
their fathers did (cf. the Stern family 2.5).

Ronen goes a long way to confronting the effects of the persecution in his
grandparents' past on his family. The generational distance allows him to look
more closely than his father can at this past’’. Also, he did not have to take on
responsibility for the grandparents like his father did, and so harbours no ag-
gressions against them and can open up to them more freely. In the same way,
it is sometimes easier for grandparents to establish closer relationships with
their grandchildren. The generational proximity of the first generation and
their children means that the second generation has a very complex relation-
ship to their parents, one that is very often mixed with feelings of obligation,
mutual overprotectiveness, suppressed anger and guilt feelings. Despite, or

37 Carter and McGoldrick (1988) have observed a similar phenomenon in the generation of
the grandchildren of emigrants to the USA: they feel secure enough in their "national"
identity to look more closely at their grandparents' pre-emigration past.
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rather because of this proximity, these relationships lack the openness charac-
teristic of grandparents-grandchildren relationships (cf. Dasberg 1993). With
their grandchildren, the grandparents are able to satisfy their longing for a
sense of continuity (Lomranz 1990, p.113). For them, knowing, that some
continuity to their murdered family members exists, gives meaning to the suf-
fering they went through to survive and eases their feelings of guilt for staying
alive. This desire for continuity and the significance of children for Amos and
particularly for Lena Goldstern has a special meaning as the trauma of the
murdered children of the Lodz ghetto is definitive for the family dialogue (cf.
Chap. 6.1). Moreover, the generational distance gives the grandparents a
chance to relive their experience of parenthood with their grandchildren while
at the same time allowing them to reconcile themselves with the mistakes of
the past. This can repair their experience of having been inadequate parents.
For grandparents who are survivors, this feeling is often even stronger as their
parenting was done in an atmosphere of mourning and loss. This sense of
repairing the past is partially due to seeing that their grandchildren are healthy
and "normal" which in turn vouches for the "normalness" of the grandparents.
For Ronen, his grandfather is the main person who has become important to
him as someone he can talk to: "If I talk to anybody it's my grandfather 1
mean uh (2) we're pretty good friends, I mean uh, we have no problem talk-
ing to each other for a long time and (6) that's it and he feels comfortable
talking to me 'cause I'm more open".

Ronen's relationship to his grandfather is more open than to his father,
and part of the reason for this is that his grandfather has no problems letting
him go. Ronen accuses his father of not allowing him to separate from him:

"My father, apparently 'cause he hasn't grown up enough, so he needs
me alone, he can't accept me being with anyone else, I'm 22 years old and he
needs me alone, but, I wish when he needed me and I come that he would
then sit down and talk to me, but what happens is he talks to me for two min-
utes and goes back to his jobs"

Ronen's communication with his father is full of misunderstandings, accusa-
tions, and pain. Just like Joel, Ronen rebels and closes himself off, but at the
same time tries to fulfil his father's expectations. It is extremely important to
him to please his father and gain his love. He speaks with longing and pain of
moments when his father has stood by him and supported him. He says that
family is the most important thing anyone can have in life.
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7. Surviving as inmate-functionaries: The Shapiro/Sneidler
family

Three sisters who survived in very different situations: Ariela,
Rebecca and Edna Shapiro

Noga Gilad and Gabriele Rosenthal

While the three sisters in the Genzor family (2.2) survived their time in the
camp together, in the Shapiro family we interviewed three sisters who sur-
vived in camps separately and suffered very different fates.

The Shapiro family lived in Carpatho-Ukraine, an area that belonged to
Hungary until World War I, was then made part of Czechoslovakia, and was
given back to Hungary in March 1939. After World War II, the region was
annexed by the Soviet Union. About 15% of the population were Jews,
roughly half were Ukrainians, and a third were Hungarians (Encyclopedia
1995, p. 1419). The Jewish men of Carpatho-Ukraine were sent to forced-
labour camps from 1941 onwards, among them the sons of the Shapiro fam-
ily. Deportations to the annihilation and concentration camps only got under-
way after the German occupation of Hungary in March 1944. Only 20% of
the Jews from Carpatho-Ukraine survived persecution. Most of the survivors
decided to leave the region after the Soviet Union had annexed it, emigrating
to Israel and other countries after a brief stay in Bohemia (ibid, p. 1421).

Of the six sons and four daughters in the Shapiro family, nine children
survived the Shoah. This is something that the three sisters, Ariela, Rebecca
andEdna, repeatedly emphasized in the interview. They see it as a sign that
they are a blessed family, protected by God. Rebecca says: "We're the only
family in the world where nine out of ten children came back.”

The family's eldest child in the family, Saul, was born in 1909 and the
youngest, Eva, in 1925. Eva and her parents did not survive the persecution.

The family history before persecution

The Shapiro sisters”® parents came from Budapest and Bratislava to Car-
patho-Ukraine at the turn of the century. Their father, a qualified accountant

38 Ariela Dgani, Rebecca Sneidler and Edna Har-Zvi were interviewed by Noga Gilad in
1993-4 in Hebrew.
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from Bratislava, worked on the estate of an Austrian prince. Both parents
immigrated to this multi-cultural region from the developed "heart" of the
Austro-Hungarian Empire. The family identified with German culture and
liberal European Judaism. Their mother was socially and politically active in
WIZO (Women's International Zionist Organisation). The parents managed to
give their four eldest children, three sons and Ariela a university education.

Ariela (born in 1912) finished high school and went on to study German
and Czech in Bratislava. Of the three sisters, she is considered the intellec-
tual, and the clever one. After her marriage, she lived in her husband's home-
town in Hungary and gave birth to a son in 1941. During this period, she
worked as a seamstress. In the interview with her, we discovered very little
about this phase of her life before Auschwitz. She lost her son at the ramp in
Auschwitz-Birkenau, and her husband did not survive the camps.

Rebecca was born in 1918 andas the sixth child, she was the middle one
in the family. She tells us that she and her younger siblings had far less
schooling than the elder children. She still recalls warm, hearty Sabbath eve-
nings at the family table. While the elder daughter Ariela served the parents
and the five older children, Rebecca served the five younger children at table.
They joked about "the lower class" and "the upper class", dividing Rebecca
from her five elder siblings. All three sisters explain the difference between
the elder ones and the younger ones as one of age and education. But Rebecca
found a way out of her "inferior position" in the family hierarchy of looking
after the others. In the triad of sisters, Rebecca took on the role of the pretty
one. She tells us: "They always said they had to marry off Ariela 'cause Re-
becca's growing up, and I was prettier."

Rebecca and her siblings received some schooling from their mother,
who prized German literature and poetry very highly. Rebecca is still able to
recite a number of the poems that her mother taught her. But she has very
ambivalent feelings about doing so and about speaking German in general.
She tells us how, in an act of revenge, she burned the German books of a
German doctor who had left Czechoslovakia, shortly after the liberation. To
this day, she wishes she had kept these books.

When the German Wehrmacht invaded in March 1944, Rebecca was
staying with her sister-in-law in Ushgorod, the Carpathian capital. She was
there to help deliver her sister-in-law's baby. They were taken to the city
ghetto together in April 1944 (cf. Sdei-Ur 1994). Rebecca talks mainly about
how hard it was with the newborn baby, whom she felt co-responsible for.
She, her sister-in-law and the baby were put on a transport to Auschwitz to-
gether. Rebecca was engaged to be married; her fiancé did not survive perse-
cution.

Edna was born in 1920, two years after Rebecca, and shares many of her
childhood memories. Edna paints a disparaging portrait of herself as a young
child, depicting herself as a spoiled and weak girl, who had problems with
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self-esteem, and longed for her parents' affection. She, too, speaks of her
mother's love of German culture and of her father, whose motto in life was:
"A sound mind in a sound body". In the interview with Edna, we get a sense
of her competitiveness with Rebecca. Edna feels inferior to her sister and
feels forced into the role of the "little sister".

Edna was taken to the ghetto in Munkacs with her parents and her
younger siblings and from there was also put on a transport to Auschwitz.

Surviving in Auschwitz and other camps

Arrivals at Auschwitz were divided into those who were allowed to live for
the time being and those who were to die immediately. This was a crucial
moment, as the guards selected those on the ramp who were considered “wor-
thy of life' - the young and healthy ones - from those who were not - the chil-
dren, the sick and the elderly - who were immediately gassed and their bodies
burned. For all three sisters, Ariela, Rebecca and Edna, this selection proce-
dure on the ramp at Auschwitz was one of the most painful things they ex-
perienced during the persecution. All three women lost their closest relatives
in this procedure. Edna was the first of the three sisters to arrive at Auschwitz
with her parents, her youngest brother Nathan and her sister Eva in 1944. She
was separated from her father, her brother and her mother on the ramp at
Auschwitz. She never saw her parents again. Her sister did not survive the
camp. Ariela arrived at Auschwitz with her parents-in-law, her husband and
her three-year-old son. Her son and her parents-in-law were murdered right
after their arrival at Auschwitz. Her husband survived in the camp for a while,
but was later murdered in a forced-labour camp in Germany. Rebecca went
through a traumatic separation from close relatives at Auschwitz-Birkenau,
too, in June 1944. She was put on a transport with her sister-in-law and the
baby, both of whom were murdered in the gas chamber. How do these three
sisters talk about these traumatic separations now, and what did they go
through in the annihilation and concentration camps?

Ariela speaks of the traumatic separation from her three-year-old son at
Auschwitz:

"We arrived at Auschwitz, when I got off the train, the doors were
opened, there were already inmates in striped uniforms. One said in Yiddish
that I should give the child to his grandmother, because if I worked there
would be something for his grandmother and me to live on. It was a lie. 1
believed it, everyone clutches at straws, I actually gave him ((her son)) to his
grandmother, three times I ran back to get him, until [ was standing in front
of Dr. Mengele, he asked whose child is this, the grandmother took him and a
good friend of mine with a small nine-year-old they took the child. He ((her
son)) called out to me to come back, the child called out, I was glad someone
had taken him I didn't have the strength, we hadn't eaten during the journey,
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I don't know for how many days, there was no food there was no water, we
were a mess all of us, until we got off ((the train)), it was good a bit of air,
‘cause there were no windows... before we even arrived at Auschwitz some
had fallen asleep forever, some young ones like myself somehow reached Dr.
Mengele, and he separated us, my husband was still saying, just before that,
‘don't forget to give the child to mama', and later when we had passed
through this procedure, we met, just for a minute, he said ‘it's too bad you
gave him to her maybe you can still get him back’, that's what he said, I was
stupid."”

This traumatic separation from her three-year-old son has stayed with Ariela
all her life and, time and again, has weakened her will and courage to live.
She reproaches herself, accuses herself of stupidity and ignorance for not
knowing what they were being selected for at the ramp. In the interview,
Ariela repeatedly expressed her wish to die and talked about her quarrel with
God for allowing her child to be murdered. Despite this quarrel, she says that
she is grateful to God for her own survival:

"Later something happened I felt special powers looking after me, in the
most difficult conditions, I didn't want to, something happened, I sensed that
someone is pushing me along, and taking care of me, I could tell because I'm
religious, even though I was completely firee, do you understand?"

Today, Ariela is the most religious of the sisters.

Ariela was in Auschwitz-Birkenau for three months. She was able to bet-
ter her situation there somewhat by doing tailoring and sewing work for a
female SS guard. She says that every day the SS guard had a blouse sewn for
a Jewish woman whom she was presumably having a lesbian relationship
with, and who lived with her in the barracks. Ariela was given bread in ex-
change for her work. In October 1944, Ariela was transported from Ausch-
witz to a forced-labour camp near Breslau. Towards the end of the war, mem-
bers of the Volkssturm, the "people's army"*, were sent there as guards.
Ariela got to know one of them, a 52-year-old German from Breslau, who
helped her in the weeks that followed. He regularly slipped her food. It was
primarily thanks to his help that she survived the death march to the Gross
Rosen concentration camp. In her conversations with him, she got to know a
German who was different than the others whom she had only known until
then as persecutors. He gave her the feeling that there were Germans who did
not strip her of her humanness because she was Jewish. She tells of her part-
ing from him:

39  On 25 September 1944, Adolf Hitler decreed that all men of German citizenship between
the ages of 16-60 were to be conscripted to serve in the Volkssturm to "defend their native
soil".

94



"We were brought to Gross Rosen, it was a notorious camp, a huge camp,
with an electric barbed wire fence. My guard hadn't believed me when I told
him that they'd taken my child, but here he believed me. He had to stay out-
side, we cried, we parted and I never saw him again."

She still speaks with deep gratitude of this man, whom she refers to as "my
guard”, and asked us to make contact with him or his children. She regrets
never having written to him. She tells us that there are two things in her life
that she has left undone: thanking this man and visiting the grave of her first
husband, who was buried in Germany.

From Gross Rosen, she was put on a transport to Bergen-Belsen, where
she was liberated in April 1945.

Let us turn now to the middle sister, Rebecca. She arrived at Auschwitz
with her sister-in-law and the baby:

"When we arrived at Auschwitz, the train was opened so fast, it's impos-
sible to describe, we were left empty-handed, everyone was. I got out with
just whatever I was wearing, my sister-in-law got out with the baby and a
little pillow. And before we knew it we were lined up, men separate, women
separate, and were standing in front of Mengele. I remember how he stood
with his legs apart, with a stick in his hand and a giant dog, and was already
doing left-right. When our turn came he asked “whose baby is it' in German,
and we both answered "mine' [in German], so he asked “who's the mother?’
And then my sister-in-law said she was the mother, so he ordered me to give
her the child, and when I gave her the child then, and she had a pillow in her
hand he gave her such a kick with his leg that the pillow fell on the ground,
and so he ordered her to go left and I tried to catch my sister-in-law's eye to
look good-bye, because right and left, I didn't know what else would happen
but I tried to catch her eye to say good-bye, but our eyes never met again in
this life, she looked at the ground with great pain at the pillow that was on
the ground and the child that was left in her arms with nothing and she went.
I never saw her again in my life"

While Ariela has to live with the trauma of her child having been murdered,
Rebecca feels guilty for surviving because she had no child, as opposed to her
sister-in-law who perished. This experience is a painful one which the two
sisters have in common but which divides them at the same time. In the joint
interview with both of them40, Rebecca asked her sister to tell the German
interviewer about the persecution in her past and repeatedly emphasized that
Ariela had suffered more than she had. However, Rebecca could barely listen
to what her sister was saying, but rather kept escaping from the interview to

40 This interview was conducted by Gabriele Rosenthal and Noga Gilad in 1996. Ariela pri-
marily spoke German with G. Rosenthal, while Rebecca sometimes spoke Hebrew in paral-
lel discussions with N. Gilad.
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do jobs around the house. Ariela's trauma triggered her own traumatic experi-
ences. And yet it was important to Rebecca that this part of the persecution in
their past be told by Ariela, and to the German interviewer in particular. Re-
becca was also the one who insisted that her younger sister Edna be inter-
viewed. She wanted to be present at this interview, because she had never
allowed Edna to tell her how their youngest sister Eva died and how the two
of them were separated from their parents. While Edna was telling the story
of what happened, Rebecca could barely allow herself to cry. Here again, she
began to busy herself with housework. As we will see below, her daughter
uses a very similar defence mechanism in the family interview.

What did Rebecca go through herself in the camp? Shortly after her arri-
val in Birkenau, she met her younger sister Edna who was working in the
Canada commando. This was "concentration-camp jargon for the warehouse
area at Birkenau where all clothing and food confiscated from incoming in-
mates was sorted, prepared, and stored." (Linden 1993, p. 167). Edna had
heard, that a transport from Ushgorod had arrived, and she was on the look-
out for her sister. To be allowed to do this, she had to bribe an SS guard with
a beautiful women's coat. Edna caught sight of Rebecca standing naked in a
line waiting to be "shaved". In her joint interview with Rebecca, Edna says: "/
found her, the beautiful hair she had, she was beautiful, she stood in line,
everyone was already naked. I knew they would cut off her hair. But I didn't
tell her ((starts to cry))".

Edna cries and it comforts her somewhat to be able to tell us that she
managed to slip her sister a piece of bread. These little things, these gestures
of mutual help, offer the women some comfort now, as they did at the time.
Rebecca had only been in Auschwitz-Birkenau three days, when she was de-
ported to the Riga-Kaiserwald concentration camp®'. This concentration camp
in Latvia was one for both female and male inmates. It started up on 15
March 1943 and evacuation began on 6 August 1944. At first, Rebecca did
hard forced labour in an armaments installation, suffering terribly from cold,
hunger and loneliness as well, as she had no acquaintances. She says that she
managed to create a sense of belonging for herself by cutting portions of
bread into two for pairs of women who were unable to divide up the single
piece allocated to them to their satisfaction. Like her sister, it comforts Re-
becca that she was sometimes able to help others in the camp.

Rebecca was put in charge of her barrack. She explains the fact that she
was chosen by a female SS guard to be "Senior Block Inmate" (Blockdlteste)
in charge of 150 prisoners through her knowledge of German®. This position

41 For details of this concentration camp, cf. Schwarz 1990, p. 185.

42 "Each barrack had its own Senior Block Inmate, nominated by the Senior Camp Inmate
and confirmed by the camp headquarters. He was responsible to the Block Leader for eve-
rything that happened within his domain. ... the Senior Block Inmate picked as his assis-
tants two or three Barrack Orderlies, who had to be confirmed by the Senior Camp Inmate.
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meant that she no longer had to work outside the camp with the rest of the
inmates, and that she was given extra food rations. This and many other privi-
leges made her repeatedly stress in every meeting with us that: "I had it best
of all the sisters and brothers".

She says little of her own suffering. Rather, she talks primarily of what
she actually did, of the positions she held in the various camps and of the
situations where she was able to help other inmates. In contrast, she barely
touches on the theme of the painful experiences she went through, of having
to watch other inmates die, of her own fears or guilt feelings.

In August 1944, when the Soviet Army was advancing towards Riga-
Kaiserwald, the camp was evacuated and the inmates transported by train to
the Stutthof concentration camp near Danzig. After a week there, Rebecca
and a number of others were selected for what she feared was the gas cham-
ber, as she was ill at the time, but what turned out to be forced labour in Ger-
many:

"Later one day, again again there was a selection procedure, we stood in
line, always five in a line, ... the minute they said "Appell” (roll call), if there
weren't five of you, you got terrible beatings, so we were scared the minute
they said "Appell”, we'd already formed a group of five ... and then they se-
lected us, I remember I had a fever then, and I cried terribly the whole time,
and I thought this is the end for me but, I was sent to a labour camp".

Having arrived in the forced-labour camp in Germany, Rebecca was nomi-
nated as work team leader (Arbeitsfiihrerin). Here, too, Rebecca says she
owed this appointment to her knowledge of German. This position meant that
Rebecca was responsible for organizing forced-labour teams and above all for
supervising and reporting on the inmates' "fitness for work". Thus, here too,
she was in the very difficult position of on the one hand being able to help
fellow inmates, but on the other, because of the camp system, of being forced
to cooperate with the SS and being involved in the "selection procedures".
How does Rebecca speak about this herself? Rebecca recounts that this posi-
tion allowed her to remain in the camp while the other inmates were forced to
work in a distant aircraft factory. She says that she had to take care of sick
inmates. She talks about being responsible for bringing sick inmates to the
revier and writing a daily report for the camp commandant. The consequences
that these reports could have emerge clearly in her story of two women who
were murdered; one of them because she had been crippled and the other be-
cause she was pregnant. Rebecca could not get out of making these reports, a
task imposed on her by the SS: "Generally no one dared say anything. But, in
such difficult cases, uh we had to tell, right."

They were responsible for maintaining order and distributing (food) rations... they were of-
ten under considerable pressure from the SS". (Kogon 1950, p. 62)
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In March or April 1945, Rebecca was selected by an SS guard for what
turned out to be a transport to a forced-labour camp near Leipzig:

"That's it so one day the "Aufseherin” (guard) came and selected 150,
including me, and I thought this is the end, I cried a lot to tell the truth, and
we were all afraid, and we were taken away at night, on a train to Leipzig,
and we were taken to B."

Rebecca says that when they arrived in Leipzig, the female SS officer who
already knew Rebecca made her "Senior Camp Inmate" (Lager<lteste)*. She
was allowed to choose two inmates to help her as her assistants:

"I had to choose, and one, a nurse, she came from Ushgorod, there were
three of us, me the Senior Camp Inmate and two more I had to help me. I got
this black stripe, which said Lageriilteste, ... and I could go out to the Ober-
sturmfiihrer (commander) if I had to, because I had that, and a whistle"

In this position Rebecca says that she had better food and improved living
conditions, sharing a separate barrack with her two assistants. Some of the
inmates she was in charge of worked in the woods. Rebecca says that it was
important for the others to be seen to be working, even if they were doing
nonsensical jobs. "I decided that work had to be done in the yard, what's the
yard, collecting stones and putting them on one side, the next day putting
them back, but not working was impossible”. She describes her position as
dependent on the cooperation of the inmates: "I had to go from room to room,
from barrack to barrack, and beg them to come to work for one hour, 'cause
otherwise- I would have been hanged, so out of mercy on me, and they liked
me a lot because I wasn't uh- I was good just good, and, I did things you
weren't allowed to do but when you're young you don't think, you just act”.

It emerges how much Rebecca tries to see herself in this imposed role as
the helper of her fellow inmates. To illustrate how much danger she herself
was in and how the SS forced her to do what she did, she describes a situation
where a mother was separated from her daughter in one of the selection pro-
cedures. Rebecca told them to change places with another couple so that they
could stay together, and told all the inmates to keep it a secret: "a hundred
and fifty people knew, and I said, no one knew anything, they just did it on
their own, or else they would have shot every tenth one of us". When the SS
guard discovered that they had swapped places, Rebecca was ordered to take
the young girl to the camp commandant. Rebecca describes her fear very viv-
idly: "we were afraid we'd die", and goes on to tell us that in the end, the pun-

43 "Among the prisoners there was an official and extensive system of self-government with
the Senior Camp Inmate, appointed by the SS, as its head. ... The S. C. L. was the respon-
sible representative of the prisoners before the SS. ... his job was crucial and dangerous,
and to take it on required courage and character. The wrong man in this spot meant untold
harm to the camp." (Kogon 1950, p. 60-61)
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ishment turned out to be just cutting the young girl's hair off. The next day
this forced-labour camp was liquidated. The inmates were sent on a death
march towards Dresden. Masses of inmates marched in different directions,
and thousands of corpses lay by the roadside. In the interview, Rebecca was
only able to speak of her helplessness when she arrived at the point in her
story where her group was finally liberated by the US army. She says that she
just sat down and started to cry, and it was only later that she felt up to look-
ing for food. She adds that everyone was too exhausted and starved to take
revenge on the two female SS guards, who took off their uniforms and put on
inmates' uniforms. Edna, the younger sister, still has painful memories of the
ghetto in Munkacs. In tears, she told us of how, completely unexpectedly, a
German soldier suddenly started beating her father. Rebecca, who was present
at the interview, was amazed at this story, and said that she had never heard it
before. Her response to Edna's crying was: "Don't get so upset”. Turning to
the interviewers, she commented: "After 50 years she's crying. That's the dif-
ference between us, I talked about it. So today it's easier for me, but she
never wanted to talk about it".

Edna arrived at Auschwitz with her parents and two younger siblings. She
describes how she was separated from them although her mother struggled to
defy Mengele and stay with her children:

"We got out with mother and father, suddenly, they took father and my
brother away, and we kept walking with mother and they took us away from
mother, we ran after her and started crying. I think it was Mengele, he said
‘what are you running after your mother for like that, you're going to see her
this evening, you're all going to meet up in the evening, you're going to work
and everyone's going to meet up in the evening'. ... And mother cried terribly
and shouted “you should let them stay with me, I don't have anyone any
more, leave me them, I want to go with them.' ... But he yanked us from her
hands, and we cried all the way, and my sister was so weak, she was sick."

After this violent separation from her mother, Edna devoted all her care and
love to her sister Eva, who had a lung disease. In Auschwitz-Birkenau, she
managed to get work in the Canada commando, where she was able to get
some food and clothing to help her sick sister. In the interview, Edna's fear of
her own annihilation was mixed with fear for the life of her sick sister. She
said that a Senior Block Inmate had threatened her during roll call once:
"Look after her ((her sister)) or they'll burn her'. And I took her". Edna
started to cry at this point, and Rebecca, remembering her own position in the
camp, said in reference to this Senior Block Inmate: "She never came back”.

Edna went on to describe how she used to look after her sister every day
when she came back from the commando. They took turns trying to get each
other to eat their own food rations and were mocked by the other inmates for
their solidarity:
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"In the corner sat two other sisters from our hometown who said, ‘what do
you think, that you're still a Shapiro, you're still in A.?' They were always
fighting among themselves: “you took more than me'. And I cried, because |
was thinking about my sister all the time, how hungry she is, and I eat and
she's so sick".

In January 1945, Edna and Eva were sent on a death march and then put on a
transport in an open cattle wagon via Ravensbriick to a camp in Northern
Germany. Edna was very worried that Eva would not survive the transport.
When they arrived in the camp, Eva was so weak that Edna had to bring her
to the revier. She was terribly worried about her sister and feared that she
would be murdered: "We were afraid they would take her to the crematorium,
or kill her". Edna cried desperately as she told us of her sister's death:

"The night she died my friend came to tell me that her last word had
been my name. But before that I went in to her with potatoes and kissed her,
and told her "Eva, eat for me, because I can't stand it if you don't eat’. ... The
next morning we were lined up, I saw them taking the dead, I knew she was
among them, but they didn't let me go, to see where they were taken, fifteen
days later I was liberated."

Thus, Edna experienced the liberation just fifteen days later, full of grief at
the death of her younger sister. Rebecca cut into the interview at this point,
speaking of her more privileged situation in the camp:

"I didn't have such a hard time of it as Israela ((her daughter's name))
uh, as Edna. Because I was alone. I didn't know, I was lucky 'cause my father
was always looking after me. I felt it. And I always held a position. I don't
know why they picked me."

At this point a dialogue ensues in which we can sense a certain amount of
bitterness on Edna's part.

Rebecca: "I had an easier time of it, and I came out healthier. Those
who worked got a bowl of soup."

Edna: "We worked and didn't get one"

Rebecca: "True, because you did a different kind of work. Our work-"

Edna: "I know “was essential"

Rebecca: "Essential, no I'm saying, that you were- [ was alone that's
why I had an easier time of it. I was strong, too"

Edna: "No. I was strong".

Rebecca tries to mitigate the competitiveness that emerges here by saying in a
conciliatory tone: "Actually a strong family. That's how we stayed nine. ...
That comes from our parents."
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After the liberation: starting a new life

After she was liberated, Ariela returned to Prague and met up with her broth-
ers and sisters. In 1945, Ariela was 33 years old. In 1947, she married
Yanush, a forced-labour camp survivor, who had lost his wife and little
daughter in Auschwitz. They both agreed not to talk about the past. Their first
son Shimi was born in 1948. One year later, they emigrated to Israel, where
their daughter Ofra was born in 1950. Ariela and her husband ran a textiles
store until Yanush died in 1984.

Ariela was plagued by fears that stemmed from the horrors she had ex-
perienced. She says that when her son was a baby, whenever he was sick she
refused to give him to a doctor, afraid that she would lose him, too. Her son
got married and had two young children of his own. Several years ago, his
wife died suddenly of cancer, and now Ariela lives with his family. Even
though she is eighty-four years old and very sick herself, Ariela feels obliged
to take on the role of mother for her grandchildren. She also worries about her
daughter Ofra* and her family a lot. Ofta lives with her husband and her six
children in a Jewish settlement on the Golan Heights and knows she may one
day have to leave this area. Ariela associates this with her life in Carpatho-
Ukraine and argues that no Jewish government should drive out Jewish citi-
zens.

Ofra Dgani is the first "Sabra" of this family, and she clearly distin-
guishes between her parents' life histories, which she presents under the theme
of "Jewish life in the Diaspora", and her own life history as a pioneer who
"has done everything with her own hands" on the Golan Heights. Unlike Re-
becca's daughter Israela, Ofra speaks at length in the interview about the per-
secution in her parents' past. She addresses the theme of her father's and her
mother's murdered children. This is the part of the persecution in their past
that she finds the most threatening. She tries to heal the generation of mur-
dered children by emphasizing the number of offspring in each branch of her
family, and in her own life by having six children herself. It is striking that in
her family sculpture, she places her murdered half-sister and half-brother very
close to herself and uses the same colour codes that she uses for her own chil-
dren to depict them.

The remembrance of these murdered children is something that is also
very present in the life of the granddaughter Meirav Raz* (born in 1974). The
first story that she tells in the interview is of how Mengele selected her
grandmother to live, a story that her mother told her when she was four years
old. Until recently, Meirav often thought about which of her siblings she

44  Ofra Dgani, Ariela's daughter, was interviewed in 1995 by Bettina Volter and Noga Gilad
in English.

45 Meirav Raz, the granddaughter, was interviewed in 1995 by Bettina Volter and Noga Gilad
in English.
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would have rescued in such a selection procedure. She is haunted by night-
mares where she is hiding in a synagogue and the Nazis are looking for her.
As a pregnant, married woman, she stresses that it is very important for her
that her grandmother lives to see her great-grandchild.

Having children is an important theme in Edna's family, too. She married
a man who survived as a partisan with his father. Like her sister Ariela, Edna
hardly spoke with her husband about the persecution. After immigrating to
Israel in 1950, she studied social work at university. She went on to work
with underprivileged children, to compensate for the fact that she could not
have any children herself. When in 1954 she did become pregnant against all
odds, she carried the child to full term against the advice of her doctor. Today
her son is married and has three sons of his own. She says herself that she still
has a symbiotic relationship with her son: "My daughter-in-law says, if he
could go inside your womb again, he would".

After the liberation, Rebecca returned to Carpatho-Ukraine first and met
two of her brothers there. Like her sisters, she also went back to Bohemia,
initially to Prague. There she met Herman Sneidler, who came from Munkacs
and had survived Auschwitz. At first, the couple lived in a health resort in
Bohemia, marrying in 1947. Their eldest daughter Israecla was born here in
1948. The birth of her daughter triggered Rebecca's fears. She became afraid
that the German soldiers would come back and take her child. It was only
when she emigrated to Israel in 1950 that she began to feel safer:

"[ felt released when I arrived in Israel, because there ((in Bohemia)) I
always thought that, I dreamt that the Germans would come back, because
we were even living in apartments from Germans, you see? So the recurring
dream was that one knocks on the door, that they come back, so I always hid
Israela, I dreamt how I protected her, that I lay over her so that they would-
n't shoot her, just me."

Her son Yochanan was born in 1952.

She speaks about her husband Herman in much same way that she talks
about her sister, saying that unlike herself, he hardly ever spoke about the past
until a few years ago. She says that this is one of the reasons why he suffered
far more than she did from the persecution right until his death in 1993: "He
never talked about it either, but, once he started to talk about it later, but he
didn't- he wasn't liberated until his death".

In contrast to Herman, Rebecca held talks in schools about the persecu-
tion and met with survivors to talk about the Shoah. She argues that her hus-
band had no wish to meet with survivors: "He didn't want to hear anything
about the camp any more, he went through an awful lot, a thousand times
more than I did".
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Learn, Observe and Study: The Sneidler family
Noga Gilad, Yael Moore and Gabriele Rosenthal

The grandfather Herman Sneidler: Responsible for looking after the twins and
dwarves in Auschwitz

Herman®® was born a twin in 1915 and lived with his family in Munkacs in
Carpatho-Ukraine. Besides his twin sister, he had two younger brothers.
When he was older, Herman went to business school and studied accounting.
His father, who was in the same profession, gave his children the message
that education was the most important thing in life. In the interview, Herman
repeatedly referred to his father's message, which he passed on to his own
children, too: "You have to learn. You can eat dry bread and onions. But fill
your head with whatever you can because no one can take that away from
you. That was his motto: learn, learn, just learn”.

Herman wanted to get ahead, too. In 1937, at the age of twenty-two, he
enlisted in the Czech army and went to an officers' academy. He identified
with the new state of Czechoslovakia, founded after World War I; in his view,
Carpatho-Ukraine was occupied by the Hungarians and liberated by the
Czechs. This sense of belonging culturally to the Czech nation is something
he shares with his wife Rebecca.

When Carpatho-Ukraine was annexed by Hungary, Herman served
briefly as a soldier in the Hungarian army. Then he was arrested and made his
way from one forced-labour camp to another. In 1944, he was deported to
Auschwitz-Birkenau with his parents, his sister, her son and her husband. His
younger brothers survived in forced-labour camps. He saw his parents for the
last time on the ramp at Auschwitz, where he and his sister Eva were selected
to "live", because the camp physician Josef Mengele was interested in them
for his experiments. Mengele deceived Eva into thinking that her seven-year-
old son had been taken to a children's barrack. She herself was taken to the
women's camp. It was only some time later that Eva realized her son had been
murdered in the gas chamber right after they had arrived. Her husband did not
survive the camp either. Herman was put in what was known as the "twins'
block", which was about one hundred meters from the crematorium, near
where the Sinti and Roma were housed in what was known as the family
camp for gypsies.

Before we go into Herman's experiences in Auschwitz-Birkenau in more
detail, a few remarks about the situation of the twins, who were designated for
Mengele's experiments, are perhaps called for. Josef Mengele, who became
camp physician in Auschwitz-Birkenau in May 1943, had an experimental

46 Herman Sneidler was interviewed by Gabriele Rosenthal in German in 1991.
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laboratory in the camp where he carried out pseudo-medical experiments on
twins and dwarves. He tortured his victims in the most cruel way imaginable.
He gave them injections to try to change the colour of their eyes or their hair,
had twins sewn together, sterilized them, removed their genitals, inner organs
and limbs, infected them with sicknesses by giving them painful intravenous
injections of typhus and tuberculosis bacteria and tried to do sex change op-
erations on them (cf. Lagnado/Dekel 1991). After the experiments, he mur-
dered his victims by injecting phenol into their hearts, then conducted patho-
logical analyses of their organs and sent them to the Kaiser-Wilhelm Institute
in Berlin (cf. Encyclopedia 1995, p. 942). Of an estimated three thousand
twins, only about a hundred survived. Whenever transports arrived in Ausch-
witz-Birkenau, the guards "searched" for twins. For these children, being se-
lected for Mengele's experiments meant escaping death, if only temporarily.
Some of the child-survivors still have an ambivalent attachment to this doctor,
some still call him "Uncle Mengele", as they did then, and think of him as the
man who treated them in a "friendly" way, gave them sweets and cuddled
them, to whom they believe they owe their lives*’. Herman Sneidler, who was
27 when he arrived in Auschwitz-Birkenau, was spared having to undergo this
doctor's experiments. Mengele gave him the task of taking care of the chil-
dren and dwarves. Herman has an explanation that seems plausible to him for
why Mengele chose him for this position:

"And the first time we saw Mengele, he went past, came back, asked me
‘were you a soldier'. Why? I was standing in front of him like a soldier. Yes,
sir! ((Mr. Sneidler imitates a soldierly posture)). He says: “You're responsi-
ble for the children'. He made me the twinfather. "And if anything happens,

rn

you're a goner".

And this is how Herman Sneidler came to be in the position of having to look
after the children and the dwarves. For him, the pleasant parts of his job in-
volved keeping the children entertained and being able to give them some
schooling in makeshift lessons. Herman saw himself as the twins' father, not
as their "Kapo". But the Nazi doctor Mengele also made Herman his assistant
in his experiments. Herman had to "prepare" the children for the experiments:
he had to bath and wash them before they were taken into Mengele's labora-
tory. When they came out afterwards, he had to take care of them, calm them
down and report back to Mengele on how the "experiments" were progress-
ing.

How does Herman deal with this past today? What does he himself com-
municate about his forced collaboration with camp physician Mengele? In the
interview, he repeatedly spoke about having "three things" to say about it. He

47 For more on interviews with twin-survivors, cf. Lagnado/Dekel (1991). In addition to

the interview with Herman Sneidler, Gabriele Rosenthal conducted other interviews with
twins who survived Mengele's experiments.
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is referring here to three situations in which he was able to help the children.
He told us the story of how one day an officer was given the order to "take
the children to the crematorium at once". Herman reacted immediately: "/
run courage now, it was already dark, run to the gate and say "I want to talk
to Mengele'. Mengele was more than God. Yeah I talk to Mengele, tell him
about it and he gives an order “all back'".

After this story, Herman went on to relate the "second thing". He told us
of a transport where there were two children of roughly the same age who
were dressed alike. He faked their birth dates, making twins of them, and
saved them from being murdered in the gas chamber this way. Evaluating this
deed, he said: "That was the biggest lie that anyone told Mengele. If Mengele
had noticed it, instantly I get a bullet through the head. That is the second
thing and the third thing is that I brought the children home".

After the liberation, the surviving children held him to his promise that he
would bring them home. He set off with 36 children to bring them back to
their "homelands". For Herman, this story concluded his account of Ausch-
witz. He added: "Yes these three things, where I say that is extraordinary,
everything else-." He reduces "everything else" to the statement: "Everyone
knows what Auschwitz was."

Rebecca, who was present in the second half of the interview with Her-
man, took on a very similar role here to the one she assumed during the joint
interview with her sisters. She tried to protect her husband, but in the process
blocked him from talking about the persecution in his past. She kept explain-
ing that her husband had suffered far more than she had, but talked about it
far less. She said that this was why he had suffered more after the liberation
from the after-effects of the persecution than she had. She gave the inter-
viewer the message that her husband had made everything out to be somewhat
simpler than it actually was out of consideration for his listener:

"He stayed. He was in constant fear. More than anything else he was
afraid. He was afraid, he's sitting here calmly now, but he isn't calm, don't
you believe it. And in the early years he was afraid, that he would go crazy. It
was never as simple as he told it. He told it very nicely, but it wasn't so nice.
He wants to make it nice, because he's a good man. He wants to help you.
My husband is a hero. He brought the 36 children home, he saved them."

Here, the interviewer asked Rebecca about a loaded aspect of her husband's
past, with a question about what relationship Herman had to Mengele. Re-
becca replied: "He doesn't feel any hate. That's very interesting. Sometimes
people have said to him, “You talk about Mengele as if he were an angel, the
white angel'. Very interesting."
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The daughter Israela: The many hidden faces of the past

How does Herman and Rebecca's daughter, Israela48, who was born in 1947,
live with her parents' past? How does she speak about the fact that her father
was responsible for the twins and dwarves in Auschwitz and her mother sur-
vived as an inmate-functionary?

But first, let us look at Israela's biography.

The delegations: professional success and victory over the Nazis

Israela, who has been very successful in her professional life, belongs to the
generation of "The New Life" (cf. Gilad 1995), who were brought up by their
parents to compensate directly for their horrible past, marked by loss and
death. They were required to use their own lives to heal their parents' painful
memories. As "Sabre", they were supposed to grow up to be strong Israelis.
The fact that her mother interpreted every step of her life as a victory over the
Nazis made Israela orient herself even more on this image: "I have to empha-
size it, my mother specially used every event that took place in my life as a
victory over the Germans'".

By focusing on victory over the Nazis, her mother blocked out her grief
at the loss of those, who were murdered in the Shoah, and at the pain she had
suffered herself:

"Now concerning the Holocaust, there was not a day my mother didn't
tell us. Every detail but from the perspective of how she had won. How we
survived. How we beat them. Even though we knew that they had lost I mean
lost a brother or lost children".

In Israela's biography, her mother's delegation to beat the Nazis is linked to
her father's delegation to be successful in her career. Professional success is
of crucial importance to her. Israel presents herself with the biographical
global evaluation: "I always wanted to study". Even at school, she was able to
make her parents happy by getting good marks: "Any good mark, they showed
it to all the uncles and aunts, my father took it to work in his bag, meaning
that there was a feeling that- being a good girl is very important to the par-
ents". Her father especially spurred his daughter on to study: "My father
wouldn't let me sit outside after school with the girls. ... "What are you sitting
doing nothing, it's forbidden to do nothing'".

Israela's orientation on her father becomes apparent in the further course
of her life: in the army and in her choice of partner. After she was drafted into
the army, the eighteen-year-old opted for a career as an officer. After her
military service, Israela went on to study psychology. In 1967, at the age of

48 Israela was interviewed in 1994 by Noga Gilad in Hebrew.
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twenty, she married Amnon Lichtenbaum. Amnon comes from a family who
emigrated to Israel in the twenties because they were socialists and who live
on a kibbutz. Amnon is a trained pilot and professional soldier. The couple
moved from one Israeli air force base to another. Their first son, Ethan, was
born in 1971 and their second, Ehud, in 1975. In 1980, the couple went to the
US with their sons to do post-graduate degrees. Their third son Yuval was
born there in 1983. Isracla and Amnon were successfully awarded their doc-
torates and the family returned to Israel. While Amnon went back to work for
the army, Israela embarked on another degree, this time in business admini-
stration.

This change of field was also oriented on her father's values. Israela re-
jected what she saw as psychology's lack of objectivity, opting for a profes-
sional field that was more oriented on "hard facts": "All of a sudden I realized
that my views are as conservative as my father's, who knows what's bad or
good, that law would do, or medicine, because it's hard facts, such black and
white answers'".

Israela has since set up her own business and is very successful at it.

Joy after the Holocaust

Even at the beginning of the interview, when Israela was telling us her early
childhood experiences, it became obvious that she presents herself in the
thematic field of the Holocaust:

"There are a few stories about me, that I got lost and I was saved and |
was undernourished. I remember myself at the age of three or four, strug-
gling to get into the kindergarten 'cause I was younger than all the rest, now
perhaps it's worth noting, that the whole neighbourhood were Holocaust
survivors."

Struggling, surviving undernourishment, getting lost and being found are all
things that are embedded in the field of "Holocaust survivors". Thus Israela
presents the early part of her life within the thematic field of surviving and
struggling against the background of the Holocaust. This presentation contin-
ued throughout the interview. Israela did not talk about her parents' suffering
during the Holocaust. Instead, when she spoke about her family, Israela em-
phasized the themes of harmony, the aesthetics of food, and victory over the
Germans. She idealizes her childhood, continually emphasizing the "positive
atmosphere we grew in", the happiness and joy that her mother always cre-
ated. She stressed the way her mother talked about "how we beat the Ger-
mans". It is painful for Israela to look at the horrors of the past. However, she
does reflect on the emotional denial in the way she deals with the Holocaust.
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When she talked about her husband's involvement in the war of attrition®
against Egypt, she argued:

"My way of dealing ((with the war)) was a way that was based very much
on the way my parents dealt with the Holocaust: a kind of an absolute denial,
no relation whatsoever to reality...not being aware of the dangers, I kept
studying, like nothing's happening. It's related to the way my parents denied
painful things and just kept going *

Since Israela acknowledges this structure and nonetheless remains trapped in
a structure of denial throughout almost the entire text, it is worth asking -
what is it that is too painful for her to look at?

The horrors of the Holocaust "sneak" into her text. She is quick to silence
them by stressing the joyful atmosphere at home with her parents:

"Even though we knew that they ((members of the family)) lost I mean
that they lost a brother or a a lost children, my mother's sister lost her girl,
the joy of life, I know from friends of mine too, that at our house it was al-
ways so happy and there were lots of aunts and uncles"

When Israela relates to the past, she generalizes experiences, particularly her
mother's; she relates to the theme of the "general suffering of survivors" and
presents her mother as a "typical survivor". Whereas when speaking of her
father in this context, she indicates that he survived "horror", in connection
with her mother, she repeatedly speaks of hunger and of cold:

"He ((her father)) went through horrors, we didn't know, better not ask,
and mother all day long, Shoah, when a piece of bread fell we had to pick it
up, kiss it, remember the hunger in the Shoah and finish everything up- food
and clothes were special topics”.

By using this generalization, she successfully circumvents the realm of her
mother's personal experiences: those of being in a privileged position, being
in charge of others and having better conditions - including more food - than
the other concentration camp inmates. Instead of drawing nearer to this part
of her family past, Isracla concentrated on the theme of food; she talked about
how beautifully food was always decorated and served at home and about the
importance of food in the family. We interpret this as a kind of family myth
that covers up the theme of having had privileges in the camp. Israela physi-
cally expresses her own thoughts about the family's excessive preoccupation
with food through a symptom: "I was not a good eater...I didn't want to eat, 1
was a very thin child, so thin that they told her ((her mother)) that I was un-
dernourished’.

49  After the Six Day War (1967), President Gamel Abdel Nasser of Egypt initiated a war of
attrition along the Suez Canal, which lasted around three years.
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Further on, Israela's unconscious thoughts about her parents' experiences in
the Shoah emerge, especially about her mother's position in the camp:

"My mother used to say to me ‘you can do anything' and then tell me
what she did ((our emphasis)) in the concentration camp. Millions of times 1
heard the stories about the camp. And my father used to say every once in a
while: “a lousy world'- half schizophrenic, on the one hand I can do anything
and on the other hand the world is lousy".

She was given different messages by her father and her mother. We may well
ask what is behind this reference to what her mother did? She tells her daugh-
ter she can do anything; what was she able to do in the camp in her various
positions of "Senior Block Inmate" (Blockdlteste), "Work Team Leader" (Ar-
beitsfiihrerin) and "Senior Camp Inmate" (Lagerdlteste)? Israela does not talk
about this. Likewise, she does not speak about her father's experiences. But
when asked by the interviewer to say something about her father's experiences
in Birkenau, she replied:

"I have stories about twins he dealt with. We only knew that it was very
difficult for him and that you shouldn't ask him, or that you should finish up
all your food. There was a picture of a pair of twins who thanked him for
bringing them home. There was a permission slip at home that Mengele gave
him so he could get 20 cigarettes a day. I didn't want to know more, he didn't
want to talk and I didn't want to ask, I have to ask you what your aim is? *

In Auschwitz, cigarettes were considered a unit of payment; a piece of bread
could be bought on the "Lagermarkt" (camp market) for five to ten, and
sometimes even just one, cigarette (Pawelczynska, 1979, p. 104). Thus, the
mention of a goods receipt for twenty cigarettes a day means that the theme of
her father's privileges is co-present here. Her father's history not only brings
up questions of collaboration but also traumatic themes like experiments on
children, torture and Herman's relationship to Mengele. It is too painful for
Israela to deal with these horrific themes. To change the threatening subject
of the experiments, Israela asks the interviewer about the intention of her re-
search ("what your aim is"), which brings her closer to her own academic
interests. In another sequence in the interview, she presents happy memories
of her father: "I remember him coming back home I was so happy... feelings
of happiness that father's come home ...I didn't dare in my life be angry at
him or think badly of him."

Thinking "badly" is censored: several times in the interview, this sets off
a mechanism whereby Israela changes the subject from talking about her par-
ents' past to relating to the present of the actual interview: "I was born to
them after, after they are released from the army, ah army I say. Do you have
children of your own? I was born to them two years after they were released
from the camps.”
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Locating her parents in the "army" may indicate Israela's fantasy that her par-
ents were different from other survivors. It is also reminiscent of Herman's
being "selected", or chosen, by Mengele for his "Kapo" position because
Mengele realized that he was a soldier. This position meant that he was in
charge of children, and it is at this point that Israela asks the interviewer
whether she has any children. Israela does not allow herself to question her
parents' past, or to express anger towards her father. But how do her aggres-
sions come out? She has to cover them up with harmony. This emerges very
clearly in the following sequence where she speaks in the context of the
Shoah of her fantasies of murdering her brother: "When a piece of bread fell
we had to pick it up and kiss it, because of the Holocaust. I was never given
food that wasn't decorated, one more thing, when my brother was born I was
five years old, I remember I was so excited, I remember I said I'll throw him
down the toilet...we ((she and her brother)) always got on well together."

It must be mentioned here that fantasies like Israela's of throwing the
baby down the toilet are quite common among five-year-olds; what interests
us here is the sequence of associations: in her chain of association, Israela
connects her death wishes towards the baby with her mother's Holocaust ex-
periences. Israela's aggression at being forced "to kiss the bread that had
fallen on the floor" and subjected to stories about the Holocaust all day is
associated with the theme of "killing babies". We could interpret this as her
redirecting this aggression at her brother. But between the lines in this se-
quence is also the hidden theme of children and babies who were murdered in
the Holocaust.

Decorated food may be a symbol for the Holocaust, which was given to
Israela "decorated": "decorated" with the victory over the Germans, covering
other painful themes like suffering, death, torture and forced collaboration.

The grandson Ethan: The observer

Ethan, Isracla and Amnon's first son, was born in 1971. At the time of the
interview, the twenty-three-year-old was serving in an elite unit of the Israeli
army, having enlisted for five years. When he has finished his military ser-
vice, Ethan plans to study so as to be able to have "a real career". His bio-
graphical self-presentation focuses noticeably on the theme of "science". He
presents himself as someone who has been very interested in mathematics and
physics since childhood. Like his mother, he is oriented on "hard facts" and
tried to give the interviewer exact years in the outline of his biography; in
contrast, he does not express his feelings much. Thus, Ethan corresponds to
the image of the young Israeli: "The young Israeli often demonstrates emo-
tional restrain, compulsive avoidance of any pathos ... in a discussion where it

50 Ethan was interviewed by Noga Gilad in 1994 in Hebrew.
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is obligatory to express emotions, young Israelis cling devotedly to a crude
way of articulating them..." (Elon 1981, p. 239).

Let us examine Ethan's individual biography. The first years of his child-
hood were marked by constant transitions as his father's career meant that the
family moved from one air base to another: "I grew up more or less as the
son of a pilot, running around on air force bases. ... Nobody brought me up
to be a pilot and I didn't hear too many hero stories ... It was something fa-
ther did, father's job".

He uses the image of a kibbutz to normalize having grown up in this envi-
ronment: "It was like a kibbutz, just that the fathers of my friends were pilots
too, and our swing was made from the wing of a Syrian plane".

Ethan uses this repair strategy to completely eradicate any trace of the Is-
raeli wars, including the Yom Kippur War of 1973, and of his father's experi-
ences in combat.

This life changed when Ethan was nine and he and his family moved to
the United States. For Ethan, this next phase of his life is linked to spending
time in the research lab where his father was experimenting on animals as part
of his PhD. It was during this time that Ethan found out about the persecution
that his grandfather had experienced in Auschwitz. Herman had come to the
United States for a gathering of the "Mengele twins" and Ethan read all of the
reports that were published about it in the newspapers. Ethan's grandfather
became a hero for the eleven-year-old boy. He saw him as the man who had
saved the twins and brought them home after the liberation.

The things that Ethan observed in the lab are thematically linked for him
to Herman's past in Auschwitz: "Both of my parents were at the Acad-
emy...my father was in the laboratory a little bit...I used to sit with him dur-
ing the experiments...monkeys and cats. It'll be interesting for you the story
about grandfather...the twin who came and met him..."

During these years, Ethan developed his skills as a "child researcher",
both in a special mathematics program for children and by conducting his
own "research projects" at school. He did biophysics research, like his father
was doing in the experiments that he used to watch: "I would sometimes sit
with him during the experiments. ... He would sit in the laboratory and re-
cord results, of monkeys and cats, ... And I would pretend to understand".

Ethan gave a vivid description of the room where the experiments were
conducted, of the special electronic equipment and the way the animals
looked when they were hooked up to the electrodes:

"It was always in some laboratory, always in the centre was some cage,
with a cat, or a monkey that had an electrode in its brain, their head was
open ... They were anesthetized but their eyes were open ... The whole room
was darkened... The truth is that it was quite boring".
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At this point, he hesitated, made a lengthy pause and wondered why he had
stayed in the lab anyway. He concluded that the reason was:

"Either because mom would send me, so that dad isn't alone, or because
1 felt I was a hero if I sit with dad the whole night long. And in the end I de-
cided that I was having fun there. I think it was especially about being with
father".

Ethan felt like a hero, too. For him, the experiments on animals were linked to
the ideal of the heroic observer. We may well ask whether he is uncon-
sciously identifying with his grandfather here. Ethan's description of the
chimpanzees with open craniums also brings this association to mind: one of
the American newspaper articles on the twins' gathering contains a report in
connection with Herman Sneidler on a twin whose cranium was opened by
Mengele, who survived this and now lives in Israel in the neighbourhood
where Ethan's grandfather lived.

Back in Israel, Ethan was present at an interview that a British historian
conducted with his grandfather and even helped with the interpreting. He was
amazed by a list he saw of all the twins who had left Auschwitz with his
grandfather: "Columns of all the twins, numbered, where from, a name,
where to return them to, who their twin was, what happened to their par-
ents".

Like his grandfather, Ethan focused on the part of his history linked with
helping and saving the children:

"Eventually that story became very big, with a lot of details, ... I know
them all. The gist is that he was an "Auschwitz Zwilling' ((twin)), ... He fell
into the hands of Mengele, and since he was practically the oldest twin, he
was appointed by Mengele as being responsible for all the rest of the twins.
And he more or less treated them like, a father, everything they went through,
and like a teacher he did math and history lessons and all those things with
them, all of it was in Auschwitz, from there with hundreds of stories about all
kinds of opportunities he used to save twins".

Ethan also told us the three stories that we had heard from his grandfather; the
"three things" relating to instances where Herman was able to help twins.

But Ethan also has questions about his grandfather's past. For instance, he
is preoccupied with the question of why Mengele chose him for the position
of "twinfather". His explanation is different than the one Herman gave about
it being related to his soldierliness. Ethan explained: "Actually grandfather
was the eldest twin...I guess that his value for experiments was low because
he had a twin sister, these two factors may have led to him being responsible
for the twins, his responsibility was to take care of them, see that they are
organized, collected, that everything's alright with them, that they come on
time and go on time, that was more or less his role..."
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On a latent level, Ethan wonders about the "definition of the position" Her-
man had in the camp, and what it involved besides what Herman has explic-
itly told him about being "the father and teacher of the twins". But when it
comes to the other procedures involved (experiments and torture), Ethan is
only able to give a brief argumentation about his grandfather keeping the
twins in order and making sure they were on time. Ethan has difficulties relat-
ing to the experiments that were conducted on the twins. When he relates to
"that they come on time and go on time", he does not go into detail about
what took place between these different comings and goings: he omits the
time during which the experiments - that were really nothing more than tor-
ture - took place. In contrast to his mother, however, Ethan comes much
closer to his grandfather's experiences in Auschwitz and the threatening ques-
tions that they raise. But unlike her, he did not speak in the interview about
the persecution that his grandmother Rebecca suffered. The extent of his de-
nial of any knowledge of her past becomes very clear in the family interview.

The family dialogue: A family who do not ask
Yael Moore

After several cancelled appointments, a family interview took place in spring
of 1995 in Israela's home. The interviewers were Gabriele Rosenthal and
Noga Gilad, a German and an Israeli. For the first half of the interview, only
Israela and Rebecca were present. Ethan joined in about three-quarters of the
way through and towards the end of the interview Amnon, Israela's husband,
and Ehud, one of the other grandsons, joined in as well.

Writing a summary of the Sneidler's family interview was a difficult task.
Words were debated for hours and then discarded. A commitment to the writ-
ten word seemed dangerous and became an obstacle: especially the use of
words like "experiment" or "science" in relation to Mengele's crimes. It
seemed as though certain words forced the user to enter into the realm of the
Nazi linguistic system. Thus, the act of writing (of self-expression) became, in
a sense, an act of cooperating with and assimilating the "rule of language"
(Arendt 1964). Guarding the language we used made it necessary to have two
systems of words on hand simultaneously: one deriving from the "clean" bu-
reaucracy of Nazi ideology and the other exposing the crimes behind these
euphemisms. Thus, "experiments" for example, means nothing more in this
context than brutal torture. Or choosing between the words "witness" "ob-
serve" or "participate": each one would suggest a different relationship be-
tween Herman and Rebecca and the Nazi persecutors. The question is why
this dilemma took on these dimensions in the case of the Sneidlers. Both of
the Sneidler grandparents were forced to take on a position in the bureaucracy
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of a criminal system. They were the forced mediators between persecutors
and victims. The difficulties inherent in writing about this case mirror the
questions and problems that the Sneidlers have relating to this past.

Herman's experiences of the Holocaust are at the centre of the family dia-
logue. On both a manifest and latent level, the other family members circum-
vent Herman's past. The family dialogue is loaded with attempts to prevent
anyone from touching the core of Herman's past, indeed with attempts to si-
lence this core - his relationship with Mengele and the experiments done on
the twins. These scenes are at the centre of the narratives of all three genera-
tions and are hidden in the family discourse.

Herman died a year before the family interview, an occurrence that in-
creased his centrality in the family dialogue. Talking about him allowed proc-
esses of mourning and remembrance to take place. At the same time, Re-
becca's experiences are actively dismissed by Israela and Ethan. This was
probably also the case when Herman was alive: his special position in the
Holocaust was a bright light in the family. The fact that the family focus on
the persecution in the grandfather's past allows the grandmother's past to re-
main in the sidelines of the family dialogue. The other family members pay
little attention to her past, allowing questions about her positions in the camp
system to be avoided.

The interview was conducted in four languages: Hebrew, German, Eng-
lish and Hungarian. Hungarian was used as Israela and Rebecca's private lan-
guage and was used to form a private "pocket" of communication between the
two, where no one could intervene or ask questions. Even though Rebecca,
the grandmother, does not understand English very well, this was the lan-
guage of open dialogue: when the family wanted almost everyone to under-
stand and be able to communicate, this became the dominant language. He-
brew was the language used for communicating about things outside of the
theme of the Shoah: everyday activities, like making coffee, ordering pizza,
asking for a certain book, etc. No one talked about the Holocaust in Hebrew;
it constituted the language of the "new" reality of the present. And German
was also spoken: the language Rebecca used to communicate her Shoah ex-
periences to the German interviewer alone. This was the language of the
Shoah, of hatred of the perpetrators: the "skill" that helped her being chosen
for a privileged position and also the language of Rebecca's longing for her
mother, who loved German language and culture. These four languages are an
analogy of the pendulum of the family dialogue.

The Myth: Humaneness and Modesty
The grandfather Herman's persecution serves the creation of a family myth.

This myth consists of three main features: Herman's saving children in the
camp, his modesty and his humaneness. The grandmother Rebecca told us:
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"He didn't want to speak. He was very modest". Israela confirmed this by
saying: "At the funeral of my father and during the mourning period every-
one...concentrated on his Holocaust experience and mainly on his very admi-
rable behaviour. We admire his unusual capability to remain human, hu-
maneness.” The grandson Ethan also confirms this image: "It was some sort
of decency, plain human decency in all respects had it been in the Holocaust
or not. A person without- it has nothing to do with himself, everything to do
with everyone else..."

The second and third generation emphasize the aspect of humaneness and
dignity. These abstract, generalized concepts are a means of silencing Her-
man's personal story, the specific details: how he suffered in his capacity of
witness of cruel experiments, his relationship with the twins and especially his
relationship with Mengele. This myth conceals Herman's traumatic experi-
ences. The second and third generations find these experiences so threatening
that they cling very tightly to the myth. It serves to avoid painful questions
about the children, whom Herman could not save, and the situations where his
humaneness was discarded; it serves to protect his descendants from the terri-
ble questions that Herman's personal story raises. Modesty is a repair strategy
for silence. The modest do not speak of their good deeds. Another family
secret hidden behind the myth of modesty is Herman's curiosity. There are
hints that this curiosity led to Herman seeing horrific things. Rebecca gave
this account: "He told me something that he was (3) actually he was where
the revier ((infirmary)) was. He knew everything, because he was very curi-
ous, too. Told me what they did. He saw too, how they laid the bodies in the
bathroom, with the tub full of water. It all, the flesh came off the bones. And
saw how two twins were sewn together. He saw a an awful lot but he didn't
tell everything".

In this sequence, Rebecca has penetrated the thin layer of myth to what
lies beneath it. On a latent level, Israela protested against her doing so and
changed the subject. She turned to her mother and said: "Today you asked me
if I've got bread with me, right?" Israel finds what Herman witnessed - twins
being sewn together, the bathtub, children being tortured - extremely threaten-
ing. Here, this member of the second generation tries to deflect the dialogue
to her own experiences of ways in which the Shoah had an impact on her life.
During the entire interview, it is the grandmother who "drops" hints here and
there about the past. Rebecca is a survivor who wants to talk about her ex-
periences. Perhaps her own experiences during the Holocaust allow her to see
Herman's experiences from a different perspective and have a different sense
of proportion about them than members of the second and third generations.
But whatever the case, whether Rebecca drops hints or not, the second and
third generation make a concerted effort to block all attempts to ask questions
and all curiosity about the past.
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Blocked questions

The second and third generation avoid asking questions about Herman and
Rebecca's past. In the following sequence, Israela indicates how greatly she
feared asking Herman questions about his experiences in Auschwitz: "When
he was alive I wouldn't have dared ask him tough questions and he wouldn't
even have been capable of answering because he wouldn't have wanted to
deny anything and especially not to hurt me.” We may conclude from Is-
raela's argumentation that "tough questions" are doomed to denial. Denial, or
silence, are repair strategies used to avoid the pain of the past, to cover up
Herman's horrific experiences.

Where Herman's history is concerned, a knowledge of actual facts is per-
ceived by the third generation as more frightening than fantasies. Ethan, the
grandson, told us: "I don't think I had anything to ask him, even during the
last few years when he was alive I didn't ask him anything, I guess I didn't
feel the need, it is not important for me to know the actual facts."

Instead of asking questions about the experiences in the first generation's
past, the second and third generations use two repair strategies that allow
them to relate to the past without feeling threatened: using collective experi-
ences of the persecution to conceal individual ones and using abstract, general
ideas to conceal the details. To make her parents' past seem less threatening to
her, Israela avoids her parents' individual experiences. Her son, Ethan, uses
another repair strategy. He avoids all of the details of his grandparents' past.
Instead, he prefers to relate to an abstract global impression of his grandfather
and avoids the specific reality of the past by replacing it with symbolism.

Let us look more closely at these two strategies. Israela relates to the col-
lective story of the Shoah with its scenes of mass murder, hunger and cold,
among others. Hunger and cold both conceal a family secret kept by the first
generation - that they were in a position where they had more food and
clothes than the others. Israela reflects back on the cold she felt, when she
was skiing once, and imagines the cold people suffered in the Holocaust, or
imagines a crowd in a public place in Israel in connection with the Holocaust
to "get" a sense of what mass murder means:

"When I see big groups I always think that the Nazis killed this entire
group. Or the numbers are inconceivable, so, I think of Tel-Aviv, how can a
whole city be erased, hundred, half a million. The Nazis in two months, sys-
tematically killed four hundred thousand, well, you read it, well
you=don't=understand it you try to translate it into reality like that, four
hundred thousand killed."

This sequence was followed by an incredible unrest in the room: suddenly
Israel was talking on the telephone, the younger son was looking for a book,
everyone was talking all at once. When a certain level of concentration de-
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scended on the room again, the German interviewer confronted Israela with a
possible connection between this fantasy and her father's past: "While I was
listening to you (1) I kept thinking of your father who lived next to the gas
chambers in Birkenau'.

Israela, who had said earlier that she was informed about the history of
the death camp, replied that she had not been aware of the location of her
father's barrack. Rebecca responded to this by saying to her in Hungarian:
"He saw everything". Israela translated this into English and commented on it
by remarking that her father had never told her this. Rebecca went on to say,
this time in German, that Herman had seen the Sonderkommando (special
commando)’' at work and had watched them "liquidate" the family camp for
gypsies and lead its inmates into the gas chambers™. Again Isracla asserted
that she had never heard about this from her father. Rebecca again asked her
in Hungarian in an irritated voice whether she was saying that she knew noth-
ing about the gypsies. Here again the daughter referred to her father, thus
distracting from herself: "He never got free from it". It becomes apparent that
Rebecca is willing to talk about Herman's traumatic past in Auschwitz-
Birkenau. She also wants to talk about her own traumatization. Encouraged
by the interviewer, she speaks of how much she is haunted by fantasies about
the death of her parents in the gas chamber: "...I always see my mother that
she's there ((in the gas chambers)) and she can't get any air and father AL-
WAYS, MORE AND MORE" ((Rebecca shouts very loudly)).

When Israela hears this, she cannot bear to listen to her mother's terrible
pain and turns to her son, saying: "Ehud put the phone down", then she turns
to the German interviewer and says: "I'll give you an example my mother told
me." Her mother intervenes, though, wanting to repeat what she has just said
and begins to say it to Israela in Hebrew. But Israela interrupts her and talks
about herself. This interaction is typical of the dialogue structure between
mother and daughter throughout the interview: Israela cannot listen to her
mother. Whenever Rebecca spoke, Isracla walked around, when Rebecca
mentioned her mother's death, Israela ordered a pizza, when Rebecca talked
about her family, Israela spoke to someone on the phone. Thus Israela allows
her mother to speak but blocks any chance of hearing what she says.

It appeared in the interview that whenever Israela was busy doing something
else (talking on the phone, for example), Rebecca felt free to talk about her
past. Israela competes with Rebecca for the floor. On the other hand, it would
seem that from her own perspective, Israela's biography is in the shadow of
the traumatic and problematic biographies of her parents. In other ways, too,
some members of the second generation struggle for the right to have an indi-
vidual biography and some, consciously and unconsciously, accept the domi-

51 The gangs of inmates in Birkenau who had to work in the gas chambers and crematoria.
52 On 2 August 1944, the family camp for gypsies, located near the twins' barrack, was closed
off and that night nearly all of the inmates were murdered in the gas chambers.
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nance of the first generation's life history over their own (Moore 1994). But
both mother and daughter suffer from the impact of the past, and both want
recognition and empathy for their suffering.

The dynamics of this family dialogue enforce the structure of blocked
questions. Questions open the door to the act of listening to someone else. As
mentioned earlier, the structure of blocking the emergence of questions is
something found in the third generation, too. Let us now turn to Ethan, the
grandson, and examine his repair strategy of blocking questions as a means of
diminishing the threat of the past by relating to it through global and abstract
impressions. Ethan was not yet in the room when his grandmother was talking
about what his grandfather had experienced in Auschwitz and about her own
traumatic fantasies about her parents. When he was present at the interview,
he focused on Herman's past, too. Ethan is preoccupied with the global im-
pression of Herman in his memory (modesty) and refuses to hear any details
of Herman's experiences. Arguing about Herman, Ethan claimed:

"It ((the Shoah)) isn't really about facts...it's not really important whether
the exact days were X and Y or the number of children were Z or G. Whether
he actually did something- ((author's emphasis)) It's not really about the fact,
but more about the symbolics of the whole thing...I have a sort of generalized
view ‘of my grandfather' in connection to and without any connection to the
Holocaust...a view, an observer...from the side...not something that was in
any way built up through a conversation, questions and answers or anything
like that..."

What are the "facts" that Ethan dismisses? Days, children and deeds. Uncon-
sciously, these issues occupy Ethan. But he will not ask for details, because
such questions would inflict a knowledge of Herman and Rebecca's specific
history on him. As an “observer', Ethan can maintain a position of control: he
can stop observing whenever the pain and horror grow too strong. As an ‘ob-
server', he can draw conclusions and visualize images that are rooted in his
inner reality. Although like Israela, Ethan avoids questions, unlike his mother,
he is willing to come a little bit closer to his grandfather's experiences. When
the interviewer asked Ethan what role he sees his grandfather in, he replied:
"As a servant, as someone who serves other goals, other things, serving his
beliefs, in the Holocaust serving his employers, as an employee, serving his
family." When he was asked directly afterwards about Herman's relationship
with Mengele, his reply was: "I don't judge things without having been there.
I believe that the man was completely incapable of doing any evil to any liv-
ing thing in the universe."

Beneath Ethan's argumentation, he has thoughts about the relationship be-
tween Herman and Mengele. Judging is associated with evil; "serving other
people's goals" also relates to Herman and Mengele. Ethan is exposing his
own latent, unconscious, questions about the past here. Ethan is holding an
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inner dialogue that fluctuates between tentative glances into his grandfather's
past and a censoring of all questions and curiosity that perpetuates this silenc-
ing of the past.

Blocking questions about the past is something that pervades all three
generations. Rebecca reinforces these strategies. While she needs to talk
about her own and her husband's experiences, at the same time Rebecca ar-
gues that the second and third generation should not hear about the pain of the
past. The following dialogue exemplifies this structure: The German inter-
viewer (1) asked Ethan: "Do you have any idea what kind of images your
mother has in her mind?" Ethan answered this and the same question in ref-
erence to his grandmother, in the negative. Turning to Rebecca, the inter-
viewer asked her: "Do you want to tell him what your main images are now?"
When Rebecca declined, saying in English that her grandson was a self-
assured Sabra, Ethan responded to this statement with non-verbal praise (a
thumbs-up sign). After this, Ethan laughed about his grandmother's English
and began a parallel conversation with his brother, who was walking around
the apartment. At this point, Israela remarked: "The big things, in general he
knows, general things he knows, and she doesn't want to put upon him-."

When relating to her daughter and grandson, Rebecca prefers to maintain
the structure of blocked questions. She wants her “Sabra' grandson to have no
memory of the past so he will not be “corrupted by recollections'.

While all three generations block questions, the nuances of the strategies
they use to do so vary: while Israela, a member of the second generation,
transfers the past into her own present to block all questioning processes,
Ethan locates himself in the position of the observer, while carrying on an
inner dialogue of questioning the past on a latent level. It remains an inner
one, because the family system prohibits directly questioning Herman's and
Rebecca's past. Another theme, that is blocked out and denied in the family
dialogue, is the inner pain and suffering in the lives of the second and third
generation.

The denial of suffering

Throughout the interview, Isracla latently blames her parents for constantly
relating the present to the Holocaust. Speaking of her father, she says: "He
was in the Holocaust 24 hours a day" and in reference to the denial of pain in
her family, she argues: "I was raised to deny suffering...not to speak about
suffering... 'we experienced it in the past and therefore we can overcome eve-
rything". And Rebecca explains: "We wanted them to be happy children."”
From Rebecca's perspective, any suffering expressed by Israela could in-
dicate a failure on her part to protect her daughter from the past, from pain in
life. This attempt to block feelings of suffering is perceived by Israela as play-
ing down the importance of her own experiences, her own difficulties. The
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denial of suffering does not stop with Israela, but pervades the next genera-
tion, too. Ethan says of himself:

"There's never been any discussion of suffering in this family...it has to
do with...the Holocaust, she ((his grandmother)) and he ((his grandfather))
never talked about suffering to me...my best friend getting killed I don't think
I've ever spoken a word of sorrow about it...that's just the way we do things
as a family."

Israela's response to Ethan's statement is: "It is related to the Holocaust."

The denial of suffering is a "genetic" massage that passes from one gen-
eration to the next. But on a latent level, there is more to it than this: in the
Sneidler family, the perception of suffering is a complicated one. Herman's
and Rebecca's positions in the Shoah not only bring up questions of suffering;
they also pose difficult ethical questions. Because they held positions, where
they were in charge of others, there is a feeling that relating to the narrative of
the past simply in terms of suffering might give rise to difficulties. Rebecca
says of herself: "I had it best. Yes, primarily because I had a valuable job ((in
the camps))."

Holding a position of power, even as a victim, raises questions of ethics,
and there is a fear that this aspect could overshadow the aspects of suffering.
The persecution in Rebecca and Herman's past is in the shadow of the suffer-
ing of others. Thus, the theme of the denial of suffering is related to the terri-
bly difficult questions that this family has to confront, questions that are con-
cealed and silenced, like: What did Herman see? What happened to the chil-
dren whom he could not save? What did Rebecca do in the camp? What did
she do in the three positions she held?

"Outside agents"

The existence of "outside agents" emerges in the analysis of this family; peo-
ple who can relate to the painful themes and to the myths that are blocked out
of the family dialogue. Amnon, Israela's husband, takes on the role of such an
"outside agent". As an analysis of the family interview shows, as an outsider
in the family system, Amnon can permit himself to see things from another
perspective. He is able to look at the grandparents' special positions and the
difficulties that arise from them; he sees Herman's humiliation, his suffering
and his shame. In the following sequence, Amnon clarifies this perspective:

"One of the most terrible things you can do to a human being is to make
him a victim, and put him in such a degrading system that will convert him,
into almost believing....identifying with the role of the hunted animal, and
mix the hatred with fear and respect for his tormentors and, he (Herman) had
this respect...he would sometimes describe... Mengele in terms of tall, nice,
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authoritative...He was brought to see himself as the subdued, degraded...]
was a soldier in the air force, a high ranking officer and at times he would
unconsciously play that subdued role with me, combining towards me some
kind of mixture of respect and fear...1I think I could identify it as copied from
there...he would belittle himself in front of me".

This sequence clearly shows Amnon's attempts to penetrate the myth of mod-
esty imposed on Herman. Instead of seeing Herman in abstract terms or he-
roic conceptions, Amnon sees the complexity of Herman's tragedy. He tries to
enter into the realm of Herman's experiences with Mengele. By doing so, he
enables other family members to work through some of the themes that are
taboo in the family dialogue.

Concluding remarks

In the Sneidler family, silence and secrets are used to hold back the past of
the Shoah. The family dialogue is blocked when it comes to relating to Her-
man's and Rebecca's past. As a result, dialogues become monologues; a struc-
ture that deepens feelings of loneliness and solitude. A great fear of asking
questions strengthens this structure of monologues, which is especially appar-
ent between the first and second generations. It takes this specific form be-
cause of the specific experiences that the past hides: experiments on twins,
atrocious torture, the actual laboratory of Nazi ideology, working with Ger-
mans and being responsible for the life and death of others. The question of
collaboration by having a role involving power in the camp also shapes the
structure of these blocked questions.

The second and third generation gain access to the past through other
means. Both generations have taken on the grandfather's delegation to study
and develop an academic career. Unconsciously, this repair strategy takes
them closer to the grandfather's trauma in Auschwitz. Processes of working
through the traumatic past take place in the form of inner monologues, ab-
stract thoughts, concepts and experiences of self. The various myths - "mod-
esty" and "hunger" - protect the family system from questions about the posi-
tion of the grandparents.
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8. Shared and divided worlds: The Stern family
Waltraud Schade, Sabrina Bohmer and Gabriele Rosenthal

The Family System

Let us consider the genogram from the perspective of the parents' (or second)
generation. The marriage of Stefan and Irit created a link between two fami-
lies with very different histories and social and cultural backgrounds, the
Plankas and the Sterns. The families have, above all, been affected in very
different ways by Nazi persecution. The Stern grandparents did not them-
selves experience persecution because they had already emigrated to Pales-
tine. The Planka grandmother, however, survived extreme persecution, and
two of the Plankas' children were murdered in the Shoah. A look at the family
biographical data will help us orientate ourselves in the family system. Some
preliminary questions and readings will serve as points of reference in the
analysis of the life stories.

Let us start with Stefan's family. His parents, Nathan und Martha, emi-
grated to Palestine in 1936, shortly after they married. Two years later, in
March 1938, Austria was annexed and absorbed into the German Reich. Na-
than Stern was born into a prosperous Jewish family in Vienna. He studied
medicine and qualified as a physician before his marriage. Martha grew up in
a Catholic family in a small town near the Ebensee Lake. Her father was a
casual labourer, her mother a cook. After training as a seamstress, Martha
worked as a nanny for Jewish families in Vienna. Through her work, she got
to know Nathan. Before they married, she converted to Judaism. On the basis
of this biographical data we might surmise that both of their families of origin
had reservations about the marriage. The question of Martha's motivation will
be addressed below. Was her conversion to Judaism the result of religious
conviction or was it undertaken "pro forma", so that their marriage would be
recognized as legitimate by Jewish institutions and the children would, under
Jewish law (halakha), be Jewish?

Stefan was born in 1937 in Palestine. Nathan and Martha's second child,
Artur, was born in 1944. Nathan had a very successful career as a physician in
Israel. The family spent the years 1946 to 1950 in Finland, where he pursued
advanced professional training. During the four years Stefan spent away from
his country of birth as a child, the state of Israel was founded and the War of
Independence fought (1948). Later we will consider the significance for
Stefan of the years he spent abroad.

123



—— o WaBpMS [ENpAY JUBDNIS [ENpoy

i 0
Ly

—D0GL_ -Fifil -L9E1 -£061

R pEn DFE L Ul peLm 13 |anweg ue(q

N _\._./__”_E_ N : _ :
T ]
asunu SHRd U BG/IGEL 0O 7

FIEL- A JONANS PIYD
DR W P il mruRd ]
» [ O] = i .
o ﬂ ™ -LEBL

puaba _ — Hw_._ﬂh. uEEg
JWes usneauaIusd _
el yum sayiebo) aasuaqd _ —
palpy JUBSTBUINEW Ul DAl _ BEEEE) _
-, PUEIUL] D5-9FEL PUBULY 05-9%6 1
m.\.u [ X] e sunsofed 9E6 1 ounsoled 9561
! ! WEEepnr O} pauUaAUTd SEGL BUUAA
-BirGl TFEL-LFGL rirG L -EE6
[ayey EULY ea aassags Jeau abepa, .__E"_u.oﬁ_
| | _ |
i X
[9BIE| BFE) I JEAN PIOAA W D161 LREL-S061
e uoyEUSIUoD [PEIS] B B3I Ul Py ByHEp usyEN
10 JoNNNG Ay pay uriepjog

55
- Y5 o) paesfiwg
) 2 X ONX X |®
LREL- SEGL- -LLGLEMGL-FLIGL -ZhEk BEEL- E
yeieg 7 ung _ ZulsH _ _ _
_ | I =

ysimar

* Buooys ssew ul B I _5 _ FIUIE) USIMET LACUY | [8m
7 oo > P ssguue) uegsayg 1100 [BNSED ‘snosadsoud
X o X ®
]
Nmm.vm BEEL- BEEL- FTHL-
(auwenyn) eyueld (eLysny) u)s

Figure 2: Genogram of the Stern family
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While serving in the army, Stefan got to know Irit Planka. Irit trained to be a
nurse, and Stefan studied medicine. They both went to study in France and
married there in 1957 or 1958. Like his father, Stefan also continued to study
in Europe. Stefan and Irit have three sons, who have also made a successful
start to their careers, following the tradition of their father and their grandfa-
ther.

Let us turn to Irit's family of origin. She was born in 1936 in a small town
in the Ukraine, which belonged to Poland until 1939. Irit had an older sister
Lea and a younger sister Anna. Of the three, only Irit survived Nazi persecu-
tion.

Irit's father, Yuri Planka, was drafted into the Red Army in 1939, after
their home area was annexed by the Soviet Union. He spent the war serving in
a supply unit. He saw his oldest daughter Lea for the last time when he was
on leave from the front. He never saw Anna, who was born in 1941. Irit and
her mother Sarah survived the ghetto, the Auschwitz-Birkenau death camp,
the Mauthausen concentration camp, and its sub-camp at Ebensee. Irit's
grandmother Olga and Anna were killed in a mass shooting. Lea was mur-
dered in the Ebensee concentration camp. Sara managed to have Irit smug-
gled out of Ebensee in 1944 or 1945 and hidden on a farm nearby. After she
was liberated, Sarah did not try to contact Irit at first, who was then eight
years old. When Sarah and her husband Yuri met again in 1947, she still did
not know whether her daughter had survived.

It was not until shortly before they left for Palestine in 1948, that the par-
ents met Irit quite by chance, in a refugee camp in the south of France. Irit
was then twelve. Reunited, they emigrated to Palestine and lived there to-
gether as a family. Irit's sister Rahel was born in 1948.

The following questions will be addressed below. What effect did the
marriage of Irit and Stefan, a survivor and a Sabra, have on the family dia-
logue? What experiences have been transmitted within the family, and which
members of the family are interested in and identify with which parts of the
family's past? We will also consider the patterns of identification available for
the third generation within the Planka/Stern family to adopt.

Irit: Waiting in vain for her mother

Irit was born in the Ukraine in 1936, her sister Lea was three. Her paternal
grandmother, her mother's sister and the sister's son all lived with the family.
In 1939, Eastern Europe was divided into a German and a Soviet sphere in
accordance with the Hitler-Stalin pact, and Soviet soldiers occupied that part
of the Ukraine. Irit, then three, was separated from her father Yuri. He was
drafted into the Red Army and, as a car mechanic, served in a supply unit. His
family stayed in their hometown and would not move, even when Yuri, home
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on leave, insisted they leave town. After the German invasion in 1941, life for
the five-year-old Irit and her family underwent a dramatic change. Attacks on
Jewish people were stepped up and many fled. Despite the worsening situa-
tion, Irit's mother Sarah decided to stay. She was forced to work for the Ger-
mans in a laundry. The German Wehrmacht moved on, and the SS troops that
came after them established a ghetto for the Jews in the town. The Plankas
had to share cramped quarters with other families.

Irit™ recalls that she and her mother became very close during the time in
the ghetto and that they would only leave the house together. She often saw
people being beaten on the street or subjected to random identity checks. In
summer 1941, the Nazis ordered Jews to wear a star in public. In order to
hide hers, Sarah, who was pregnant with Anna at the time, would often carry
Irit on her arm. They endured many frightening situations, when Germans
claimed the blond and blue-eyed Irit could not be the daughter of a woman
with black hair: "It happened many times that, they took me from my mother,
they said, "That's not your child." Actually, my mother, she used me as an
excuse’ for many things. She almost never went anywhere without me."

The statement, "she used me", indicates, from Irit's present perspective, a
latent accusation against her mother.

The situation in their town was becoming ever more dangerous. The fam-
ily was particularly frightened of the Germans' brutality towards small chil-
dren. Anna had been born by now. Once Irit and her grandmother had to go to
the town high school, her mother and other women were also brought there.
Irit started to cry when she saw her mother, and her mother picked her up.
The women were all taken to the gym; the floor was covered in broken glass.
On benches along the walls were Ukrainians with whips. They forced the
women to walk barefoot over the glass: "and the women had to march back
and forth over the broken glass" until the room was "full of Jewish blood."
Sarah Planka was frightened she might fall and tried to protect her little
daughter's back with her arms. Then she stumbled and they fell; the glass cut
deep into her mother's arms; Irit was also hurt. She screamed in fear and pain.
Then she saw a neighbour of theirs at the other end of the hall:

"Our neighbour a Ukrainian who really he and my mother they went to
the same school since they were little. And on_passover they always came to
us because they liked to eat the matzos. My grandfather, when he bought the
matzos, he also gave some to them. We got bacon from them. It was like one
family. And when I saw him I thought he will save us, but, well-."

53 Cf. the detailed case study in Schade (1995). Irit was interviewed by Gabriele Rosenthal in
1991 in German.

54 Underlining signifies words that were spoken in English in the otherwise German inter-
views
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The image of the bleeding and screaming women still torments Irit today.
Soon after that, at Whitsun 1942, the family along with the other residents of
the ghetto were driven into the marketplace. The grandmother and mother
stood on either side of the children and tried to shield them as a crowd of
Ukrainians hurled abuse. Among them were many peasants who had come to
sell their products at the market. Irit knew them: "The people they were really
a part of our life we would go with grandmother to the market and buy geese
from these peasants and the peasant would bring us carrots. Those were all
people they were like a puzzle in our life."

The people standing around gestured quite unambiguously that they
wanted the Jews, herded together on the marketplace, dead. The grandmother
kept telling Irit, then five, and Lea, nine, to keep their heads down and not to
look around. Then they were all driven through the town and into the forest.
Irit was frightened of losing her mother and grandmother. When they reached
freshly dug pits among the trees, they were divided into groups: "And it was
terrible that they were all naked, all of them, men and the elderly and chil-
dren, and they all had to stand there naked and everybody, each felt the
other's presence."”

Group by group, they lined up at the edge of the pit and were shot by the
SS men. Irit and her family were standing some way away but she heard the
shots: "My grandmother had the baby on her arm. It was nine months old
then, I and my older sister were with mother." She sensed the adults’ fear and
heard them say: "Try and push the children towards the back, don't let them
stand with you."

The children were pushed towards the back. Irit witnessed how her
grandmother holding Anna on her arm was shot and killed. Irit, Lea, and their
mother Sarah only survived because the Germans ended their 'Aktion' (killing
operation) punctually in the afternoon: , Because they worked according to
time, no later than three. Everybody still remaining we all marched back to
town."

They were all driven back into the ghetto. While they were gone, their
quarters had been ransacked and plundered:

"And when we returned in the afternoon from the graves, they, the
Ukrainians, were inside the houses and took everything. And the washing
((that had been hanging on the line)) they lost some of it along the way. And
there was a short white coat of mine, it was there and I can imagine that |
didn't cry that my sister is gone and didn't come back with us, or my grand-
mother. But I cried terribly that someone wanted to take that white coat away
from me. And I was so happy that it was still there." >

55 Laub and Auerhahn (1991, p. 261) also describe the phenomenon whereby things replace
people for children who experience frightening events: "If a close relationship to those
nearest to them appears too dangerous, inanimate objects can take their place".
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Later, her mother told Irit more about the children's reactions to what was
happening:

"My mother says I asked a few times I asked when, when is Anna coming
back and grandmother and they told me and that was the end of'it. (5) But my
mother says that, the older sister cried a lot that they take back she wanted to
see where=where the grandmother is buried they said you can't go there."

Unlike her sister who was nine at the time, Irit, then six, was not able to fully
understand what they had witnessed or fully appreciate its meaning.

According to Irit, the ghetto was liquidated in 1943°°. The six-year-old
Irit, her ten-year-old sister Lea, her mother and aunt were deported to Ausch-
witz-Birkenau. They travelled in an overcrowded truck. Inside it was dark and
there was no water; people were forced to relieve themselves in the truck.
Many died. Irit sensed the powerlessness of the adults and did not ask any
questions:

"When we arrived then we all had to get out. And there were terribly
many people. The SS, they were there with dogs, they waited for us and drove
us to Birkenau. We went into the barracks and some of the older people
stayed ((behind)) but it wasn't a real Selektion."

Irit can hardly remember that time: "I can't remember exactly what it was
like. I know we went into a room and I was on my mother's lap and they took
our hair away."

Irit, her mother, sister and aunt were then sent to Mauthausen. After an
unspecified period of time, the women and children were taken to the Eben-
see sub-camp beside the lake of the same name.’

Irit can scarcely deal with this period of persecution emotionally. As a
child, she appears to have reacted by closing off psychically (cf. Lifton 1968)
or with the automatization of ego functions (cf. Niederland 1968); even today,
she still has to protect herself from the associated feelings. Yolanda Gampel
(1988; 1992) has written about this closing off in child survivors she has in-
terviewed. Their most common symptom was an inability to cry, before and
after they were liberated: "The ego of the Shoah child was forced to function
automatically and without expression of feeling" (1992, p. 391). That enabled
the children to behave like adults. Irit has virtually hypermnestica memories
of some of what happened, memories that are extremely clear (cf. Niederland
1980) but "without feeling”, as she puts it. It is striking that in her narration
Irit did not use the German words for 'feeling' or 'emotion':

56  According to Hilberg (1982, p. 271), the liquidation took place in 1942.
57 This camp was set up on 8 November 1943 and was liquidated on 6 May 1945 (cf.
Schwarz 1990, p. 175).
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"l can remember things very precisely, but they are like separate images
without connection, it is, it is very hard for me to go back to feelings, how,
what I felt, was I frightened or was I very content, my emotional state, that is
blank. I can't remember at all what my emotional state was like."

In the camp, the people were starving. Mrs Planka tried to obtain food for her
daughters. They often sensed her despair: "and on such evenings when my
mother came back and, I and my sister were sitting there crying. And mother
cried because she couldn't give us anything, she couldn't hide anything or
bring us anything."”

Irit said that while she spent the days trying to "organize" scraps of food,
Lea became ever more passive and apathetic. Like the other children, Irit had
to overcome her terrible fear of the dogs; she went out and came back with
things for Lea to eat. These scenes in the camp are among the few memories
of her older sister that Irit mentioned during the interview:

"She too is so blurred because she really she suffered very much, Hun-
ger, she was not at all active with me to get food or to find some, she was
always near the barracks, she did not go away. When I brought her some-
thing, she took it. But herself, she didn't, and I, when I think about it now and
I try to interpret that, I think it was perhaps one of the reasons why my
mother thought she won't live but that one will live."

Her mother gave Irit encouragement and new strength by letting her know of
her conviction that Irit would survive. Sara Planka woke Irit every night and
gave her precise instructions as to what she should do if they were separated.
She told Irit over and over again where she should go and who she should
look for:

"and she kept asking me, what is your name? What is the name of your
father, the name of your mother? Where will you go when it is all over? Pal-
estine. And who will you look for in Palestine? My grandfather. And where is
your grandfather? His name is Moshe and he is in kibbutz G. Good, now you
can go to sleep. And two hours later she wakes me up again. What is your
name, and so on, every night. Every night."

Years later, Irit wanted to know from her mother: ""Why did you never, ask
Lea that, did the same with her.' She said: 'somehow I had the feeling that the
only one to survive will be you. Your sister will not live."

In the winter of 1944/45, the situation in the camp became even more ex-
treme. The Allies were getting closer, and the guards were nervous. The man
in charge of the workshop advised Sarah to smuggle Irit out of the camp.
With a heavy heart, Sarah decided to separate from her daughter. Irit escaped
hidden in a barrel filled with scraps of food that was picked up and taken to
feed pigs outside the camp. As they said goodbye, Sarah promised to come
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and fetch Irit as soon as the war was over. Irit lived in a lean-to in the cow-
shed on a farm. The farmer's family knew that she was Jewish and were
frightened she might be discovered. They treated her ambivalently:

"When the nights were so cold and snow, I always, the old grandmother
walked around and maked the sign of the cross and, ((imitating her voice))
'Oh Jesus, oh Jesus, this little child it will perforce freeze." And I always
thought, now I could say 'Here I am, you can take me.' But I was also fright-
ened so I stayed quiet.”

During this period in hiding, the eight-year-old Irit was left entirely to fend
for herself and was very lonely. In the interview, she said she had nobody to
talk to and only thought about what she had gone through and about the loss
of her family when she was sent out into the forest with the cows and the pigs:
"I made lots of crosses out of wood for graves, I always found a little bird
that I had to bury and a frog."®

We can see this as her, through S)lay, actively dealing with the fact that
she had no place to mourn her dead.” She longed for her mother. The Hope,
that she would soon come back, gave Irit courage and strength. After Ger-
many capitulated in May 1945, the farmer talked to Irit about what she should
do. He wanted to try and find her mother but offered to let her stay with his
family if that failed. She waited for her mother, hoping intensely that she
would keep her promise and come for her. Irit expected her to appear any
day, but she did not come. After waiting in vain for two years, Irit was taken
by the Joint (American Jewish Joint Distribution Committee) to a camp for
children in Bad Reichenhall in Germany to prepare to go to Palestine. From
Bad Reichenhall she was taken to the south of France, where in 1947 she un-
expectedly met her parents. The meeting with her mother proved very disturb-
ing and frightening for Irit; her feelings for her mother are very ambivalent.

On the one hand, there is a special closeness that derives from the time of
the persecution they underwent together:

"It was enough for us both to have seen something or looked at it, and
we could, either the situation or the association with that moment with the
past and laugh, or be sad and, we didn't need to talk at all we could look at
something and in one second we think exactly the same thing."

On the other hand, Irit is disappointed that her mother did not come for her
after the war ended:

"Years later I accused my mother many times, you didn't look for me I
waited so long for you and you didn't come. My mother said that she, that all
those years she was terribly frightened of looking for me, that they tell her I

58 Note that Irit used the Christian symbol of the cross to mark the graves.
59  On the significance of play, cf. Eisen (1988).
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perished she says she know many other children died she says the idea that
you are not alive and I don't know why not, that you died that was so hard
the she decided not to look for me."

It is hard for Irit to understand her mother's situation at that time, her feelings,
and her actions. Again and again she asks why her mother never tried to find
her. The intense and stabilizing closeness to her mother during the persecu-
tion helped Irit to survive. Later, while she was separated from her mother, it
also underpinned her will to survive. The decisive traumatic turning-point in
Irit's life came with the deeply painful realization that her mother had not
tried to find her. A further indication that that is the case is that, in the inter-
view, Irit ended her main narration with her reunion with her mother in the
south of France. The traumatization through the loss of trust in her mother
came at the end of a process of sequential traumatization over a number of
years (cf. Keilson 1979).

Irit presented herself in the interview as a disappointed and abandoned
child that only survived persecution on her own strength. This probably has a
lot to do with Irit's feelings of guilt about her mother's decision to smuggle
her and not her sister out of the camp or, to put it bluntly, her mother's deci-
sion that Irit would be the one to survive. She had hardly anything to say
about her older sister Lea, who was murdered at Ebensee after Irit had es-
caped. She talked most about how she brought Lea food in the camp and
stressed Lea's passivity.

In 1948, the family emigrated to Palestine. Adapting was a great chal-
lenge for Irit. She was twelve when she entered fourth grade. She had prob-
lems with the language; she could not read, write or count. In order to make
contact with other children, she told her schoolmates "stories" from her past.
But their parents were outraged. They said Irit was retarded and should be
taken out of the class and sent to a special school. Irit experienced this mar-
ginalization as another existential threat and was seized by panic. She saw
that stories about how she was persecuted provoked reactions of shock, pa-
ralysis and horror. This in turn convinced Irit that she could not make others
understand what she had gone through - something other survivors have also
reported (cf. Laub/Auerhahn 1991, p. 262). Other people's doubts about the
reality of her experiences reinforced Irit's bond with her mother, who now
became for Irit a 'guarantor' of the reality of her past. Sarah could confirm
that her daughter's stories were true. She was also the only person with whom
Irit could talk about her memories: "And for years I sat with my mother and 1
always asked, now listen, I will tell you something, tell me, was it a dream or
was it true?"

Irit's teacher encouraged her. She made Irit promise to work very hard the
next year, to concentrate on her school work and not on making friends with
other children. Irit followed her teacher's instructions, and the following year,
she managed to move up to the grade that corresponded to her age group. The
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year after, she skipped a grade. Success at school helped Irit become more
independent. She developed her own system of relevance, which allowed her
to draw a boundary between herself and her past and thus between herself and
her mother. The textual structure of the interview makes this very clear: Irit
distinguishes clearly between the period of persecution, in which her mother
is a central figure, and her life in Israel. In her narration, the separation of
past and present is manifested in the following sequence, which followed her
account of seeing her mother again in the south of France: "How everything
that happened happened, that is one chapter, and now an entirely different
chapter begins.” She calls her life in Israel "the new life” and when talking
about it hardly mentions her mother. Her achievements at school and her sub-
sequent professional success helped her to live with the trauma of persecution
she had suffered as a child, to mitigate it and, above all, to face actively her
fears and the helplessness she had experienced.

After graduating from high school, Irit trained as a nurse for three years
and then went into the army, where in 1955 she met her future husband
Stefan, who was then nineteen. In 1957 they both moved to Paris to study. A
short time later, they sent their parents a telegram letting them know that they
had married. In explaining the decision not to marry in Israel, Irit said she had
been frightened of explosive emotional scenes among her parents' friends,
like the ones she had witnessed at other family events:

"and their children aren't alive, some of these people who ran away back
then ((from the ghetto)) live in Israel today. They were very pleased when
they heard that I was alive but many times it was like this, 'If our child were
alive now, she would also have done this or that'. I said no, all the years 1
took it but my wedding, no. I don't want anyone to be there.”

By marrying into a Jewish family that had emigrated from Austria early and
thus escaped persecution, Irit entered into a different family system with a
different past, a family which also has Christian members. This probably cor-
responded to her need to separate her "new life” from the past in which she
had suffered persecution. In the Stern family, she is only rarely reminded of
her own family. Irit also marked her entry into the new system by living in the
house of her parents-in-law with her husband and children for some ten years,
between 1963 and 1973. Her mother-in-law Martha looked after the children
while Irit and Stefan were at work. The relationship between Irit and her
mother-in-law is problematic. Martha Stern demanded from the start that Irit
speak German: "The German language, it was so hard for me, being in Israel
and hearing the language that was a connotation with my past, that his
mother said I must speak German."

132



The significance of Martha's Christian family of origin for Irit was only ad-
dressed indirectly in the interview. Irit mentioned a plan to visit Stefan's
grandmother in the Tyrol. She can remember vividly the ride in the post bus
from Italy in the direction of Austria: she enjoyed the beautiful scenery. Then
they reached the border and were waiting to have their passports checked:

"We arrive at the border and I am sitting with my husband and we look
at the map and the bus stops and I look out and I see - my husband says 1
was completely white. I say, Stefan, look, there are the SS men. He says, what
are you talking about? And it was right the police who were standing at the
border they have green uniforms they have the same hats. That was in fifty
seven, and for me that was exactly the way I knew them in the camps. I say
no, I am sorry, [ am not going any further."

Irit was seized by panic and broke off the trip. Seeing the uniformed border
police, she suddenly felt she was back in the camp. She felt so threatened that
she has never since gone to Austria and never met her husband's grandparents
or other Christian relatives.

After they finished their studies, Irit and Stefan returned to Israel. Their
first son Dan was born in 1963, their second son Samuel in 1967, the young-
est son Eli in 1974. For Irit, as for other survivors (cf. Kestenberg 1991), her
children are a sign of triumph, a sign that she has survived and created a 'new
life' in Israel:

"When the children were born ((laughs)), that was (3) really the peak of
it all, because that was (2) many times in my life when I did things and they
were successful, very successful, then I had the feeling, they didn't kill me
and now I can do this and do that and I do it so well, and I do it so well, but
actually, they wanted to kill me."

Martha Stern: "Our life wasn't so eventful”

Irit's mother-in-law played an important role in the family. For many years,
she looked after Irit and Stefan's sons. The interview with Martha Stern® was
conducted in 1995. She seemed disconcerted when first asked to recount her
family history and life story. Although she had a long and eventful life to look
back on, she tried to present her life as "not worth mentioning": "We just
lived our lives quietly I mean (4) the children, they learned something (2) and
(3) it wasn't so eventful our life thank God it wasn't [ mean we are a normal
family."

Let us review some of the periods in Martha Stern's life. She was born in
1910 in a small Catholic town in Austria. Her two older sisters had already

60 Martha Stern was interviewed by Bettina Volter in 1995 in German.
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been sent to live with their mother's sister, quite possibly because the parents
were poor. Martha's mother was a cook, her father a casual labourer. Their
fourth child, Giinter, was born in 1912. Martha's brother Heinz was born in
1914; little Elisabeth, in 1917. As the oldest child in the family, Martha soon
had to take on housekeeping duties and look after her younger siblings while
her parents were out. In the school holidays, she often went to stay with an
uncle, who lived with her paternal grandparents. He was a priest, as were her
other paternal uncles: "My father's four brothers studied to be priests. That's
about the maximum."

Although she had a large family when she was a child, Martha tried to
present herself in the interview without reference to her family. When asked
to tell us about her family history and life history, she began by talking about
her apprenticeship as a seamstress, which began in 1926: "My mother always
thought a trade was a goldmine and so I had to learn to be a seamstress,
even though I hated it.” This statement suggests her parents were authoritar-
ian, forcing their daughter to learn a trade she said she hated. After complet-
ing her training, Martha continued to live at home at first. But shortly thereaf-
ter, she lost her job and decided to move to Vienna, where she found work as
a nanny in a Jewish family. Turning to the interviewer, she said: "So write
down: a higher class of nanny. Really! ((laughs)) So that's how I came to
Vienna and that's what I did and: (2) I was really quite content. But I must
say that I was almost always in Jewish houses." Her social advancement back
then to a "higher class of nanny" in Jewish houses is still of importance to
Martha today.

Martha grew up in a traditional Catholic environment. She attended
Catholic school, went to church regularly, and sang in the church choir. Mov-
ing to Vienna, she left her family and entered an entirely new milieu, the
world of "Jewish houses", a realm she locates in the thematic field of "wealth
and status”. While the biographer links the Catholicism of her own family to
its poverty, she connects Judaism with prosperity and status. Her time as a
nanny, from about 1930 to about 1935, is the horizon against which, in her
biographical self-presentation, she introduced her future husband Nathan: "/
went to the mountains in the summer with the child ((that she was looking
after)) and so forth, you see. And then I met my husband and that was that.
Then we came here."

In her main narration, she mentioned neither Nathan's background nor her
own conversion to Judaism before their marriage. Martha spent just ten min-
utes during the interview talking about her family history and life history. The
biographical self-presentation ended with her emigration: "that was that.
Then we came here."

Let us look more closely at her migration from one milieu to another in
the light of information derived from the interview with Martha's son Stefan.
By marrying Nathan Stern, a medical student from a good family, Martha
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escaped poverty. She was twenty-six, he was thirty-one. Nathan came from a
very prosperous and respected Jewish Austrian family. His three brothers also
went to university. After finishing his studies, Nathan could not find work as a
physician because of growing anti-Semitism in Austria, Nathan decided to
emigrate to Palestine with Martha. For Martha, emigration marked yet an-
other turning point in her life. After having left her family and the milieu she
grew up in, she now changed her cultural sphere again.

Martha came from a milieu and a family in which there was anti-
Semitism. Some members of her family identified with National Socialism. In
the interview, Martha recounted how she introduced her husband to her par-
ents. Martha said she could never have taken Nathan to her hometown be-
cause of the risk of anti-Semitic violence: "I didn't go to S., I would never
have done that, some one or other might have thrown him a punch, perhaps
nothing would have happened, but just to risk it.” So they met her parents in
her older sister's inn outside of town.

Martha's son Stefan told us that her younger brother Heinz had been in
the SS. Martha conceded that her brother was pro-Nazi, but she did not men-
tion the SS and tried to make his "activities” appear harmless: "I almost think
he didn't half enjoy being a soldier. They had some hard years ahead of
them, the great unemployment. That all left its mark.” Both Martha and her
son said Heinz was a paratrooper and was killed in 1943 on Crete.*' Martha
said he had been a waiter but became unemployed and then "the war came
while he was still a sports instructor there-" and then she suddenly stopped.
What did she mean by 'there? Was he a 'sports instructor' for the SS, and did
he stop being unemployed when he joined the SS? All Martha said about
Heinz's political involvement had to do with his activities in the Hitler Youth.
This is informative. One had to be under eighteen to be a member of the Hit-
ler Youth. Heinz turned eighteen in 1932. If he continued to be active in the
organization after that, then as a youth leader (Fiihrer) in the illegal Nazi
youth movement, since the Nazi party and its organizations, including the
Hitler Youth, were banned in Austria in summer 1933 and remained so until
the Anschluss, Germany's annexation of Austria, in 1938.% By only mention-
ing that her brother was in the Hitler Youth, Martha played down the signifi-
cance of his involvement with Nazi organizations. What effects did her con-
cealment of this part of the family history have on her family?

Martha said very little about her wedding. She indicated that none of her
family attended the ceremony: "It was only Nathan's family and no one else
was there and I was there ((laughs)) I mean alone". Nothing in the interview
indicated how Martha's family felt about her Jewish husband. One might infer
from their absence from the ceremony that they were not entirely pleased

61 The SS began the mass deportations of Jews from Greece in March 1943.
62 Compare the case study of a Hitler Youth leader (Fiihrer) in Sieder 1995. Only a hard core
of youths remained active in the Hitler Youth after it was banned, in "illegal struggle".
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about the marriage. Even before she chose to emigrate with her husband,
Martha had already separated from her family of origin through her marriage
and the preceding conversion to Judaism: ,, That was really something, wasn't
it, when I became Jewish if that interests you ((laughs)) I will tell you I don't
remember much about it because I found it unpleasant there's a-you have to
go to a bath.”

"Becoming Jewish" is not presented as a process of changing attitudes
but as a "something"”. Martha Stern distanced herself from her conversion and
from "being Jewish". She found the bath ((Mikvah)) unpleasant. We cannot,
however, say whether she also found the entire ritual of conversion unpleas-
ant. Perhaps her feelings about conversion had to do with a conflict of loyalty
between Judaism and the Catholic Church. Later in life, in Israel, Martha tried
to create a certain continuity with her Christian past. For example, she cele-
brated Christmas with her family and installed a decorated Christmas tree in
the living room.

While her husband soon found his feet in their new home country, at least
through his work, for Martha the country remained alien. After sixty years,
her command of Hebrew is still rudimentary. She brought up her children and
grandchildren speaking German.

What did Martha's demand that her daughter-in-law Irit speak German
mean for Martha? By holding on to her mother tongue, she maintained conti-
nuity with her past in Austria. Irit's entry into the family may well have drawn
attention to questions that had long been avoided about Martha's past and her
family history. Perhaps Martha felt threatened. The very first time she met
Irit, she attempted to assert her dominance by stating: "German is spoken in
this house."

Martha also consolidated her position in the family system by looking af-
ter her grandchildren. After Nathan's death in 1987, her grandchildren, the
children of her second son Artur actually came to live with her.

What role does her older son Stefan play in the family? His parents emi-
grated early and did not experience persecution "directly". There were Nazis
in his mother's family. His wife survived persecution as a child. Stefan's ma-
ternal relatives lived very close to the concentration camp where Irit, her
mother, and her sister Lea were held and where Lea was killed. This adds a
further threatening component to the family constellation.

Stefan Stern: "I had to take a stand and I took a stand”

In 1950 Martha and her thirteen-year-old son Stefan® visited her mother,
Stefan's grandmother, in their hometown in Austria, near Lake Ebensee and

63  Stefan Stern was interviewed twice within one week by Bettina Volter in German in 1995.
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not far from the former outlying sub-camp of the Mauthausen concentration
camp. In the interview, Stefan only mentioned the visit after he was asked
whether he had known his maternal grandmother:

"[ saw her once she was a very old woman (4) and, (2) the German they
speak there in ((deep breath)) Upper Austria you can understand it with diffi-
culty. But we had very little contact. I don't remember it anymore (2). Well,
as I said, we grew up without a family."

Stefan tried to preempt further questions about his maternal grandparents and
relatives. He said he did not remember them and wanted to change the sub-
ject. A short while later the interviewer asked Stefan when he had realized
that it might be meaningful for him, too, if he were to deal with his wife's
past. He replied:

"It just came together, slowly, like a puzzle, a picture (1) from things. (6)
My wife was in a concentration camp at the time, which (2) wasn't far (2)
from (1) the little town. I was there near the place on a boat ride before 1
knew that it, that there was a concentration camp nearby ((laughs silently))
(2). Of course everybody in the area knew that there was a concentration
camp there but of course nobody talked about it. (7) It was very nice...and
then suddenly there was a great storm on the lake but we made it back. And
(2) many years later (1) my wife told me about storms there had been on this
lake (1). It was quite clearly the same lake...but she was a terrified little girl
in a concentration camp and (1) I was there as a little tourist who was visit-
ing his family in Upper Austria."”

The persecution his wife had suffered was also brought home to Stefan by the
fact that his family lived so close to the camp Irit had been in: it slowly came
together like pieces of a puzzle. Let us stay with this image of a puzzle: we
might suppose that some of the pieces between the two family groups are still
missing and that Stefan does not want to look for them. He said he did not
want to think about his mother's family any more or about whether members
of the family had witnessed or taken part in Nazi crimes. His statement, "Of
course everybody in the area knew that there was a concentration camp there
but of course nobody talked about it," is an implicit accusation of his family.
Saying he had been in danger - from the natural force of a storm - during his
visit to his family's home near Ebensee, he was in a certain respect identifying
with his wife. One might at first infer that, in talking of the storm and saying
"but we made it back", Stefan was drawing a parallel between himself and his
wife, who had made it back from the camps. We saw that in Achim Svoboda
(cf. Chapter 2.2.). But Stefan also stressed the difference: while his wife was
a "terrified little girl", he was a "little tourist who was visiting his family."
Let us review Stefan's biography. He was born in 1937, one year after his
parents arrived in Palestine. When he was born, one could not have predicted
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that a Jewish state would be founded. His parents' life was oriented toward
Europe. They spoke German and Stefan learned no other language until he
was three. His nanny also spoke German. The family celebrated Christmas. In
kindergarten, Stefan was expected to learn Hebrew; he had little contact with
the other children and did not feel at ease in the group. He often ran away and
went for walks alone.

Stefan felt isolated because he was being brought up speaking German.
He felt it was a barrier that prevented him from making friends and above all
from feeling that he belonged in the country where he was born. In contrast to
home, Stefan discovered that at school Christian symbols were spurned: "In
my time we weren't allowed to make a plus sign because it is a cross. The
plus sign was, the bottom part was missing so it wouldn't be a cross. That can
only show how hard these things really were."”

Stefan was seven when his brother Artur was born in 1944. Two years
later Nathan Stern decided to go with his family to Finland for further training
as a medical specialist. Stefan had to adapt to a new language yet again. He
was sent to a Finnish school. He enjoyed living in Finland. His teachers
helped him. They practiced the language with him after school, invited him to
their homes and helped him make contact with other children: "Yes, it was a
good time, I learned Finnish very fast".

In 1948, the British mandate in Palestine came to an end. The Sterns
were still abroad when the state of Israel was founded and during the War of
Independence. They returned in 1950 and moved back into their old house.
While Stefan's father settled in quickly and soon became successful in his
profession, it was much harder for the rest of the family to adapt. Artur, now
six, had to learn Hebrew from scratch and Stefan, now thirteen, had to readapt
once again. He had not enjoyed a common socialization with his peers at
school. Above all, he could not share with them the period of the founding of
the state and the War of Independence. We can infer that, in addition to the
usual problems of adolescence, it was difficult for Stefan to feel that he be-
longed in Israel. His mother's non-Jewish family background did not make it
any easier for him to establish a sense of belonging; it offered little with
which he might identify. During the interview, we could sense Stefan's am-
bivalence towards his mother's Christian family.

The cultivation of Christian traditions in his parental home bothered the
adolescent Stefan, and the silence within the family intensified his insecurity
about where he belonged. Stefan also felt his mother's conversion to Judaism
had been imposed upon her and was not an expression of her own needs:
,,She wanted to marry my father and then she had to convert to Judaism. If
they had gone to America, they would probably only have had a civil mar-
riage somehow. The ceremony or what went along with it was totally alien to
her but it was totally alien to my father as well.” Stefan can also adopt the
perspective of his maternal grandparents: "I think it was very hard for the

138



whole family. It was probably very serious, to marry a Jew. They believed
Jews had horns."

Stefan also made clear that there had been anti-Semitism in his mother's
family: "I think they were anti-Semitic everywhere in Austria, even if they
had never seen a Jew. I don't think much has changed."

Indirectly, Stefan addressed his problem with having a sense of belonging
right at the start of the interview. He began by saying that he had been in Pal-
estine throughout World War II and added: "So I don't really have any war
memories from my childhood." In response to the interviewer's remark, "So
you surely have memories of war here in Israel,” he said, as if to justify him-
self, that he had been drafted in both the Six Day War (in 1967) and the Yom
Kippur War (in 1973). Stefan addressed the theme of the absence of memo-
ries of wartime from his childhood. It is not certain whether he meant the Is-
raeli War of Independence or the World War II in Europe, which his wife had
experienced as a child.

Irit and Stefan met while he was serving in the army. He enlisted in 1955
and served during the second Suez crisis* as a medic. In the interview, he
said it was through Irit that he was first confronted with the theme of Nazi
persecution: "That was really more the first time that (1) the problem from
that time or the Nazis at all in a more personal way that I heard anything (1)
more about it through her. Before that it was a theme that one did not talk
about.”

So Stefan already knew about the Shoah, but not in a "personal way".
Presumably Irit was the first survivor with whom he had closer personal con-
tact. There was no one in Stefan's family who could have told him "in a per-
sonal way" about the Nazi period. His parents preferred to avoid the topic.
Stefan began to face the theme of Nazi persecution of the Jews at the same
time as survivors started to make public statements and testify at the
Eichmann trial, which began in April 1961. That is when the theme first en-
tered public discourse in Israel: "Hard to say, when I heard of it for the first
time, probably at school but one didn't have any kind of clear picture of it.
The Eichmann trial was the first clear experience.”

Stefan recounted what happened when he first presented Irit, then twenty,
to his parents and how restrained and distant his mother was. He also men-
tioned that she required Irit to learn German: "Irit learned German after she
got to know me. Through my mother who said, 'In our house German is spo-
ken, only German' ((laughs))."

64  After President Gamel Abdel Nasser intensified the blockade of the Suez Canal in Septem-
ber, Israel could not use the harbor in Eilat or import Iranian oil. In late summer 1956, Bri-
tain decided to regain control of the canal. In order to do so, Britain, France and Israel sig-
ned a secret deal that foresaw an Israeli invasion of Egypt. For more on the Suez crisis, see
Schreiber/Wolffsohn 1989.
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Stefan was and is more or less helpless in the face of the conflicts in the rela-
tionship between Martha and Irit. In the interview, he interpreted it as a typi-
cal mother-in-law/daughter-in-law conflict and played down its intensity:
"Life isn't always a picnic. There were certain conflicts in the past and I had
to take a stand and I did take a stand."

Irit disclosed new realms of experience to Stefan. He tried to keep them
out of his dialogue with his parents, presumably in an attempt to avoid con-
flict. Above all, he sees no sense in talking to his mother about the Holocaust
or the fact that her hometown was so close to the concentration camp where
Irit had been incarcerated. He believes he can sense his mother's unwilling-
ness to discuss it:

Interviewer: And you think her family also knew at the time that there
was a concentration camp there ((in Ebensee)).

Stefan: Definitely, definitely (4).
Interviewer: What does that feel like?
Stefan: (3) Like (2) how the world how strange the world is. I think

it was a matter of fate.

Interviewer: Did you and your mother talk about that place?

Stefan: No, (1) no, she would certainly say that no one knew any-
thing about it. There's absolutely no point in discussing
these arguments.

In 1957, Stefan and Irit went to Paris together and married there. Stefan did
not cite Irit's motives when he explained why they decided to marry without
their families; nor did he say, as we might have expected, that they wanted a
secular wedding, which would not have been possible in Israel. What he said
was: ,,I didn't want a wedding and such a lot of confusion. I said, a wedding
is something for the people who are getting married, not for the others."

What kind of confusion, one might ask. Perhaps the confusion of the
various parts of the family. There are also certain parallels to his parents'
wedding. His mother's family did not attend and that precluded possible con-
flicts.

The interview showed clearly that Stefan, like his mother, scarcely ad-
dresses the theme of the non-Jewish part of the family background. Stefan
subsumes his mother under his father's family, about which he can tell anec-
dotes and stories. When asked about his mother's side of the family, he said:
"It wasn't (1) something that one (3) it wasn't an important part of our life in
any way." He described his relationship to his mother's family: "I think I ig-
nore my, (1) let us say (2) Upper Austrian ancestry.” But it was Stefan who
told us that his uncle had been in the SS: "dnd her brother was in the SS so
that there was a (1) certain a serious conflict there (3). I mean my uncle
((said very quietly)).” After Stefan said this, there was a long pause, then he
laughed and the interviewer also laughed. Stefan ended this sequence by say-
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ing that his uncle "was killed in the war". Asked what he associates with the
SS, he said: "marching and the (4) and naturally (2) the (2) concentration (2)
camps and, gas chambers and so on.” Then there was another long pause,
lasting 29 seconds. The ensuing dialogue made clear, how vivid the terrible
images from the camps are for Stefan and also how he avoids making any
connection between them and his uncle:

Interviewer: What's making you pensive now?

Stefan: What?

Interviewer: What's making you so pensive now? Are you thinking of the
brother or —

Stefan: No, I'm not - so (5). I am thinking about (2) the crimes (5)
about (1) the (2) terrible deeds of the (2) Nazis in the war
((very quietly)).

Interviewer: (4) Can you imagine the brother or (how) can you see them
together? The crimes and the brother ((very quietly)) (3)
Stefan: No (1).

Stefan finds it threatening to think about a possible involvement of his
mother's family in Holocaust crimes. Instead, he takes an interest in his wife's
past, in her traumatic childhood experiences of persecution. He tries to avoid
addressing the theme of the role parts of his family might have played as Nazi
accomplices or as perpetrators. Stefan's statement that "Our children also
grew up knowing what the Holocaust is and what the family on my wife's side
suffered” makes clear that he also wants the next generation to concentrate on
Irit's family history and to ignore his own.

Let us consider Stefan's own experiences as a soldier in wartime. While
still a student, he served as a medic during the Suez Crisis. He served as a
physician in Israel's subsequent wars.

He was called up in 1967 during the Six Day War and spent several
months as physician to a tank battalion. During that time, he did not see his
family. Stefan views that war from the perspective of his experiences in the
Yom Kippur War: "In the Six Day War it wasn't so bad for me. We didn't
have many dead or wounded." Stefan served in the 1973 war, which was very
traumatic for Israel, after his return from England. He talked about his work
in a team of physicians in a field hospital in Sinai:

"The whole time, day and night, the helicopters came from the front filled
with seriously wounded men that were brought down to us. In a big hall,
where one had to decide quickly, where they would be be treated, where op-
erated on. And that was very hard and very intense, very hard, veery heroic
(2) with wonderful colleagues."”

Stefan said how he had to summon all his skills. He experienced the many
operations, the treatment of very serious wounds, and his encounter with so
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many dead as a great professional challenge. The interview made very clear
that being a physician is central to his identity. As a nurse, Irit shares his vo-
cation.

We assume that their marriage provides shelter to both Irit and Stefan.
Entering Stefan's family system helped Irit separate from her own family. She
bound herself to a man who had not experienced an equivalent traumatization.
Unlike her sister, Irit survived the persecution, because her looks did not cor-
respond to any Jewish stereotype. It is possible that Irit feels - perhaps uncon-
sciously - that she is safe in the Stern family, with its partly Christian back-
ground. Something else that binds Irit to her husband is that they both felt out
of place in Israel. As children, both were outsiders in Israel. They were un-
able to share their horizons of experience with their peers.

Stefan can approach the theme of Nazi persecution through his wife, but
he has blocked out parts of his own family history. By playing down the in-
tensity of the conflict between the two families he tries to reconcile the two
sides, the non-Jewish and the Jewish, that of his mother and that of his wife.

The Grandson: Living with separate family histories

When the German interviewer asked Samuel® to tell her about his family
history and then his own life story, he asked: "What side, the Holocaust side
or the-". At the very start, Samuel already distinguished between the two
sides of his family - the Holocaust side and the other side, which does not
have a name. When the interviewer said "both sides"”, he decided as follows:
"My grandparents on my father's side, yes?" He began with his father's side
and talked briefly about the Sterns, his grandfather's "aristocratic family" in
Vienna. He said his grandmother came from a small town near Vienna. The
entire passage about this side of the family focused on the theme of his
"orandfather's career"”. This sequence, which is textually separate from the
account of the "Holocaust side", he rounded off by saying: "So that is that
part of the family. That is my father's side". Then he began to talk about the
other side, clearly demarcated from the first: "my mother's side of the family".
Samuel then presented that family in a remarkably similar way. He recounted
many more details, talked about twice as much about this part of the family,
but the structure of his text is very similar. Here too, the sort of text Samuel
chose to use is the report. Here too, he first described the geographical back-
ground of his mother's family of origin and then the various stages of her per-
secution; they were the main theme in his presentation of this part of the fam-
ily. He concentrated on how his mother was saved from the camp and the
murder of her sister Lea. Samuel said his grandmother and her daughters were

65 Compare the detailed case study in Schade (1995). The interview was conducted by Betti-
na Volter in English in 1994.
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in the Ebensee concentration camp and that his mother's sister, his aunt "was
killed during the last Aktion in the camp”. He did not, however, specify
where his paternal grandmother was from, saying she came from somewhere
near Vienna. In fact, her hometown is south of Linz and some 150 kilometres
from Vienna. Thereby he performed a geographical separation of the two
sides of the family. Also, Samuel and Irit presented part of her family history
in quite different ways. Samuel "healed", so to speak, the separation trauma
of his mother, who after the liberation waited in vain for her mother to come
and fetch her: "She ((the mother)) was taken to this German's family and
later on reunited with my grandmother, who was by that time already a par-
tisan in the forest. Together they more or less ended the war. I mean they
were never separated. That is what I know, my grandmother escaped from
Ebensee and she became a partisan'.

This shows that Samuel tries in his fantasy to bring together his grand-
mother and his mother. He introduced his grandmother as a partisan, thus
stressing that she put up a fight and did not suffer passively. He is himself
unsure whether his information is correct; it is based on stories he heard in the
family. He said his grandmother hardly ever talked about it and his mother
told her stories from her perspective as a child at the time: "What she recalls
from the war, are more the impressions of a child". Perhaps in order to shield
her son from her trauma, Irit did not tell Samuel what she told us about her
separation from her mother. Samuel experiences his grandmother Sarah as a
good and kind woman, who is "full of love.” He finds it hard to reconcile that
with the hurt his mother suffered. Samuel stressed again and again that his
mother only told him fragments and that he put the rest of the story together
himself, in his fantasy. Samuel ended this part of his family history with the
comment: "That is my family”. The remarkably structured presentation and
the clear separation of the two sides indicates, on the one hand, that he
wanted to be fair to both and to present them in an objective, balanced man-
ner, without voicing his own opinions. On the other hand, it marks his effort
to keep the two sides apart. This distanced and controlled presentation pre-
sumably derived in part from Samuel's wish to maintain a certain distance
from his non-Jewish German interviewer. The analysis of the interview made
clear, however, that it was also an expression of the way he deals with his
threatening family past.

Apart from the clear division of the two sides of his family, Samuel also
divided the story of his life from the history of his family. After his final re-
marks on his family history, he did not carry on and recount his own life. He
had to be asked again to do so by the interviewer. Samuel replied: "okay, my
life story is very short". The account of his life he then delivered was very
brief. At the time of the interview, Samuel was twenty-seven years old, study-
ing medicine, and about to take his final exams. The transcript of the inter-
view is 103 pages long; the text of his life story in the main narration takes up
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just half a page. He merely listed biographical data, concentrating on his fa-
ther's career and his own. In this brief report he mentioned neither his mother
nor any other members of the family. He ended after a few minutes with the
sober remark: "That is my life story”. While his account of his family history
(3 pages) contains a number of details, Samuel's own life seems to fade into
insignificance against that background. It is also striking that the themes he
addressed in his self-presentation resemble those of his account of his father's
family, focusing on his education and profession. He consciously identifies
with the career of his father and grandfather. The extent to which he also
identifies with his mother's past as a victim of persecution became clear later
in the interview.

First let us consider his life history more closely. Samuel was born in
1967 in Israel. His brother Dan is three years older. Their grandmother Mar-
tha looked after them during the day. When Samuel was three, his life under-
went a great change, when he, his parents and his brother went to live in Eng-
land. Samuel talked positively about that period. His earliest childhood mem-
ory is remarkable. He remembers being stung by a bee in England when he
was three and being taken very quickly into the house by his brother Dan.
This first memory is about a danger, from which he is "rescued" by a sibling.
While not wishing to accord too much significance to this memory, we do
want to mention the association it called to our minds of his mother's persecu-
tion as a child.

Martha Stern visited them several times in England. Samuel's comments
about his grandmother indicate that their relationship was affected by the
separation while they were in England and that, when they returned to Israel
to live in the house of his father's parents, the relationship did not really re-
cover. Samuel can only recall a few outings with his grandmother and he talks
about her in a distanced manner. He only hints at the problem of her emphati-
cally Austrian way of life and mainly resolute resistance to Israel.

In terms of language, however, Samuel is still very bound to his grand-
mother, since in the first three years of his life, his first and only language was
German. He then learned English in England, where he also started school.
He found it hard to learn Hebrew when he returned to Israel. He learned He-
brew with the help of his grandmother tongue: "I used to ask how do you say
it in grandmother's language and how do you say it in Hebrew. Because most
of the language I knew was German and I had to learn Hebrew."

Let us recall again the important role language plays in the family: Mar-
tha still clings to her mother tongue many decades after her emigration. Her
son Stefan felt out of place in Israel as a child because he had been brought
up in German; when he was nine, he was confronted by another language bar-
rier - this time in Finland. Irit was not only confronted by a foreign language,
which carried menace with it, during the years of persecution, she also had to
learn a new language when she emigrated in 1948. In addition, she then had
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to adopt the language of her erstwhile persecutors in order to be accepted by
her mother-in-law. Difficulties with socialization in language recur in Sam-
uel's life history. Like his father, he first learnt German in Israel, then he went
to school in England and returned to his home country, which had become
alien to him, when he was seven, unable to speak the language. What or who
in this labile configuration of linguistic and perhaps also collective belonging
could offer Samuel help in finding himself?

Samuel found someone he could identify with in his paternal grandfather.
Especially after his return to Israel, he developed a close relationship with
Nathan Stern that was based on respect and admiration. The issue of language
also played a role in this relationship. Samuel recalled that as a child he used
to help his "Opa" with scientific translations. Samuel felt their joint "scien-
tific” efforts marked a close bond with his grandfather, who respected Samuel
even as a child and acknowledged his abilities. Samuel's relationship to his
grandfather Nathan was an important stimulus to his intellectual and profes-
sional development.

Samuel left high school before the end of his last year to go with his par-
ents and younger brother Eli (born in 1974) to England for a year. In 1986, he
began his military service in Israel as a medic. The political climate in Israel
was strongly influenced by the Lebanon War, the mounting criticism of the
Israeli invasion and the discourse on Israel's 'strengths and weaknesses'. When
the Palestinian uprising or Intifada began in December 1987, Samuel, who
was in the reserve, was drafted and served in the Gaza Strip. Like many oth-
ers of his generation, he suffered a serious crisis of orientation (cf. Bar-On
1992b). Quite unlike their fathers' generation, these young men could not
simply identify with the military operations. Samuel saw himself as both per-
secuted and a persecutor. His parents were actively committed to the peace
movement, seeking reconciliation with the Palestinians. Samuel experienced
his military service against this horizon of his parents' experiences. Like other
children and grandchildren of Holocaust survivors (cf. the Goldstern family,
Chapter 2.3), Samuel compared Israel's armed forces to the Nazis. He
adopted the perspective of the Palestinians, in particular that of Palestinian
children, and saw parallels to the persecution his mother had suffered. These
two themes came up repeatedly in conversations with his mother:

"Every time we talk about the Palestinians it comes up, because there is
a deep fear of being a conquering nation, having people under your control.
It has a lot of connotations for her with the Second World War. And when-
ever I serve in the territories, I have that in the back of my mind (2) that is
thanks to her."

Taking the perspective of the Palestinians led to a moral dilemma. On the one
hand, Samuel believed these military efforts were necessary in order to de-
fend Israel; on the other hand, he did not want to face unspoken accusations
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from his mother. That is, he was frightened of acting - in her eyes - like a
Nazi. Samuel found it particularly hard to reconcile nightly patrols and en-
forcing curfews with his conscience.

Palestinian children would often wake up in terror, as soldiers of the Is-
raeli Defence Forces (IDF) searched their houses. Samuel identified strongly
with these persecuted children:

"The impact on the children is for me the most tragic thing that can hap-
pen. I always think that I'm doing something terrible to these children and
I'm doing something that probably can't ever fix, there is no way that these
children would learn to live with me in a peaceful and respecting way if they
see me do this to their brother or to their father ... It's something very fright-
ening to me."

Samuel was frightened the children might respond violently in self-defence
and frightened of how he might react. He talked about stones being thrown at
Israeli soldiers, stones that could kill. He said children once threw a refrigera-
tor at his commanding officer and almost killed him. But he also ended that
story with the comment: "But (3) you know that (3) they are children”. He
then went on to talk about the persecution of children in the Holocaust. He
mentioned his mother's fear of German soldiers, saying "she gives me some
deep feeling about what we are actually doing". As he continued to talk, it
became clear that the Palestinian children made him think of his mother's
murdered sisters. He also repeatedly made slips of the tongue, describing his
aunt, his mother Irit's older sister, as his own sister. For example:

Interviewer: "Did your mother tell you about her sister?"
Samuel: "She didn't tell me no I don't know about my sister much"

A little later, when talking about how his mother was saved from the concen-
tration camp, he again referred to her sister as his own: "He could only save
my mother he couldn't save my sister because she didn't have the right colour
of hair and the right colour of eyes and he couldn't pass her off as an Aryan."”

By referring to his mother's sister as his own, he also adopted, uncon-
sciously, his mother's perspective and assumed her moral conflicts. She sur-
vived because she, unlike her sister, had the "right color(s)". Samuel sees his
mother's murdered sisters as his sisters, as becomes clear at other points in the
interview. He conceives the sequence of generations as if his mother were the
mother of her own siblings. He said, for example, when discussing the killing
of his mother's youngest sister: "When my mother lost her smallest daughter".
This confusion of the intergenerational relationships and thereby the blurring
of generational boundaries is evident throughout the entire sequence on the
persecution of his mother's family.

Samuel is hardly able to put together the various events into a chronol-
ogy, as he himself realized in the course of the interview. In his fantasy, his
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grandmother was with his mother hiding on the farm. He realizes there might
well be a disparity between the stories of persecution his family told him and
the way he visualizes them: "Everything that they tell you, brings up a picture
but it is not a real picture, you connect something that you hear with a pic-
ture that you make up, but it is never a true one."”

Samuel also described how these fantasy images changed with time. This
is how he imagines the killing of his great-grandmother and his mother's
youngest sister today: "Basically I see an old woman running with a child in
her hands and being shot down. That's what I see I don't see much more than
that."

The interviewer asked him "scenic memory" questions that helped him to
draw hesitantly closer to his fantasy images:

Samuel: 'Oh' (6) basically it's a village scenery and (7) don't know if
it=has=any=meaning but I can see a cart, I see in the scene
a cart, but=it=has=no=horse=there, it's just a=cart. And I
see them running

Interviewer: So you see that, village scenery

Samuel: and: my grandmother and my-, and=the=baby"

Here too Samuel used the possessive 'my’ - evidently seeing the baby as his
own sister. The interviewer asks him about the image of the cart without a
horse, Samuel answered: "It used to be a bit different, it used to be my
mother, her daughter, eh sister: and_my, grandmother sitting in the cart, no
horses and no rider and_my grandmother trying to get to the cart, and being
shot, used to be that. Today, it's much less dramatic. It's just a cart that's
there with no horses and no driver', and that's it. Today when I imagine the
scene I just imagine my grandmother with the baby in her arms being shot
with the cart in a scenery.... because it's a fantasy, I just changed it, that's
all" (underlining by the author)

Earlier Samuel saw the grandmother, that is his great-grandmother, run-
ning to the cart and saw how she was shot. Now he imagines how she is shot
with the baby on her arm. Samuel described this fantasy, which is closer to
reality, as less dramatic, but he still doubts the reality content of this image:
"There's no basis for that fantasy. I mean even today, there is no real ground
for it. I don't know why I never asked my mother what the real situation
looked liked."

Samuel said he thought his mother would tell him but that it would be
"inappropriate” to ask. The statement, "I think it's my problem it's not her
problem,” implies that he not only wants to protect his mother but also protect
himself from the dangers that would come with adopting her perspective:

"[ just, don't want to bring up this, specific, situation with my mother. |
don't know how it affected her, when she was aware of the fact that her
grandmother got, shot down before her eyes. I mean, for a child it must be a
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terrible experience, and: I'm not sure if- 'how it affected her and: I'm not sure
I want to find out how it affected her" ((underlined by the author))

Is Samuel only frightened of realizing the extent of his mother's multiple
traumatization, or does he also want to protect himself? Reflecting on such
traumatization bears a close relationship to the serious moral conflicts he ex-
perienced as a soldier in the occupied territories. Just how seriously these
moral conflicts trouble him became clear in his extensive account of the half
year he spent in India. In long talks with a Buddhist master he sought answers
to questions of existential importance:

"I asked him a few questions concerning general ethics .... People are
getting killed and you, one person is serving in the army and he has a duty to
defend his country I mean (4) what can one do, when he's in a situation like
that? So (4) what they have taught me is, that there's a different place to look
at every situation and it's also to do with medical ethics and also war-time
ethics they gave me some ideas (3)."

While a medical student in a hospital, Samuel witnessed the death of his
grandfather Nathan Stern. He talked about it soberly - like a physician. Only
at the end of the interview did he reveal what his death meant for him. He
then talked about the death of his grandmother Sarah Planka, who died just
one week later. Samuel thinks the two deaths are related: "She liked him very
much ... there is a connection, deep down inside. It is still strange for me, a
week later, exactly the seven days of Shiva, the seven days of mourning”

At no other point in the interview did Samuel talk so emotionally about
someone close to him: "She was a wonderful woman, very loving, she had all
the love in the world, TOTALLY EMOTIONAL, EXACTLY THE OPPO-
SITE of my grandfather."
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Figure 3: Samuel’s family sculpture

During the family sculpture exercise, Samuel positioned Sarah and Nathan
very close together, sticking their adhesive circles right on top of each other.
In the process, he asked Sarah whether there was any connection between her
death and that of his grandfather Nathan. He then talked about the days im-
mediately after the grandfather died:

"When he died, I got very very sick, I don't know why, probably some-
(5) and (7) suddenly it was something, nobody could understand I mean I got
a very high fever. It passed, two days after that I think it's some-, it has some-
thing to do with my emotional state at the same time."

Samuel tried to split off his mourning and acted it out psychosomatically. He
had hardly had time to mourn his grandfather when his grandmother died: "/
Jjust found it quite impossible to deal with these two deaths and the same time.
Both of them were very close to me and I love them very much both of them."
His fantasy, that Sarah's death and Nathan's death were connected, signifies
an imagined union between the two sides of his family - represented by the
one grandparent on each side to whom he was close, whether intellectually or
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emotionally. He links the intellectual Jewish grandfather from an "aristocratic
family" in Vienna and the emotional grandmother who had survived the
Holocaust.

At the beginning of the interview, Samuel attempted to keep the two sides
of his family apart, but here he unites these two grandparents. While his father
sees the family as composed of pieces like a puzzle, Samuel has two separate
pictures, one of each side of his family: the Holocaust side and the other side,
to which he ascribes no distinguishing attribute. With this symbolic merging
in the family sculpture of grandfather Nathan and grandmother Sarah, Samuel
excluded from the ensemble both his grandmother Martha and his maternal
grandfather, who had been absent from the family during the years of perse-
cution.

In summary, we can infer that Samuel feels as though he falls between
two stools, both between the two sides of his family and within Israeli society,
where he is both a citizen whose duty it was to serve as a soldier and the son
of a survivor. While he can formulate the differences in his perspectives on
Israeli policy in the occupied territories, he - like his parents - avoids con-
fronting the different perspectives and pasts within his family.

Facing these divergent family pasts is still too threatening for the Stern
family. Samuel's father, Stefan, declined to take part in a family interview.
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9. The Kubiak/Griinwald family dialogue: blocking out the
theme of migration from Israel to East Germany

Maria Nooke in cooperation with Christine Miiller

Preliminary Remarks

It was on the initiative of the grandmother Rahel Kubiak that we came into
contact with this family®®. In response to our advertisement in a Jewish Com-
munity Centre newspaper, she offered to take part in an interview with us.
Rahel introduced herself as a survivor of the Gross Rosen